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The followings are the financial highlights for the year ended 31
December 2024 (“this year” or the “Reporting Period”):

Revenue of the Group in 2024 was RMB3,723.78 million,
representing a decrease of 40.84% as compared with 2023.

Profit and total comprehensive income attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company of RMB482.71 million, representing a
decrease of 75.78% as compared to profit and total comprehensive
income attributable to equity shareholders of the Company of
RMB1,992.62 million for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Basic and diluted earnings per share was RMBO0.55 for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2024 (for the year ended 31 December
2023: Nil).

FERE 2024 /| EE

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
B 755 4 22

UWTAEEZ2-_Z-_NF+-_A=+—A81
FE(XREE | [REH]) HPHEHE

“HHFEFAREBEERAARE
3,723.78 BB L L Z_E_=ZF @ >
40.84% °

Fm

FENAARIERFTAE ARG R 2HEK
HEEAARE4NRIIEETL BHEC
E_=F+_A=+—HLFENREBER
RARIERFEB ARG REE Y= B5E
AR®1,992.62 5B LR 4 75.78% ©

HE T -_NF+-_A=+—HLFEHD
SREAREERFAARKQS5TT -

EEg TEARERE_T_MF+=
A=

+— Eﬁif%i%kﬁ(ﬁiZY
“=H+-A=1+—BLEFE: HE) -

REXRTEZBRNDERDF]



4

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

B 751 &

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
—E-TFE B T —EC=F ZE-NHF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFIT AREFTT ARBTT AREFTT AR®TR
Operating result REEER
Revenue EER 2,348,113 913,788 3,744,952 6,294,585 3,723,783
Gross profit EF 1,996,566 483,699 2,846,074 4,985,764 | 2,794,058
Profit/(loss) from operation &4 %,/ (E518) 1,254,640 (423,377) 321,068 2,354,198 674,469
Profit/(loss) before taxation — BRAEBTEF](E518) 1,010,434 (667,184) 39,422 2,126,771 577,233
Profit/(loss) and total AAEE R E RN
comprehensive income wm AL (ER) &
attributable to equity 2EW LA
shareholders of the Company 839,455 (587,649) 76,603 1,992,624 482,712
Profit margin =
Gross profit margin EFE 85.03% 52.93% 76.00% 79.21% 75.03%
Net profit margin i 1) 2 35.66% (64.32%) 8.57% 37.40% 12.96%
Earnings/(loss) per share BRER,(F#E)
Basic (RMB) ER(ARY : JT) 0.95 (0.67) 0.09 2.26 0.55
Diluted (RMB) BE(ARE ) 0.53 (0.67) 0.09 2.26 0.55
Assets condition BEEMR
Total assets BEE 9,561,267 10,541,581 11,889,800 12,744,329 | 12,429,215
Total equity attributable to PAVNSIE En S
equity shareholders of FEfh B =S
the Company 4,891,103 5,808,281 5,884,884 7,935,513 8,508,196
Non-controlling interests FEFERR R 212,556 212,481 185,117 - -
Total liabilities “aE 4,457,608 4,520,819 5,819,799 4,808,816 3,921,019
Net cash generated from/ wRIEFAE(FTA)
(used in) operating activities R FE 1,299,493 (662,510) 1,699,909 1,673,212 89,418
Quick ratio (time) REDEL & (fF) 0.69 1.44 0.95 1.30 1.54
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YiChang HEC ChangJiang Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. is a pharmaceutical
manufacturing company that focuses on the development,
manufacturing and sales of pharmaceutical products in the
therapeutic areas of anti-infection diseases, endocrine and metabolic
diseases and other diseases. It is the domestic pharmaceutical

manufacturing platform of the HEC Group.

The Company entered into China’s pharmaceutical industry
through the establishment of its predecessor, Yichang Changjiang
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., in 2001. Up to now, we have been
operating for more than 23 years, and are in the leading position in
the domestic pharmaceutical industry in terms of pharmaceutical
sales performance and research and development capability.

The Company was converted into a joint stock limited company
on 11 May 2015, and was listed on the Main Board of the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange on 29 December 2015, with the stock code
01558.HK.

Since its establishment, the Company has always followed the
motto of “serving the Chinese with higher standards” and has a
strong industrial foundation and leading competitive edges in the
manufacturing, marketing and sales of pharmaceutical products.
As of 31 December 2024, the Company has 1,854 professional
sales staff across nationwide product distribution network. Kewei
(Oseltamivir Phosphate), one of the Company’s core products, is
the first-line drug for clinical application of anti-influenza virus in
China with strong brand influence and continues to maintain the
premier position in the field of influenza. Oseltamivir Phosphate
was included in the National Essential Drug List (2018 Version) in
2018. In 2020, Oseltamivir Phosphate continued to be included in
the Influenza treatment plan (2020 version) published by National
Health Commission. In 2023, Oseltamivir Phosphate continued to be
included in the National Drug List for Basic Medical Insurance, Work-
Related Injury Insurance and Maternity Insurance (2023 Version)
issued by the Ministry of Human Resources and Social Security of the
People’s Republic of China.
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CORPORATE PROFILE
NGIISPA)

In addition, the Company has built strategic cooperative
partnerships with various renowned pharmaceutical enterprises.
The Company reached a strategic cooperative partnership with
China National Accord Medicines Corporation Ltd. (SZSE: 000028.
SZ) and kicked-off its first operational project during the year of
2018. The Company entered into a strategic cooperation framework
agreement with Jointown Pharmaceutical Group Co., Ltd. (“Jointown
Pharmaceutical”), pursuant to which the Company authorised
Jointown Pharmaceutical as the exclusive general distribution agent
for its Kewei products to be sold through the OTC channel(s) within
the PRC. The Company entered into a letter of intent with Wuhan
Institute of Virology, Chinese Academy of Sciences* (7 B} 22 i
" & 1 55 FT), National Engineering Technology Research Center
for Drugs of Emergency Prevention and Control* (BZ fiE 2 Bh3E 2447
TREEMTAAZE 40 ) and Sunshine Lake Pharma Co., Ltd.* (BER E 5
S BEER ) BR A A), previously known as EREFG Y BEE AR A
A]) (“Sunshine Lake Pharma”), pursuant to which, these parties will
jointly establish a national military-civilian integrated collaborative
industrialization platform for drugs of emergency prevention and
control cum national antiviral drug centre. The Company believes
that the abovementioned strategic cooperative partnerships
will bring favourable development prospects for the Company’s

business.

The Company is committed to the implementation of
professionalism, branding and differentiated development strategies
all along. The Company is committed to the establishment of a
professional marketing team, a steady and innovative marketing
operation and a strategic integration of resources, in order to
create brand characteristics and core competitiveness unigue to
“Pharm HEC” in the industry and create additional value for the vast

pharmaceutical consumers and our partners.

In the future, the Company will further develop and expand its
product lines and markets, enhance the production standards and
quality of its products and continue to expand the coverage of
marketing and sales to facilitate the further growth of business and
profitability of the Company, and strive for more economic benefits

and cost-effectiveness for our investors.
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HISTORY OF DEVELOPMENT
LR

] Possible transfer of shares of the Company and merger with
Sunshine Lake Pharma

AREEANRIRN REERRGAEXNEHER

] Inclusion of constituents of the Hang Seng Index Series
MABERBRIIZ KD K

] The Company’s controlling shareholder Sunshine Lake Pharma
Co., Ltd. entere into a licensing agreement with Apollo
Therapeutics Group Limited (“Apollo”) for the development and
commercialisation of the APL-18881 (HEC88473) project
ARAREBRBRRERREG LEEXR M AR A A EApollo
Therapeutics Group Limited ([ Apollo J) &t B 2% & 75 216 APL—
18881 (HECBB473) I8 B 2 A X HE T A 17575

] The Company’s controlling shareholder Sunshine Lake Pharma
Co.,Ltd., the Company and Shenyang Sunshine Pharmaceutical Co.,
Ltd. entered into a Clifutinib Besylate licensing agreement
AARERBRRERREGLEXRNHERAGF - AR A EER
“HRERREERARR N BRI RE R ERKEF HE

= Change of stock short name

B AR

= Completion of the major and connected transaction in relation to
the disposal of target equity in Sunshine Lake Pharma
TENBERSAEREERRRG X B FRERZEITK
= Completion of repurchase of the H share convertible bonds in full
TERREE B L H AR AT e iR (E 5

= Application for launching of Yigibuvir Tablets being accepted
HgmER FTHRFEEEXIE

= Mixed Protamine Human Insulin Injection (30R) approved to launch

BEAARSZER ISR (BOR) EHLAE £

Metoprolol Succinate Sustained-release Tablets approved to launch
BRINMERBEER EE T

Azithromycin Tablets approved to launch

MEasRAEHE LT

= |nsulin Aspart Injection approved to launch
PFIZBRE T IRER &

= Insulin Aspart 30 Injection approved to launch

FIZ RS = 30)F 5T RERE =T

= Insulin Glargine Injection approved to launch
HRREZ I RELAE LT
= Became a subsidiary of Sunshine Lake Pharma

RAERREAEX ZHBAF

HH B B
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HISTORY OF DEVELOPMENT
LREE

= Completion of bonus issue of Shares
TR B AL AR

= Completion of the “Full Circulation” of 226,200,000 H Shares
5 226,200,000 A% H % [ 2 7% i

= Emitasvir Phosphate Capsules approved to launch
BB AR ERTRERE E T

= Recombinant Human Insulin Injection approved to launch

EHRARSZEFRES A LT

= Oseltamivir Phosphate Capsule being the first drug variety to pass
the Consistency Evaluation
BMRAFRMZEBESZABE —BUFENME

= New drug application of Emitasvir Phosphate was submitted and
has been accepted
BB AOR MR FTH RN R

= Comprehensively roll out the “Full Circulation” reform of H Shares

EEMBHKI2RE | E

= Inclusion in the Hong Kong Stock Connect List under the Shenzhen-
Hong Kong Stock Connect
EMANRBBETHERBARERE

= Became a constituent of the Hang Seng family of indexes
ERMABERBAI KD

= Being a subsidiary of A-share listed company, Guangdong HEC
PR ARR B A RIER RS 2 M8 A A

= Oseltamivir Phosphate was listed as a drug recommended for
treatment for influenza by the Influenza Treatment Guidelines (2018
Edition)
CRITHRRE REEE (22— /\FR) )P BB R A Z 5 R R
I EY)

=  Started the cooperation with TaiGen Biopharmaceuticals on
Hepatitis C. combination therapy
HASBERAFBSRERAAE

= QObtained three approvals for the clinical trials for insulin product
3MEMR S REmBFERRIL T

= Pharm HEC was awarded as the “Listed Enterprises of the Year
2016”
RS ER(ZE—RF LHEEKRE)
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HISTORY OF DEVELOPMENT
PR

= Transformed into a joint stock limited company by means of
reorganization
BHEBHRBROBR LA

= Established strategic cooperation relationship with our controlling
shareholder, and acquired the pre-emptive right to purchase
products developed by the research institute of the controlling

shareholder
B IO AR PR R ST B RS A ERR (R - HEE I ARARER T B A ZE B A B AR
REEBEER

= Successfully listed on the Stock Exchange on 29 December 2015
“E-RAF+T AT ABRBRAEREERRZ S

= Kewei product dominated the largest market share of Oseltamivir
Phosphate products in China
HERGETEBRKRRMEERT SHANE

= The Company’s Kewei granule product was registered with the
China Food and Drug Administration and the Company became the
only manufacturer of Oseltamivir Phosphate Granule in China
ARAARENAERRBERAREREERELEM  KATHE
Me—— R R A ERENE L ER

=  The Company was licensed to manufacture Oseltamivir Phosphate
products in China

W18 E B LR T o B A A

= The predecessor of the Company was established in Hubei Province
and formally entered into China’s pharmaceutical industry

NEIRHERILEKT - EEAT BB LT
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
SSERMEE

On behalf of the Board, | hereby present the annual results of
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 and the future
prospects of 2025.

2024 REVIEW

In 2024, the pharmaceutical industry faced new development
opportunities and challenges amid ongoing transformation. The
progression of aging population further intensified and the demand
for chronic disease management continued to grow on a worldwide
basis, which have promoted the R&D of related drugs and expansion
of the market. Meanwhile, anti-infective drugs continued to maintain
rapid development as a result of the potential threat of new type of
infectious diseases and the mutation of existing diseases. Under such
circumstances, precision medication and personalized treatments
have became the caore direction of industry innovation, while
advanced technologies such as gene therapy and cellular therapy

gradually advanced from laboratory testing to clinical application.

In 2024, the policy environment of the Chinese pharmaceutical
industry has been further optimized and refined. The Chinese
government has continued to step up its support for pharmaceutical
innovation and introduced a series of favourable policies and
measures to encourage the R&D of new drugs and accelerate
their evaluation and approval. At the same time, the dynamic
adjustment mechanism of the Medical Reimbursement Drug List
has become more sophisticated, with more innovative drugs and
high-value drugs being included in the scope of medical insurance
reimbursement, thereby enhancing accessibility of different types of

drugs to patients.

The centralized drug procurement system has gradually achieved
normalization and standardization in the course of further
advancement, which further lowered drug prices, alleviated the
burden on patients, and allowed enterprises to improve the quality
and competitiveness of their products. In addition, the Chinese
government has continued to strengthen its supervision over the
entire life cycle of drugs, in particular, a series of new regulations
were introduced in respect of the production quality management
of drugs and supply chain safety to ensure the safety and efficacy of

drugs.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

2024 REVIEW (continued)

An increasing number of Chinese pharmaceutical companies are
accelerating their pace of internationalization, initiatives to expand
into overseas markets were seen including entering into license-
out agreements, overseas merger and acquisitions and etc.,
thereby speeding up their global outreach. By collaborating with
multinational pharmaceutical companies, they are strengthening
international cooperation to jointly develop new drugs and explore
the market. With the accelerating pace of internationalization,
the R&D strengths, product quality and international influence of
Chinese pharmaceutical companies continued to rise, gradually
positioning them at the center of the world stage.

The Chinese government places high importance on the
pharmaceutical industry’s responsibility towards environmental
protection and sustainable development, and that the urge of
promoting a green and low-carbon transformation, enhancement
of resource conservation and recycling, and improvement of
the transparency and fairness of the supply chain has been
reinforced. Through the implementation of policies such as the
“Green Manufacturing Action Plan for the Pharmaceutical Industry”
((EBETEHZERIEITEFE])), the government has guided
pharmaceutical companies to adopt clean production technologies,
reduce pollutant emissions, lower energy consumption, as well as to
encourage the development of environmental-friendly products. The
deepening of environmental policies has prompted pharmaceutical
companies to accelerate their transformation towards green
manufacturing, optimizing production processes, improving resource
utilization efficiency, and promoting green management across all
aspects of the supply chain. This has not only strengthened the
environmental awareness and sense of social responsibility of the
pharmaceutical industry, but also provided robust support for the
industry’s sustainable development. In the long term, the green
transformation will help pharmaceutical companies establish a
positive brand image, enhance market competitiveness, and secure
a more advantageous position in the global pharmaceutical market,
contributing to the coordinated development of the economy,

environment, and society.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
SSERMEE

2024 REVIEW (continued)

In general, driven by policy support, technological innovation, and
market demand, the pharmaceutical industry demonstrated a high-
quality development momentum in 2024, and the industry is poised
to face new challenges brought about by global competition and

regulatory upgrades.

The Company has come to the tenth year since its listing on the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange. The Board has been upholding the
governance principles of “standardization, independence, rational
structure and high efficiency”, strictly complying with the Company
Law of the PRC, the Listing Rules and other laws and regulations and
fully discharging the duties conferred by the Articles of Assaciation.
All decisions are strictly implemented in compliance with the
resolutions of the general meetings through standardized operation,
scientific decision-making and diligence so as to fully accomplish all
tasks. Meanwhile, the Board will constantly lead the management
of the Company to improve its governance level and strengthen the
Company’s management systems and internal control, striving to
become a highly competitive listed company in the domestic and
even the international market.

2024 was a year of remarkable results in the Company’s business
expansion in different aspects. During the Reporting Period, the
Group made outstanding R&D progress in the areas of chronic
diseases. The Group has acquired multiple drugs for diabetes
from Sunshine Lake Pharma Co., Ltd. (“Sunshine Lake Pharma”),
and Olorigliflozin is in course of applying for new drug launching
approval. Such products are expected to be launched soon and
contribute significantly to our sales in the future, which will further
increase the integrated strengths of the Group and improve the

revenue structure of the Group.

“E-FEOEE %)
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

FUTURE PROSPECTS

Looking forward, as the development direction of China’s
pharmaceutical industry is gradually shifting from generic
drugs to innovation drugs, drug innovation has become the
core competitiveness which supports the future development
of enterprises. In order to capture opportunities in the fierce
competition, pharmaceutical companies need to make continuous
efforts in various aspects including product R&D, refinement
of technical processing abilities, production and supply chain
management and sales management. Meanwhile, pharmaceutical
companies will have to be on top of market demands and trends
of the pharmaceutical industry, effectively captivate opportunities
in strategic targeted markets and consolidate its market position,
grasp initiative of industry competition, thereby garnering

sustainable development as its competitive edge.

The Company will continually increase its investment in drug
R&D and accelerate the transformation of drug R&D into clinical
applications in the therapeutic areas of anti-infective, endocrine
and metabolic diseases. In addition, the Company will continue to
strengthen its product R&D and innovation capabilities, constantly
introduce new products and enrich the existing product portfolio to

enhance the market competitiveness of its products.

We believe that under the leadership of the Board and the efforts
of all employees, the Company would become a benchmark
pharmaceutical enterprise in China and the world as well as a major
and influential brand in China’s pharmaceutical industry, through
formulating comprehensive development strategy and implementing
strict management system.

EERWMES
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
SSERMEE

FUTURE PROSPECTS (continued) ARBEE (&)

Once again, | would like to express my sincere gratitude to all FBX > RAZHE SR EFSKE -
Shareholders, Board members, the management and all employees ARREIEE - FiERE MAEBERT

and partners of the Company. ol %

TANG Xinfa FER

Chairman EEE®

28 March 2025 —ZE-RF=RA=+N\H
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HIGHLIGHTS OF THE YEAR

Possible transfer of shares of the Company and merger with

Sunshine Lake Pharma

Inclusion of constituents of the Hang Seng Index Series

The Company’s controlling shareholder Sunshine Lake Pharma
Co.,Ltd. entered into a licensing agreement with Apollo
Therapeutics Group Limited (“Apollo”) for the development
and commercialisation of the APL-18881 (HEC88473) project

The Company’s controlling shareholder Sunshine Lake Pharma
Co.,Ltd., the Company and Shenyang Sunshine Pharmaceutical

Co., Ltd. entered into a Clifutinib Besylate licensing agreement

FEREEL
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KEXNAHER
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1% A BR 72 & 2 Apollo Therapeutics
Group Limited ([Apollo ) 7t 532 & 75
%1 APL-18881 (HEC88473) JH B i&
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
B E sTam T

YICHANG HEC CHANGJIANG PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2024

INDUSTRY REVIEW

In 2024, the pharmaceutical industry faced new development
opportunities and challenges amid ongoing transformation.
The progression of aging population further intensified and the
demand for chronic disease management continued to grow
on a worldwide basis, which have promoted the R&D of related
drugs and expansion of the market. Meanwhile, anti-infective
drugs continued to maintain rapid development as a result
of the potential threat of new type of infectious diseases and
the mutation of existing diseases. Under such circumstances,
precision medication and personalized treatments have
become the core direction of industry innovation, while
advanced technologies such as gene therapy and cellular
therapy gradually advanced from laboratory testing to clinical

application.

In 2024, the policy environment of the Chinese pharmaceutical
industry has been further optimized and refined. The
Chinese government has continued to step up its support
for pharmaceutical innovation and introduced a series of
favourable policies and measures to encourage the R&D of
new drugs and accelerate their evaluation and approval. At the
same time, the dynamic adjustment mechanism of the Medical
Reimbursement Drug List has become more sophisticated, with
more innovative drugs and high-value drugs being included
in the scope of medical insurance reimbursement, thereby
enhancing accessibility of different types of drugs to patients.
The centralized drug procurement system has gradually
achieved normalization and standardization in the course
of further advancement, which further lowered drug prices,
alleviated the burden on patients, and allowed enterprises to
improve the quality and competitiveness of their products. In
addition, the Chinese government has continued to strengthen
its supervision over the entire life cycle of drugs, in particular,
a series of new regulations were introduced in respect of the
production quality management of drugs and supply chain
safety to ensure the safety and efficacy of drugs.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

INDUSTRY REVIEW (continued)

An increasing number of Chinese pharmaceutical companies
are accelerating their pace of internationalization, initiatives
to expand into overseas markets were seen including
entering into license-out agreements, overseas merger
and acquisitions and etc., thereby speeding up their global
outreach. By collaborating with multinational pharmaceutical
companies, they are strengthening international cooperation
to jointly develop new drugs and explore the market. With the
accelerating pace of internationalization, the R&D strengths,
product quality and international influence of Chinese
pharmaceutical companies continued to rise, gradually
positioning them at the center of the world stage.

The Chinese government places high importance on the
pharmaceutical industry’s responsibility towards environmental
protection and sustainable development, and that the
urge of promoting a green and low-carban transformation,
enhancement of resource conservation and recycling, and
improvement of the transparency and fairness of the supply
chain has been reinforced. Through the implementation of
policies such as the “Green Manufacturing Action Plan for
the Pharmaceutical Industry” ((BZE/T ¥ 4 @ R BT =T
£1)), the government has guided pharmaceutical companies
to adopt clean production technologies, reduce pollutant
emissions, lower energy consumption, as well as to encourage
the development of environmental-friendly products.
The deepening of environmental policies has prompted
pharmaceutical companies to accelerate their transformation
towards green manufacturing, optimizing production processes,
improving resource utilization efficiency, and promoting green
management across all aspects of the supply chain. This has
not only strengthened the environmental awareness and sense
of social responsibility of the pharmaceutical industry, but
also provided robust support for the industry’s sustainable
development. In the long term, the green transformation will
help pharmaceutical companies establish a positive brand
image, enhance market competitiveness, and secure a more
advantageous paosition in the global pharmaceutical market,
contributing to the coordinated development of the economy,

environment, and society.
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INDUSTRY REVIEW (continued)

In general, driven by policy support, technological

innovation, and market demand, the pharmaceutical industry

demonstrated a high-quality development momentum in 2024,

and the industry is poised to face new challenges brought

about by global competition and regulatory upgrades.

BUSINESS REVIEW

1.

Summary of Overall Results

@

Anti-infective paediatrics business pipeline

represented by Kewei (Oseltamivir Phosphate)

Relying on years of intensive cultivation in the
fields of pediatrics and anti-infection, the Group’s
core product Kewei (oseltamivir phosphate) has
accumulated profound brand value and extensive
market influence, continuously consolidating its
leading position in the domestic anti-influenza
field and demonstrating strong competitive
advantages. The Group relies on the “Kewei” brand
and continues to deepen brand building, steadily
increasing its brand awareness and market share
through precise market strategies and diversified
academic promation activities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BHEE ST L AT

Il. BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

1. Summary of Overall Results (continued)

)

Anti-infective paediatrics business pipeline
represented by Kewei (Oseltamivir Phosphate)

(continued)

In the in-hospital market, the Group continued
to launch academic promational activities,
adhering to the sales philosophy of “tapping
deep and widen coverage”, focusing precisely on
influenza patient groups, significantly increasing
the prescription rate of influenza patients, and
further expanding the scale of sales in medical
institutions at all levels. At the same time, the
Group actively expanded its sales channels and
extended the market to grassroots medical
institutions, continuously strengthening the brand
influence of Kewei among doctors and patients,
especially pediatricians and parents. In the out-of-
hospital market, the Group has made every effort
to promote the establishment and improvement of
the out-of-hospital sales system and implement
the concept of brand building. With years of in-
depth efforts in the field of medical and patient
education, the Group has built Kewei into the
leading brand in the field of anti-influenza drugs.
In the future, the Group will fully rely on the
huge potential of the grassroots market, strong
supply chain security and widely recognized brand
influence to further enhance Kewei’s market share
and achieve sustainable product growth. At the
same time, the Group will further enhance the
production capacity of Kewei to make adequate
preparations for any influenza outbreak, thereby
significantly enhancing its control and response
capabilities in the influenza market and further
improving its market grasp.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
B E sTam T

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

1.

Summary of Overall Results (continued)

)

Anti-infective paediatrics business pipeline
represented by Kewei (Oseltamivir Phosphate)
(continued)

In 2024, the Group carried out a comprehensive
product, category and brand upgrade for its
core brand “Kewei”. By upgrading the market
positioning of the “Kewei” series of products from
“the first choice for the prevention and treatment
of influenza” to “the cornerstone drug for the
prevention and treatment of influenza”, its brand
image in the field of influenza treatment has been
further strengthened, and the close connection
between the brand and influenza treatment has
been significantly enhanced. This strategic move
not only enhanced the market competitiveness of
the Kewei brand, but also significantly improved its
brand awareness. In 2024, it successfully ranked
19th among the top 50 health brands in China,
rising 17 places compared to 2023. In addition,
Kewei was awarded three “best in the world”
honors by the internationally renowned consulting
firm Frost & Sullivan, including “best oseltamivir
production base by scale in the world”, “best in
the world at oseltamivir cumulative production in
five years” and “best in the world at oseltamivir
cumulative shipments in five years”. These honors
not only demonstrate the leading position of
Kewei in the global anti-influenza drug field, but
also further consolidate its outstanding influence
in the domestic market. In addition, the Group
has also upgraded the process for improving the
taste of Kewei granules, especially optimizing the
medication experience for children. By improving
the formula and production process, the taste of
Kewei granules is made more suitable for children,
which significantly improves children’s medication
compliance, further enhances the competitiveness
of the Kewei brand in the children’s medication
market, and lays a solid foundation for the long-
term development of the brand.

YICHANG HEC CHANGJIANG PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BHEE ST L AT

Il. BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

1. Summary of Overall Results (continued)

)

Anti-infective paediatrics business pipeline
represented by Kewei (Oseltamivir Phosphate)

(continued)

In terms of market foundation, the Group has
further consolidated Kewei’s leading market
position by strengthening the refined management
and organisational capacity building of the sales
team. The hospital sales system strengthens daily
management and capacity training by improving
the product line management team, guiding the
team to carry out daily work in an orderly manner,
and continuously providing high-quality academic
activities and publicity during the flu season. In
the retail market, by strengthening the dynamic
sales system, the institutions coverage rate of
Kewei granules has continued to increase. At the
same time, relying on the strong influence of the
“Kewei” brand in the pediatric field, the Group
actively deployed peripheral products that have
synergistic effects with Kewei, and added a number
of cooperative products, including Pediatric
Paracetamol Granules, Pediatric Faropenem
Granules and children’s fever patch, to meet the
diversified needs of children’s medication and
further consolidate the Group’s brand paosition in
the field of influenza treatment. In addition, the
Group has also actively invested in the R&D of
new influenza drugs by leveraging the strong R&D
capabilities of its controlling shareholder. Through
strategic development and extension of product
lines, the “Kewei” brand has been expanded from
the field of influenza treatment to the broader field
of respiratory health, laying a solid foundation for
the long-term development of the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
B E sTam T

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

1.

Summary of Overall Results (continued)

(2

Chronic disease business pipeline represented by

insulin

As one of the Group’s new performance growth
curves, the chronic diseases business pipeline
represented by insulin is gradually entering the
harvest period, as the Group’s insulin series
products achieved revenue of RMB136.53 million
in 2024, representing a significant increase of
101.14% when compared with the corresponding
period last year, which was fueled by the Group’s
continuous effort in strengthening its professional
promotion team, introduction of elite reputable
institutions, cultivating the primary care market
and optimizing the sales channels at all levels.
During the Reporting Period, 5 of the Group’s self-
developed insulin products, namely Recombinant
Human Insulin Injection, Insulin Glargine Injection,
Insulin Aspart Injection, Insulin Aspart 30 Injection
and Mixed Protamine Human Insulin Injection (30R)
have all been approved for launching. Specifications
of these products are highly consistent with the
original biologics in terms of efficacy, safety and
stability, and all 5 insulin products were awarded
the bids for centralized bulk procurement. With
further promotion of insulin series products, it
is expected to contribute considerably to the
Company’s chronic disease business pipeline.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERETHRAN

Il. BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

1. Summary of Overall Results (continued)

(2

Chronic disease business pipeline represented by

insulin (continued)

The Group has a complete diabetes product line,
and in addition to insulin products, the Group’s
products under development are also progressing
smoothly, especially the application for new drug
launch of Class | innovative drug SGLT-2 Inhibitor
Olorigliflozin for the treatment of type 2 diabetes
has been submitted. As an important innovative
drug in the current field of diabetes treatment,
SGLT-2 inhibitors have become the first-line oral
drugs for the treatment of type 2 diabetes due to
their unigue mechanism of action and significant
hypoglycemic effects, and the market is in a
stage of rapid growth. In the future, the launch
of Olorigliflozin is expected to further enrich
the Group’s diabetes product pipeline, enhance
the Group’s market competitiveness in the field
of diabetes treatment, and bring significant
performance growth to the Group.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

1.

Summary of Overall Results (continued)

()

3

Chronic disease business pipeline represented by
insulin (continued)

In the field of chronic diseases, in 2024, the Group
has successfully held a number of large-scale
academic conferences with national influence.
Through the activities of “Entering Sunshine Lake
Pharma”, meetings in various cities and hospital
department and other methods, with the aid of the
Group’s high-quality diabetes treatment drugs, the
awareness of the Group’s products in the field of
diabetes has been further improved. At the same
time, the Company clearly established a patient-
centered service system, provided high-quality
chronic disease management services, and made
full use of the national centralized procurement
policy to provide patients with high-quality and
affordable treatment drugs in the field of diabetes.

New drug business pipeline represented by
Emitasvir Phosphate

As the Group’s first Class | innovative drug being
approved, Emitasvir Phosphate capsules have
achieved excellent performance in the market due
to their excellent efficacy and safety. The revenue
in 2024 was approximately RMB89.49 million,
representing a significant increase of 120.06%
when compared to the corresponding period last
year. Since its approval for launching at the end
of 2020, the market penetration rate of Emitasvir
Phosphate capsules has continued to increase, and
the number of patients treated has shown a good
trend of continuous growth.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BHEE ST L AT

Il. BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

1. Summary of Overall Results (continued)

3

New drug business pipeline represented by

Emitasvir Phosphate (continued)

In 2022, Emitasvir Phosphate capsules were
successfully included in the National Medical
Reimbursement Drug List, further enhancing
its recognition and accessibility in the medical
community. With its high cure rate of 99.8%
(SVR12) and good tolerability, the drug has won
wide recognition from doctors and patients due
to its excellent efficacy and safety. Currently, in
terms of market performance, the cumulative sales
scale of Emitasvir Phosphate capsules has reached
more than 100 million, and the market share has
also increased significantly, successfully ranking
among the top three in the industry in 2024. The
outstanding performance of Emitasvir Phosphate
capsules is not only due to its own product
advantages, but also inseparable from the Group’s
deep foundation and extensive market layout in the
anti-infective field. In the future, as the hepatitis
C treatment market continues to grow, Emitasvir
Phosphate capsules are expected to bring greater

performance contribution to the Group.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

1.

Summary of Overall Results (continued)

3

New drug business pipeline represented by

Emitasvir Phosphate (continued)

In 2023, the total number of confirmed cases
of chronic hepatitis C patients in China was
approximately 2.6 million, and it was expected
to reach 2.8 million by 2026 and 3.1 million by
2030, respectively. The current diagnosis rate of
chronic hepatitis C remains relatively low, with a
conservative estimation of the potential number of
patients falling within the range of tens of millions.
The Action Plan Against Public Health Hazards and
hepatitis C (2021-2030) (CEBR AR FF K A HE A4+
BEETB T 1EH % (2021-2030 F))) promulgated
by nine departments including the National Health
Commission in 2021 put forward an aim that,
within a period of 10 years, the clinical cure rate
of antiviral treatment for hepatitis C patients
should attain at least 95%, and the treatment rate
of chronic hepatitis C should attain at least 80%.
Based on this goal, the next 10 years will be a
golden period for the Hepatitis C treatment market.
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BHEE ST L AT

Il. BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

1.  Summary of Overall Results (continued)

3

New drug business pipeline represented by
Emitasvir Phosphate (continued)

In the domestic field of hepatitis C treatment,
in addition to the Group, only a few domestic
pharmaceutical companies like Gilead are
committed to the field of hepatitis C and still
proactively deployed in this field. Relying on years
of deep cultivation in the field of anti-infection, the
Group not only has a complete product portfolio,
but also shows stronger competitive advantages in
the primary treatment market, and has potential
of being a leading enterprise in China’s hepatitis
C drug market. The Group’s Encofosbuvir Tablets,
a Class | innovative drug for the treatment of
Pan-genotypic chronic Hepatitis C, was officially
approved for launching in March 2025. This drug
is used in combination with Netanasvir Phosphate
capsules to treat chronic hepatitis C virus (HCV)
infection in adults. Netanasvir Phosphate capsules
was officially approved in February 2025. The
approval for launching of the Pan-genotypic
chronic hepatitis C treatment portfolios marks
a significant breakthrough for the Group in new
drug development. This milestone not only further
strengthens our competitive edge in the field
of hepatitis C treatment but also significantly
strengthened our leading position among
innovative pharmaceutical companies in China.

In the future, the Group will continue to leverage
the strong research and development capabilities
of the controlling shareholder, to continuously
expand its new drug product pipeline, to further
consolidate the Group’s leading position amongst
the innovative pharmaceutical companies in China,
meanwhile providing a solid guarantee for the
commercialization of its new drug business line.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

1.

Summary of Overall Results (continued)

4

Centralised Procurement and New Retail business

pipeline

Centralized procurement and new retail lines
have become one of the Company’s core cashflow
business pipelines. Currently, the Group has been
awarded the bids for a total of 12 different types
of chemical generic products in the national
centralized procurement. The centralized
procurement business as a whole shows
characteristics such as low sales expense ratio and
steady increase in revenue. In 2024, the Group’s
selected and centrally procured products showed

good growth performance as a whole.

With its rich product portfolio, the Group actively
deploys national centralized mass procurement.
In the future, the Group will further optimize its
revenue structure and increase its market share
leveraging the centralized procurement policy. At
the same time, the in-hospital sales of centralized
purchasing products also contributed positively
towards the construction of a new retail system.
At present, the Group’s new retail system has
gradually matured and has formed a relatively
more stable business maodel. Through cooperation
with leading commercial companies and large
chain pharmacies, the Group utilises in-hospital
prescriptions to drive the growth of out-of-hospital
retail business. The new retail of medicine market
demonstrates immense potential, and the Group
will continue to expand the new retail product line,
increase the market channels of pharmaceutical
retail, and provide patients with more drug chaices
with excellent quality and at affordable price.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BHEE ST L AT

Il. BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

2.

. X0

R&D PROGRESS 2. WRER
The Group made outstanding R&D progress in the areas ZEZNE - ANEBEEF RS
of chronic diseases during 2024. TRBFEEG TERNER -
The Group has acquired multiple drugs for diabetes from REBERERRSGHEEWE
Sunshine Lake Pharma, and Olorigliflozin is in course of ZANERR A BEEEY) - BIRIE
applying for new drug launching approval. Such products PIFERN ETRBREER - RK
are expected to be launched soon and contribute BEREE ATIS KA E
significantly to our sales in the future, which will further HER  FARNJE—FTRAR
increase the integrated strengths of the Group and SENGEENRREARAEE
improve the revenue structure of the Group. KU A AT o
Percentage
Acquired/ Expensed Capitalised Percentage of R&D
R&D R&D R&D of R&D investment
investment investment investment investment in operating
Projects amount amount amount in revenue costs
BN MEREA MERA MERA WERA
WEREA EBRAlt - (d e e
EH 28 £} £8 e pl o #:Ns A
(RMB’000) (RMB’000) (RMB’000) (%) (%)
(ARETRT) (AREFTR) (ARBTT) (%) (%)
Olorigliflozin 113,826.12 14,520.82 99,305.30 3.06 12.24

BIRIEIF
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEW &I

Il. BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) . XBEEE

3. Sales Performance Review 3.

During the Reporting Period, the sales of the Group’s core

products are as follows:

. The revenue of Kewei (Oseltamivir Phosphate)
Granules amounted to RMB2,181.51 million,

accounting for 58.58% of the total revenue;

. The revenue of Kewei (Oseltamivir Phosphate)
Capsules amounted to RMB306.95 million,
accounting for 8.24% of the total revenue;

J The revenue of Oumeining (Telmisartan Tablets)
amounted to RMB110.28 million, accounting for
2.96% of the total revenue;

. The revenue of Ertongshu (Benzbromarone Tablets)
amounted to RMB109.53 million, accounting for
2.94% of the total revenue; and

. The revenue of Emitasvir Phosphate Capsules
amounted to RMB89.49 million, accounting for
2.40% of the total revenue.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Sales Performance Review (continued)

The total revenue of the above-mentioned core products
accounted for 75.12% of the total revenue of the Group
during the Reporting Period.

Kewei, the Company’s core product, is the first-line
drug for treatment of influenza in the PRC, which can
be used in the treatment and prevention of Influenza A
and Influenza B and is listed in the Influenza Treatment
Guidance (2020 version) ({R7TME RS 2 & 75 % (2020
#F f))) and the National Drug List for Basic Medical
Insurance, Work-Related Injury Insurance and Maternity
Insurance (2023 Version) ({(BIREREFRE - THER
BRANES R 2 B 82 (2023 F))).

During the Reporting Period, the Group adjusted the
division of labour of the sales teams in accordance with
the market demand, i.e. a self-operated sales team
responsible for the academic promotion of core drugs
in graded hospitals and primary medical institutions, a
new retail sales team responsible for all drugs in chain
pharmacies, non-bidding markets and online hospitals,
and a centralized sales team responsible for centralized
procurement of drugs by the PRC government. During the
Reporting Period, the Company has started to expand
its online pharmacy channel and cooperated with a
number of well-known online channel operators. As of
31 December 2024, the Group has a total of 1,854 staff
in its sales teams. The establishment and development
of these multi-channel sales teams shall lay a solid
foundation to the sales volume of the Group’s product
portfolio in all sales channels.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Production Review

The Group’s Hubei Yidu production base is the production
base for a full range of insulin products and the world’s
largest production base for oseltamivir phosphate. Our
preparation factory in Hubei Yidu production base produces
oral solid preparations and freeze-dried powder injections,
which are mainly supplied to the domestic market. It has
passed the national Good Manufacture Practice of Drugs
(GMP) certification in the PRC, and its dosage forms include
tablets, capsules, granules, dry suspension and freeze-dried
powder injections, making it the warld’s largest oseltamivir
phosphate preparation production base.

The Group is the largest supplier of oseltamivir phosphate
in China, providing a solid guarantee for the supply
of national reserve drugs. Over the years, we have
demonstrated strong production capacity and high
standards in response to influenza pandemic. Our factory
is capable of quickly adjusting the production plans and
adapting to work at full capacity, to meet the market
supply in case of a large-scale outbreak of influenza
across the country, and make every effort to meet public
demand for medication. We have advanced facilities and
strict production standards, complying with GMP and
other quality management systems. In order to strengthen
the guality management system in the future, we will
strictly adhere to the GMP requirements. We will further
develop and refine the guality management system to
ensure that every aspect of our production complies
with international standards and domestic regulations.
Through enhancing internal audits, staff trainings and
implementing external quality audits, we are dedicated
to improving the Company’s quality management level.
Meanwhile, we are committed to providing a reliable
foundation for the national drug reserve with higher
standards and mare stringent requirements, to ensure
the continuity and stability of drug supply, increasing our
commitment to national health.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BHEE ST L AT

Il. BUSINESS REVIEW (continued) . XBEEE

Production Review (continued)

The Group adheres to the belief of “For Everyone’s
Health” and strives to provide high quality medicine to
patients. With this belief in mind, the Group enhances
its production system constantly, strengthens its
supervision on the production process and improves the

quality of products and services continuously.

At the same time, the Group is concerned about
production safety and environmental protection. In
respect of production safety, to ensure no occurrence
of any material safety incidents, the Group has
implemented safety education, strengthened safety
risk management and promoted the establishment of
safety standards. In terms of environmental protection
management, the Group takes environmental protection
as its responsibility and adheres to green production. It
has adopted targeted treatment for various pollutants
generated in the production process so as to achieve
environmental protection and at the same time realise
the reuse of resources. In the future, the Group will
promote green and sustainable development, actively
implement the concept of green development, and
integrate such concept into all aspects of its business
operations. With a view to improving resource utilisation
while reducing energy consumption and minimising
the discharge of pollutants, the Group will optimise its
production processes and adopt advanced production
techniques and equipment. It will also classify and
collect, conduct harmless treatment and implement
resource utilisation of wastes generated in the
production process to realise the reduction, recycling
and harmlessness of wastes. The Group will enhance
the transparency of its supply chain by establishing a
drug traceability system, and raise the environmental
awareness together with the sense of responsibility
of its employees through improving staff training on

environmental protection awareness.
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OPERATING RESULTS AND ANALYSIS

Revenue

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s
revenue was RMB3,723.78 million and the total profit
and comprehensive income attributable to equity holders
of the Company was RMB482.71 million. The Group
continued to conduct academic promotion campaigns
and deepen “Kewei” brand building, formulated a
series of sales strategies covering areas such as market
expansion, pipeline optimisation, increased investment
in advertising, brand building and marketing activities,
and patient education, and continued to enhance the
brand recognition and market growth of its core product,
Kewei. In 2024, the Group’s care product, Kewei, as the
drug of chaice for influenza, was affected to a certain
extent due to the substantial decline in the influenza
epidemic as compared to the corresponding period
last year, but still maintained its leading position in
the market. Meanwhile, other business pipelines have
gradually entered the harvesting period, showing a rapid
growth in 2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BHEE ST L AT

lll. OPERATING RESULTS AND ANALYSIS (continued) . BEXBRDH ()

Cost of Sales

The Group’s cost of sales consists of (i) cost of
raw materials, primarily including cost of active
pharmaceutical ingredient (API), ancillary materials and
packaging materials; (ii) labour cost, primarily including
salaries and benefits of our staff directly involved in
manufacturing of our products; (iii) manufacturing cost,
primarily including depreciation of machinery, equipment
and plant and cost of labour protection materials, fuel,
machine oil and maintenance; and (iv) patent fees paid to

third parties in relation to various patents and licences.

The Group’s cost of sales decreased by 28.96% to
RMB929.73 million for the year ended 31 December
2024 from RMB1,308.82 million for the year ended 31
December 2023, which was mainly due to the decrease
in sales volume of the Group’s core product Kewei during
the Reporting Period.

Gross Profit

Far the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s gross
profit was RMB2,794.06 million, representing a decrease
of 43.96% as compared with RMB4,985.76 million for
the year ended 31 December 2023. It was mainly due to
the decrease in sales volume of the Group’s core product
Kewei during the Reporting Period.
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OPERATING RESULTS AND ANALYSIS (continued)

Other Net Income/(Loss)

Other net income/loss of the Group mainly included
(1) government subsidies, primarily representing
amortization of government subsidies for the
construction of the production line for Kewei recognized
by instalments in accordance with accounting standards,
and other subsidies or incentives granted by the
local government; (2) interest income; (3) net foreign
exchange; (4) net profit or loss from disposal of fixed
assets; and (5) other miscellaneous gains.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s
other net income was RMB31.77 million, representing an
increase of RMB531.57 million as compared to other net
expenses of RMB499.80 million for the year ended 31
December 2023, which was mainly due to the decrease
in impairment loss on intangible assets and net foreign
exchange loss of the Group in 2024, and that there was
a decrease in loss on fair value change of derivative
financial instruments embedded in convertible bonds.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

lll. OPERATING RESULTS AND ANALYSIS (continued) M.

5.  Expenses Analysis

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s

total expenses amounted to RMB2,248.88 million,

representing a decrease of 4.67% as compared to
RMB2,359.16 million for the year ended 31 December
2023. The main compaonents of the Group’s expenses are

ERETHRAN
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as follows: TR A467% c REBK B
AEE/KINT
Year ended 31 December Change
BEZ+-HA=1t—-HLEE compared
2024 2023 to last year
—E-mE —EC=F Eilsd-1(4
(RMB’000) (RMB’000) (%)
(AR¥T ) (ANR®FIT) (%)
Distribution costs DI 1,153,994 1,547,150 -25.41%
Administrative expenses THEBRRY 385,374 385,702 -0.09%
Research and development A3 pk &K 493,443 192,287 156.62%
cost
Recognition of impairment RE 5 R HM R 118,539 6,627 1,688.73%
loss on trade and other FIEREESE
receivables
Finance costs BE AR 97,529 227,398 -57.11%
2,248,879 2,359,164 -4.67%
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OPERATING RESULTS AND ANALYSIS (continued)

Expenses Analysis (continued)

Distribution costs mainly consist of (1) marketing
expenses relating to conducting academic promotion
activities and other marketing activities; (2) travelling
expenses for marketing purposes; (3) labour cost; and
(4) other expenses. The decrease in distribution costs
was mainly due to (i) the corresponding decrease in
marketing costs driven by decrease in sales of the
Group’s products.

Administrative expenses mainly consist of (1) salary and
welfare benefits for the management and administrative
personnel; (2) depreciation and amortization costs
relating to our office facilities and land use rights; and (3)
taxes and surcharges and other miscellaneous costs.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s total
investment in R&D amounted to RMB687.23 million,
representing 18.46% of the revenue and an increase of
103.77% as compared to the corresponding period of last
year, amang which expenses recognised in profit or loss
were RMB493.44 million and capitalized expenditures
were RMB193.79 million.

The impairment loss on trade and other receivables
amounted to RMB118.54 million is recognized based on
the expected credit loss model. The amount increased as
compared to last year mainly due to the increased long-
aged trade receivables.

Finance costs mainly consist of interest expense for bank
loans and other borrowings.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BHEE ST L AT

OPERATING RESULTS AND ANALYSIS (continued)

Profit Before Taxation

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s
profit before taxation amounted to RMB577.23 million in
total, representing a decrease of RMB1,549.54 million as
compared to the profit before taxation of RMB2,126.77
million for the year ended 31 December 2023, which
was mainly due to the decrease in sales volume of core
product Kewei.

Income Tax

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the income
tax expenses of the Group amounted to RMB394.52
million, representing a decrease of RMB176.43 million
as compared to the income tax expenses of RMB270.95
million for the year ended 31 December 2023, mainly
due to the decrease in the Group’s profit before taxation.

Profit for the Reporting Period

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
recorded a net profit amounted to RMB482.71 million,
representing a decrease of RMB1,373.11 million as
compared to the net profit of RMB1,855.83 million for
the year ended 31 December 2023, which was mainly
due to the decrease in sales volume of core product

Kewei.
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lll. OPERATING RESULTS AND ANALYSIS (continued)

Profit and Total Comprehensive Income attributable to
Equity Shareholders of the Company

For the year ended 31 December 2024, profit and
total comprehensive income attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company was RMB482.71 million,
representing a decrease of 75.78% as compared to profit
and total comprehensive income attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company of RMB1,992.62 million for
the year ended 31 December 2023, which was mainly
due to the decrease in sales of core product Kewei.

IV. FINANCIAL POSITION

1.

Overview

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s total assets
amounted to RMB12,429.22 million, with liabilities
of RMB3,921.02 million and shareholders’ equity of
RMB8,508.20 million.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s capital is derived
from sales of product and are used in production
workshop construction, distribution and administrative
management etc. The management has clear goals and
records in budget, financial and operating performance,
and actively monitors them and regularly evaluates
internal control measures.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

IV. FINANCIAL POSITION (continued)

Net Current Assets

B IR E A LT

IV. BIEEARR (&)

2. RBEEFE

The following table sets forth our current assets, current TREFBMPAAT B BRR
liabilities and net current assets for the date indicated. BEE RBBELRBEE
FE o

As at 31 December

R+=—A=+—H
2024 2023
—EDmE T -=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTT
Current assets REBEE
Inventories & 645,929 409,050
Trade and other receivables B 5 M E I FRIE 2,257,335 2,112,798
Prepayments TR RIE 326,910 270,809
Financial assets measured at FVPL BRAARBEFAEEEZY
AR EREE 3,839 18,686
Restricted cash REREHRE 395,613 1,567,300
Cash and cash equivalents RekReFEEER 1,403,777 1,674,413
Total current assets REBEEME 5,033,403 6,053,056
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade and other payables B 5 R EH M EARIE 1,467,646 1,755,352
Contract liahilities ERAaE 29,546 101,448
Bank loans and other borrowings RITER M EMER 1,331,611 2,319,518
Lease liabilities HERE 3,418 359
Deferred income IR E W = 8,079 8,195
Financial liabilities BARBEFEBHES
measured at FVPL FABmREmaE - 1,139
Current taxation BIEATR 18 231 146,209
Total current liabilities BREBAEE 2,840,531 4,332,220
Net current assets FMEE E 2,192,872 1,720,836
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IV. FINANCIAL POSITION (continued)

Net Current Assets (continued)

As at 31 December 2024, the Group recorded the total
current assets of RMB5,033.40 million, as compared to
RMB6,053.06 million as at 31 December 2023.

Intangible Assets

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s intangible assets
was RMB2,503.63 million, representing a decrease of
RMB62.00 million as compared to RMB2,565.63 million
as at 31 December 2023. This was due to the increase
in the amount of development costs for some of the
drug collaborative R&D pipeline projects and the new
drug project for Olorigliflozin, partially offset by the
depreciation of intangible assets and the impairment
of some of the generic drugs, which resulted in the
decrease in the amount of intangible assets.

Gearing Ratio and Quick Ratio

Gearing ratio represents total interest-bearing
borrowings as at a record date divided by total
shareholders’ equity as at the same record date. Quick
ratio represents current assets excluding inventories as
at a record date divided by current liabilities as at the
same record date.

The gearing ratio and the quick ratio of the Group as
at 31 December 2024 were 26.10% and 1.54 times,
respectively. The gearing ratio and the quick ratio of the
Group as at 31 December 2023 were 32.86% and 1.30
times, respectively.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

IV. FINANCIAL POSITION (continued)

Bank Loans and other borrowings

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s loans balance
of other borrowings included RMB1,920.97 million of
bank loans and RMB299.88 million of obligation arising
from sale and leaseback transactions, representing
a decrease of RMB386.96 million as compared to
RMB2,607.81 million as at 31 December 2023. The Group
is in good liquidity position with sufficient funding and
has no repayment risk. The Group’s bank loans were
denominated in RMB as at 31 December 2024.

Capital Expenditure

In order to meet the production demand for our
products, the Group’s aggregate capital expenditure
for construction of plants and buildings, purchasing
administration offices, machines and equipment,
investment in the capitalised expenditure of
development cost and acquired the ownership of
approvals for purchasing, manufacturing and launching
certain pharmaceutical products as at 31 December
2024 amounted to RMB1,182.10 million.
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IV. FINANCIAL POSITION (continued)

Contingent Liabilities

The Group had no significant contingent liabilities,
litigation or arbitration of material importance as at 31
December 2024.

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 December 2024, land use rights held for own
use amounting to RMB282.65 million (2023: RMB254.04
million), fixed assets held for own use amounting
to RMB1,204.24 million (2023: RMB995.06 million),
construction in progress amounting to RMB228.40
million (2023: RMB117.95 million), bill receivables
amounting to RMB105.84 million (2023: RMB19.51
million) and restricted cash amounting to RMB244.51
million (2023: 1,545.24) held by the Group were pledged

to the bank for bank loans and other borrowings.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERETHRAN

IV. FINANCIAL POSITION (continued)

9. Employee and Remuneration Policies

)

IV. BIEEARR (&)

9. EERFHEMEE

Human Resource Summary (1) ABDERSBR

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a total of RZZE-_WMF+ = A
4,861 employees. For the year ended 31 December =t+—H AEREHXEH
2024, staff costs (including Directors’ emoluments EBEB4861A -EHE-ZT
but excluding any pension scheme contributions) “HME+ZA=+—H
were approximately RMB592.90 million. IEFE BIXA(BE

FEEMWE  ETBRER

ARIKEETEET) L5

ARH59290 HETT °
by age: REREERD -

Number Percentage
Age distribution FRoM A Bok
30 or below 30 AT 1,376 28.31%
31-50 (inclusive) 31-505% (&) 3,358 69.08%
Above 50 5078 A £ 127 2.61%
Total &5t 4,861 100%
by education: REREEED
Number Percentage

Education Level XALRE A8 Bk
Master or above EEs A 145 2.98%
Bachelor E 1,714 35.26%
Associate PN 1,541 31.70%
Vocational or below HRIAT 1,461 30.06%
Total &5t 4,861 100%
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B B am M oA

IV. FINANCIAL POSITION (continued)

9.

Employee and Remuneration Policies (continued)

(2

(3)

Remuneration Policy

The objective of the Group’s remuneration policy
is to motivate and retain talented employees
to ensure the Group’s development and such
policy is determined by taking into consideration
factors such as remuneration in respect of the
overall remuneration standard in the industry and
employee motivation. The management of the
Company will review the remuneration policy of
employees of the Group on a regular basis.

Employee Benefits

The Group strictly complies with the Labour Law
of the People’s Republic of China, the Labour
Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China and
the Social Insurance Law of the People’s Republic
of China, under which it contributes various
social insurance premiums and housing provident
fund for employees. In addition to the statutory
requirements of the PRC, the Group has established
corresponding systems such as the Corporate
Annuity Plan, Housing Welfare and Children’s
Welfare, and set up public welfare facilities such as
kindergarten and infirmary room. In the future, the
Group will provide employees with more benefit
and protection in accordance with its development

progress.

V.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERETHRAN

IV. FINANCIAL POSITION (continued)

9. Employee and Remuneration Policies (continued)

4

Gender Diversity Policy and Future Plans

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the number
of male and female employees of the Group was
2,537 and 2,324, respectively. In order to achieve
gender diversity, the Company strictly complies
with laws and regulations including the Labour
Law of the PRC and the Labour Contract Law of the
PRC, and has formulated the Equal Employment
system to review the relevant information of
male and female candidates based on the same
standards and requirements in the recruitment
process. In terms of talent promotion and senior
management election, the Company has always
adhered to the principles of openness, fairness and
impartiality in the selection of male and female
employees. The content of the assessment is based
on uniform standards to ensure that male and
female employees have the same opportunities to
be promoted to the Company’s management.

IV. BIEEARR (&)

9. EERFMBE(E)

4
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEW &I

IV. FINANCIAL POSITION (continued)

9. Employee and Remuneration Policies (continued)

4

IV. BIEEARR (&)

9. EERFMBE(E)

Gender Diversity Policy and Future Plans (4) MAZTEBERARR
(continued) 58 (4&)
In the future, the Company will further increase R ARAGE—F
the proportion of female employees, especially the RALZEE THLLA
gender ratio of female employees among senior BRAELUEETESR
management. In order to better implement gender BEEABRAMRILAH o
diversity, the Company will assist female senior BT EFHEEMNRNZ
managers in developing their careers, provide Tl RAR B N
guarantees for female career development in MEREBABRESE
terms of performance appraisal, talent training EER FEBEZ - A
and other policies, encourage the Board to THEEFRERFTERK
promote and recruit female employees, and carry MR B RIBHRE
out professional training for female employees. In SEEEGRN - ER
addition, the Company will systematically guide and ZHEETIHMA R
encourage capable female to join the Company’s ZMETITHEEE-
management and increase the proportion of female 13 R NE/NI=T el 81
employees in the management. S| 8RB R B E B A

NHLZEMAERREE

BE RAZMKEIR

EEERLLA -

Number Percentage

By Gender 5 &5 A Bok
Number of Male Staff EMETH 2,537 52.19%
Number of Female Staff LHBETIH 2,324 47.81%

Note: The above breakdown includes senior management.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BHEE ST L AT

V. OTHER SIGNIFICANT EVENTS DURING THE
REPORTING PERIOD

V. REHANEMEEREE

Possible transfer of shares in the company and merger
with Sunshine Lake Pharma

On 8 March 2024, the Company has been informed
by Sunshine Lake Pharma, the parent company of the
Company, that it and its wholly-owned subsidiary
HEC (Hong Kong) Sales Co., Limited, the immediate
shareholder of the Company holding 226,200,000 H
shares (representing approximately 25.71% of the total
issued share capital of the Company)), entered into a
share transfer agreement, pursuant to which HEC (Hong
Kong) will, subject to the terms and conditions of the
agreement, transfer to Sunshine Lake Pharma the sale
shares at a consideration of HK$9.14 per share. The
transfer consideration was determined with reference
to the average closing price of approximately HK$3.14
per share based on the daily closing price as quoted on
the Stock Exchange for the 20 trading days prior to the
signing of the Agreement. The total consideration for
the Share Transfer is HK$2,067,468,000, which will be
paid by Sunshine Lake Pharma in cash or through other
means agreed between Sunshine Lake Pharma and HEC
(Hong Kong) Sales Co., Limited in full no later than 360
days after the date of the completion.

Completion of the transfer of the rights and obligations
attached to, and the profit or loss arising from, the sale
shares has taken place on 8 March 2024.
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V. OTHER SIGNIFICANT EVENTS DURING THE
REPORTING PERIOD (continued)

Possible transfer of shares in the company and merger
with Sunshine Lake Pharma (continued)

On 10 May 2024, Sunshine Lake Pharma and the
Company have entered into the merger agreement,
pursuant to which Sunshine Lake Pharma and the
Company have agreed to implement the merger subject
to the terms and conditions of the merger agreement,
including the pre-conditions and the conditions.
Following the fulfilment (or waiver, as applicable) of the
pre-conditions and conditions and the completion of the
share exchange, the Company will be delisted from the
Stock Exchange, H shares to be issued to Sunshine Lake
Pharma will be listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange by way of introduction and the Company will
be merged into and absorbed by Sunshine Lake Pharma
in accordance with the terms of the merger agreement
and PRC Company Law and other applicable PRC Laws.

Following the fulfilment (or waiver, as applicable) of the
pre-conditions and the conditions and the completion of
the share exchange, (i) H shares to be issued to Sunshine
Lake Pharma will be listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange by way of introduction; and (ii) the
share exchange shareholders will become shareholders
of Sunshine Lake Pharma. Sunshine Lake Pharma will
assume all assets, liabilities, interests, businesses,
employees, contracts and all other rights and obligations
of the Company from the implementation date; and the
Company will be eventually deregistered in the PRC.

Pre-condition (3) was fulfilled on 11 December 2024.
As at the date of this report, pre-conditions (1) and (2)
have yet to be fulfilled, and Sunshine Lake Pharma has
been working towards completing the relevant filing and
registration and obtaining the relevant approvals.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BHEE ST L AT

V. OTHER SIGNIFICANT EVENTS DURING THE
REPORTING PERIOD (continued)

Possible transfer of shares in the company and merger
with Sunshine Lake Pharma (continued)

For details, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 8 March 2024, 10 May 2024, 7 June
2024, 5 August 2024, 4 September 2024, 4 October
2024, 5 November 2024, 5 December 2024, 11
December 2024, 10 January 2025, 10 February 2025 and
10 March 2025 respectively.

Revision of proposed annual cap under the sharing
agreement

On 26 April 2024, after taking into account (i) the revenue
sharing received by the Company from Sunshine Lake
Pharma under the sharing agreement for the year ended
31 December 2023; (ii) the revenue sharing receivable
by the Company from Sunshine Lake Pharma for the
period from 1 January 2024 to 31 March 2024 under the
sharing agreement; (i) Sunshine Lake Pharma’s updated
forecast of revenue or profit from the sale of designated
pharmaceutical products under the sharing agreement
for the year ending 31 December 2024; and (iv) the
revenue sharing ratios as prescribed under the sharing
agreement, the Board has resolved to revise the annual
cap of the revenue sharing or profit to be received from
Sunshine Lake Pharma under the sharing agreement for
the year ending 31 December 2024 to RMB70.0 million.

FERE 2024 /| EE

V. %

(%)

MW EMEXRSEIR

THREFFAAFTARMRERER
REXHEENSHEE (F)

HEB2HARRHBEACE
“WHFE=ZANB - ZZTZ_WF
FA+H —E-_MFEXAL
A —2-_@mWFENARA -
T_MFEALAMNHE s —F =W
F+AMOAE T ME+—
ARA ZZE-WNWE+=RHA
AT -_mWE+= A+ —
A - —Z2-_xaAF—A+A8-
*ﬂi*ﬂ+ﬁ&:;:£
F=ZA+HZAE-

BRI DR ERFE LR

RZZFEZMFMOA=+XA -
HE B () AN A R R IR o A W
BEERRG A EZRBRNEE
ZE-=F+ZA=+—H1t
FEHBADK : (AR A
BESKIREEEBRREE K
BERBRHN_T_MF—A—
AE-_Z-_WMFE=Z/=+—H
M AR WA D (i)ER
RErEEHBEE S _NF

T-A=+—BLEFEIKH
& NMEEEMEERASLFE
Y S R IR A - BA B (iv) 23 X 1B

FEHBASKLEENTE  EF
ERARBE-_T-_MF+=
A=+T—HBILFERES K%
B E R R R YR U
AP K FEFE LRIEE]
BARBTIO0OBEETT °

REXRTEZBRNDERDF]

51



52

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEW &I

V. OTHER SIGNIFICANT EVENTS DURING THE
REPORTING PERIOD (continued)

Revision of proposed annual cap under the sharing
agreement (continued)

Save as the revision of the original proposed annual cap
for the year ending 31 December 2024, all other terms
and conditions under the sharing agreement remain
unchanged.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 26 April 2024.

Election of directors of the fourth session of the Board
and the fourth session of the board of supervisors

On 7 June 2024, the shareholders of the Company
approved the election of Mr. JIANG Juncai, Mr. WANG
Danjin, Mr. CHEN Hao and Mr. LI Shuang as executive
Directors of the fourth session of the Board, Mr. TANG
Xinfa as non-executive Director of the fourth session of
the Board and Mr. TANG Jianxin, Ms. XIANG Ling and Mr. LI
Xuechen as independent non-executive Directors of the
fourth session of the Board at the 2023 annual general
meeting of shareholders held on 7 June 2024 (the “2023
AGM”).

On 7 June 2024, the shareholders of the Company
approved the election of Mr. TANG Jinlong and Mr. LUO
Zhaonghua as shareholder representative supervisors of
the Company’s fourth session of the board of supervisors
at the 2023 AGM.

On 30 April 2024, Mr. WANG Shengchao was elected as
the employee representative supervisor of the fourth
session of the board of supervisors by the Company’s
first employee representative meeting in 2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERETHRAN

V. OTHER SIGNIFICANT EVENTS DURING THE
REPORTING PERIOD (continued)

Election of directors of the fourth session of the Board
and the fourth session of the board of supervisors

(continued)

For details, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 6 May 2024, 7 May 2024 and 7 June
2024 and the circular of the Company dated 8 May 2024
respectively.

Becoming a constituent of Hang Seng family of indexes

On 9 September 2024, the Company has been selected
as a constituent of the following Hang Seng family of
indexes: (1) Hang Seng Composite Index; (2) Hang Seng
Composite Industry Index — Healthcare; (3) Hang Seng
Composite MidCap & SmallCap Index; (4) Hang Seng
Composite SmallCap Index; (5) Hang Seng SmallCap
(Investable) Index; (6) Hang Seng Healthcare Index; (7)
Hang Seng Hong Kong-Listed Biotech Index; (8) Hang
Seng Stock Connect Hong Kong Index; (9) Hang Seng
Stock Connect Hong Kong MidCap & SmallCap Index; (10)
Hang Seng Stack Connect Hong Kong SmallCap Index; (11)
Hang Seng Innovative Drug Index; (12) Hang Seng SCHK
Innovative Drug Index; (13) Hang Seng SCHK Mainland
China Companies Index; (14) Hang Seng SCHK Innovative
Drug Select Index; (15) Hang Seng SCHK Pharmaceuticals
& Biotechnology (Investable) Index.
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The Hang Seng Composite Index offers a comprehensive
Hong Kong market benchmark that covers about 95% of
the total market capitalisation of the companies listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Hang Seng
Healthcare Index aims to reflect the overall performance
of stocks listed in Hong Kong that are related to medical
and pharmaceutical and healthcare businesses. The
Hang Seng Stock Connect Hong Kong Index provides a
benchmark for the performance of equities listed in Hong
Kong which are eligible for trading via the southbound
trading link of the Stock Connect Scheme.

Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
16 August 2024 for further details.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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V. OTHER SIGNIFICANT EVENTS DURING THE V. REHRINEMEAREE
REPORTING PERIOD (continued) (4)

Entering into a licensing agreement with Apollo
Therapeutics Group Limited (“Apollo”) to develop and
commercialise APL-18881 (HEC88473)

On 12 November 2024, Sunshine Lake Pharma
entered into a licensing agreement with Apollo, a
portfolio biopharmaceutical company based in the
United Kingdom and the United States of America,
for the development of APL-18881 (HEC88473).
Under the terms of the agreement, Sunshine Lake
Pharma will retain development, manufacturing and
commercialisation rights of APL-18881 (HEC88473) in
China and has granted Apollo the exclusive development,
manufacturing and commercialisation rights of APL-
18881 (HEC88473) in the rest of the world for all current
and future therapeutic indications and under the terms
of the agreement, Sunshine Lake Pharma can receive
up to US$938 million in payments, including an upfront
cash payment of US$12 million and development,
regulatory and commercial milestone payments of up
to US$926 million, over the licensing agreement’s term.
The development milestone payments are contingent
upon reaching defined research stages. The regulatory
milestone payments are contingent upon obtaining
certain regulatory approvals. The commercial milestone
payments are contingent upon reaching defined annual
sales thresholds across major markets. Separately,
if and when APL-18881 (HEC88473) is successfully
commercialized outside of China, Sunshine Lake Pharma
may, during the licensing agreement’s term, receive
royalties ranging from high single to low double-digit
percentages based on net sales outside of China. The
licensing agreement’s term is from the date of signing of
the licensing agreement to at least ten years following
the date of the first commercial sale.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 12 November 2024.
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V. OTHER SIGNIFICANT EVENTS DURING THE V. REHRINEMEARSEE
REPORTING PERIOD (continued) (4)

56

Entering into a licensing agreement with Shenyang
Sunshine Pharmaceutical., Ltd. to commercialise
Clifutinib Besylate

On 25 November 2024, Sunshine Lake Pharma and
the Company entered into a licensing agreement with
Shenyang Sunshine Pharmaceutical a biopharmaceutical
company based in Shenyang, the PRC, and a subsidiary
of 3SBio Inc., a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1530), for Clifutinib
Besylate (“Clifutinib”). Under the terms of the
agreement, Shenyang Sunshine was granted the
exclusive commercialisation rights of Clifutinib in respect
of specific indications in China and Sunshine Lake Pharma
and the Company will retain the commercialisation
rights of Clifutinib outside of China and Sunshine Lake
Pharma can receive an upfront cash payment of RMB$60
million and development, regulatory and commercial
milestone payments, over the licensing agreement’s
term. The development and registration milestone
payments are contingent upon reaching defined research
stages and obtaining certain regulatory approvals
within a specific timeframe, among other defined
circumstances. Following the first commercial sale of
Clifutinib in China and in each month during the term of
the licensing agreement, Sunshine Lake Pharma Co., Ltd.
will pay an agreed percentage of the net sale proceeds
Sunshine Lake Pharma Co., Ltd. received in respect of
the sale of Clifutinib in China in that month as service
fee to Shenyang Sunshine. The commercial milestone
payments are contingent upon reaching defined annual
sales thresholds. The licensing agreement’s term is from
the date of signing of the licensing agreement to at least
fifteen years following the date of the first commercial
sale.
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VI.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OTHER SIGNIFICANT EVENTS DURING THE
REPORTING PERIOD (continued)

Entering into a licensing agreement with Shenyang
Sunshine Pharmaceutical., Ltd. to commercialise
Clifutinib Besylate (continued)

Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
25 November 2024 for further details.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

1.

Renewal of the Sharing Agreement

On 7 February 2025, the Company and Sunshine Lake
Pharma entered into the sharing agreement to renew the
sharing agreement dated 26 December 2022 entered into
by the Company and Sunshine Lake Pharma, pursuant
to which, Sunshine Lake Pharma agreed to distribute to
the Company its revenues or profits generated from the
sale of designated pharmaceutical products within the
PRC as authorised by the Company (the “2025 Sharing
Agreement”). The term of the 2025 Sharing Agreement
was from 7 February 2025 to 31 December 2025, the
annual cap in respect of the share of revenue or profit to
be received from Sunshine Lake Pharma for the period
between 7 February 2025 and 31 December 2025 is
RMB70.0 million.

For further details, please refer to the announcement of
the Company dated 7 February 2025.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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VI.

YICHANG HEC CHANGJIANG PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2024

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD (continued)

2.  Encofosbuvir Tablets (0.3g) approved for launch

On 27 March 2025, Encofosbuvir Tablets (0.3g)
(previously known as Yigibuvir Tablets (0.3g)), a Class
I innovative drug in China independently researched
and developed by the Company, has undergone the
assessment and approval process and has been
approved for launching by the China National Medical
Products Administration. In combination with Netanasvir
Phosphate Capsules, the drug is used for the treatment
of Hepatitis C virus (HCV) infection in adults with
genotypes 1, 2, 3, and 6 in primary or interferon-
treated cases, which may or may not be comorbid with

compensated cirrhosis.

For further details, please refer to the announcement of

the Company dated 27 March 2025.

Save as disclosed herein, the Directors confirmed
that there has been no material events which would
materially affect the Company’s operating and financial
performance subsequent to the Reporting Period and up

to the date of this report.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BHEE ST L AT

Vil. RISK FACTORS AND RISK MANAGEMENT Vi. BlEERERER
Risks that may have material effects on the operation of the HAEBEKEAEEEERATEN
Group are as follows: [E AT -

The risk of products failing to pass Consistency
Evaluation

According to the Opinions of the Office of the State
Council on the Commencement of Consistency Evaluation
on the Quality and Healing Effect of Generic Drugs (Guo
Ban Fa [2016] No. 8) ((BI#5Fe it N EERAN IR (7 B BEE
EMNEM—BMEFENER) (B# % [2016]185%) ) and
the Announcement on the Implementation of Matters in
Relation to the Opinions of the Office of the State Council
on the Commencement of Consistency Evaluation on the
Quality and Healing Effect of Generic Drugs issued by the
China Food and Drug Administration dated 26 May 2016
(2016 No. 106)(KBAR 7% & (B Hhe it N RERA R B R (7 &
EEENBREY—HUFENER ARFENAE) (=
T —XFF1065%%)), for generic drugs which have been
approved for market launch prior to the implementation
of the new registration category of chemical drugs, if the
approval was not carried out according to the principle
of consistency in quality and curative effect as the
original researched pharmaceuticals, such generic drugs
are subject to Consistency Evaluation and are required to
have consistent quality and curative effect as the original
researched pharmaceuticals. For the generic drugs which
are not able to pass the Consistency Evaluation within
the prescribed period, no further registration will be

approved.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
B E sTam T

VII. RISK FACTORS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

The risk of the decline in drug prices

With continuous progress in the centralized procurement
of drugs, deepening of reforms in the medical insurance
system and the promulgation of other relevant policies
and regulations, a declining trend in drug prices
will appear. National centralized procurement of
pharmaceuticals has been standardized and put in place
on a regular basis. If the enterprise fails in a bid, it tends
to lose the market for a long time. Thus, enterprises is
unable to ignore centralized procurement.

Pursuant to the National Reimbursement Drug List for
Basic Medical Insurance, Work-Related Injury Insurance
and Maternity Insurance (2023) (the “Reimbursement Drug
List") (B RERBZERR  THERBRMESRBRERD
B #% (2023 4F))) issued by the National Healthcare Security
Administration and the Ministry of Human Resources and
Social Security, which has been officially implemented on
7 December 2023, 126 types of drugs are added in such
new version of the national Medical Reimbursement Drug
List. With the normalization of adjustment to Medical
Reimbursement Drug List and the institutionalization of
national negotiation on innovative drugs, the market size of
China’s innavative drugs will be steadily expanding.

In respect of the Consistency Evaluation, the Group acquired
a total of thirty-three Generic Drugs from Sunshine Lake
Pharma, which were all approved by a foreign country
for domestic declaration. The Group’s core product Kewei
capsules and Benzbromarone tablets have been the first

drug varieties to pass the Consistency Evaluation.

As for the risk of decreasing drug price, there is less
competition for the Group’s core product, Kewei, and
the cost of distribution is under control. Meanwhile,
the Group is able to achieve self-sufficiency and reduce

production costs for the production of Kewei’s APIs.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

VIIl. FUTURE OUTLOOK

Looking forward, as the development direction of China’s
pharmaceutical industry is gradually shifting from generic
drugs to innovation drugs, drug innovation has become
the core competitiveness which supports the future
development of enterprises. In order to capture opportunities
in the fierce competition, pharmaceutical companies need
to make continuous efforts in various aspects including
product R&D, technical process improvement, production
and supply chain management and sales management,
while striving to grasp the initiative of industry competition
and forming good sustainable advantages by grasping the
market demand and trend of the pharmaceutical industry
and consolidating and expanding the corresponding strategic
target markets more effectively. The Company will continually
increase its investment in development and accelerate the
transformation of drug development into clinical applications
in the therapeutic areas of anti-infective, endocrine and
metabolic diseases. In addition, the Company will continue
to strengthen its product R&D and innovation capabilities,
constantly introduce new products and enrich the existing
product portfolio to enhance the market competitiveness of its

products.

The Company will also continue to optimize its scientific
and sustainable marketing strategy, strengthen academic
promotion and drug promotion activities, further promote
its core products in graded hospitals and primary medical
markets, and strive to create a highly recognized business
image and well-respected reputation in the domestic market,
in order to lay a solid foundation for new products to be
rapidly launched in the market in the future.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT
55 BEEKaAEEAREN

DIRECTORS

As at the date of this Annual Report, the information of the Directors

is as follows:

5=

Date of commencement of
the term of the current

BEAFHRAH EFWEHWT

Name Date of appointment session of the Board Position

% BEEAH AEEBEAMERZA B

Mr. TANG Xinfa 4 May 2015 7 June 2024 Chairman and non-executive Director
iyt —T-AFRhANA —ToMEXRALHE EZRRIFNTES

Mr. JIANG Juncai 4 May 2015 7 June 2024 Executive Director

B EE -5 hANA —T-MEXRALR HITER

Mr. WANG Danjin 27 February 2006 7 June 2024 Executive Director

EMREE ZEERFZAZ+tR ZEZHFAALA BITES

Mr. CHEN Hao 8 September 2023 7 June 2024 Executive Director

BELE —ZZ=FhANH “T-MERAEA WITES

Mr. LI Shuang 8 June 2018 7 June 2024 Executive Director

FREE —E-N\FRANE —Z_MFRALR HITESR

Mr. TANG Jianxin 4 May 2015 7 June 2024 Independent non-executive Director
EREEE —E-AFHANA —T-MEXRALHE BUFRITES

Ms. XIANG Ling 5 June 2020 7 June 2024 Independent non-executive Director
&L+ —Z-TEALHA —TMEXRALR BUFRTES

Mr. LI Xuechen 25 September 2020 7 June 2024 Independent non-executive Director
FERKSE “T-TFANAZTAEB ZT-HFNALA BUFNTES
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

55 EFEMEREEAEGHN

DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. TANG Xinfa (E#7%), aged 55, is the Chairman and a non-
executive Director. He joined the Company in May 2015 and has
served as a non-executive Director since then. He is a member of the

Audit Committee.

Mr. Tang has extensive working experience in the following
campanies or entities:

- -4¢ )

EHBALE 555 REERMIFNTE
E MR- -RAFAAMALRRA " It
BEEEFATEST B REXRZ

BEEgXkE -

FEEEETI AR EREFLENTIE
K

Period Name of Company/Entity Position Principal Function

£ DR/ EBRER B TERRE

Since January 2022 Guangzhou Yangzhiguang Executive director and manager Corporate management and
Trading Co., Ltd.* decision-making

W0251/ZF45 BMBZAERHERLE BTESRER RREEERR

Since September 2019 Yidu Tang Junyi Health Industry ~ Executive director and general Corporate management and
Development Co., Ltd. manager decision-making

B2019%9A%% EREABREEXER WITESHRAKE NAERERE
ARRA

Since September 2019 Yidu Tang Juntao Pharmaceutical  Executive director and general Corporate management and
Technology Co., Ltd. manager decision-making

B2019%9A%% HHBEEERENRERAR HITEERELRE RAIEEERE

Since September 2019 Ruyuan Yao Autonomous County  Legal representative and Corporate management and
Taidong Pharmaceutical executive director decision-making
Co., Ltd.

B2019F9A%% HRERBRBRRER EERRARRITES NRERERE
ARRA

Since April 2019 Guangdong HEC Technology Vice chairman, executive director Corporate management and
Holding Co., Ltd. decision-making

B2019F4 AZ5 BRRG AR SRR BEER HITER RAIEEERE

BRAF
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT
55 BEEKaAEEAREN

DIRECTORS (continued) B

Period Name of Company/Entity Position Principal Function

5 AR,/ EBRER B TERRE

Since August 2018 Dongguan Dong Yang Guang Director and manager Corporate management and

B2018F8AES

Since January 2017

B2017F1AE%

Since December 2016

B2016F12AE%5

Since November 2015

B2015F11 %%

Since June 2015

B2015F6 AE4

Since December 2014

B2014F128E%5

Since March 2011

B2011FE3A%%

Gaoneng Medical Equipment
Co., Ltd.

REREAREBERE
ARAT

Dongguan HEC TaiGen
Biopharmaceuticals Co., Ltd.

RERGHARBEME
BREERA

Linzhi HEC Pharmaceutical
Research Co., Ltd.
WERGHEEREFR AR

Shenzhen HEC Industrial
Development Co., Ltd.
AITRERERERBRAA
Dongguan HEC Industrial
Development Co., Ltd.
RETRGAEXERERAA
Yichang HEC Research Co., Ltd.
HERGALEMEBRAA

HEC Pharm Co., Ltd.

HERGREXRINARAF

ESRER

Legal representative, chairman of

the board of directors and director

EERRA EFR EF

Legal representative and director

EERRARES

Director and general manager

EERELE

Chairman of the board of directors

BEER

Legal representative, executive

director and general manager

EERERA  BTESRELE

Director

B
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decision-making

AREERERR

Corporate management and
decision-making
RAIEEERE

Corporate Management and
decision-making
RRIEEERR

Corporate management and
decision-making
RAIEERRE

Corporate management and
decision-making
RRIEEERR

Corporate management and
decision-making
RAEERRE

Corporate management and
decision-making
RAEERRE



PROFILES OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

55 EFEMEREEAEGHN

DIRECTORS (continued) 55

Period Name of Company/Entity Position Principal Function

£ NE/ERER Bif TERRE

Since October 2010 Dongguan HEC Medicine Legal representative, chairman of Corporate management and

Development and
Research Co., Ltd.

the board of directors and manager

E2010F10AZE% RERGAEMMEARRF ZEREA ESRELHE
Since September 2008 Guangdong Southern China Director
Advanced Pharmaceutical
Co., Ltd
B2008%9AZ% BRERMEAIHARAT =
Since September 2005 Sunshine Lake Pharma Co., Ltd. Director
B2005%9A%% BREBHEXRODAERAT EZF

Since December 2004

Dongguan HEC Industrial
Development Co., Ltd.

Legal representative, chairman of

the board of directors and manager

decision-making

AREERERR

Corporate management and

decision-making
AREEERR
Corporate management and

decision-making
RAIEEERE
Corporate management and

decision-making
RAIEEERE

Corporate management and

20045125 REMREAEXER EERRA  EFRFLE
BRAA

From September 2002to  Shenzhen HEC Industrial Chief of the office

September 2005 Development Co., Ltd.

H20026F93% ARG HEXER MAEEE

200549 ARAA

Mr. Tang received a master’s degree in literary aesthetics from the
Department of Chinese of Xiamen University (JEF9X&) in September
2002.

Mr. JIANG Juncai (3139 7), aged 43, is an executive Director and the
general manager of the Company. He joined the Company in May
2015 and has served as an executive Director since then. He is a
member of the Remuneration and Evaluation Committee.

decision-making
AREEERR
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YR BEEEE LS o
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND

SENIOR MANAGEMENT
55 ESEMAAEEABBN

DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. Jiang served as a director of Yidu HEC Industrial Development
Co., Ltd. (BB RIS A EEERBER 2 F]) from March 2012 to May
2015. Prior to that, Mr. Jiang was a director of Yichang Shancheng
Cordyceps Sinensis Co., Ltd. (B & LMK EBLBEEFR A F]) from
March 2012 to July 2015, and successively served as a researcher
at the biochemistry division, a researcher and deputy head of the
traditional Chinese medicine division and the deputy head of the
zoological and botanical division of Sunshine Lake Pharma from July
2006 to May 2012.

Mr. Jiang graduated with a master’s degree in science from
Shenyang Pharmaceutical University (&% 225} X 2) in June 2006.

Mr. WANG Danjin (£ /#3£), aged 55, is an executive Director and a
deputy general manager of the Company. He joined the Company in
February 2006, and has served as an executive Director since then.

Mr. Wang has also served as a supervisor of HEC Pharm from
December 2010 to July 2015, and a director of Yichang HEC
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (E & R BB H R A ) from April
2006 to January 2018. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Wang
was the head of production department of Jilin Tonghua Dongri
Pharmaceutical Joint Stock Co., Ltd. (A& (L B ZEZ KD
A BR A a]) from March 2002 to January 2006, and a technologist
at Liaoning Dandong Pharmaceutical Factory (3 2 4 /4 5 & 22 %)
from November 1991 to February 2002.

Mr. Wang graduated with a bachelor’s degree from Shenyang
Pharmaceutical University (&[5 2%} X 2) through correspondence
courses in January 2008. He is recognised as a licensed pharmacist
by Ministry of Human Resources and Social Security of the
People’s Republic of China (formerly known as Ministry of Personnel
of the People’s Republic of China), and was recognised as a
pharmacist-in-charge by Bureau of Human Resources and Social
Security of Dandong (formerly known as Bureau of Personnel of
Dandong (F}3 M AZE/®) in October 2001.
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Mr. CHEN Hao (PR %), aged 50, is currently the general manager
of the sales platform of the Company. Since joining the Company
in November 2009, he has served as the regional manager and the
sales general manager of the Company. Prior to joining the Company,
Mr. Chen Hao joined Shenzhen HEC Industrial Development Co.,
Ltd. in July 1994, and served as the vice president of HEC Research
Institute from January 2007 to October 2009.

Mr. Chen Hao graduated from Hangzhou University in July 1994.

Mr. LI Shuang (Z3g), aged 44, is an executive Director and the
deputy general manager of the Company. He joined the Company in
August 2005 and worked as a member of the insulin research team.
He has served as the deputy general manager of the Company since
May 2015 and served as an executive Director since June 2018.

Mr. Li has also served as the deputy head of the Company’s insulin
factory since October 2013 and the head of active pharmaceutical
ingredient department of that factory since February 2006. Mr. Li
was the head of purification department of the Company’s insulin
factory from December 2008 to September 2013.

Mr. Li graduated with a bachelor’s degree in engineering majoring
in bioengineering from China Three Gorge University (= I X&) in
June 2004 and obtained a master of business administration degree
majoring in EMBA from Wuhan University in June 2023 .
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DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. TANG Jianxin (JE#2%f), aged 60, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director in May 2015. He is the chairman of the Audit
Committee and a member of the Remuneration and Evaluation

Committee.

Mr. Tang is currently an independent director of Wuhan Ligong
Guangke CO. Ltd. (E)Z 3 T 3 &I 15 B BR A 7)) (Shenzhen Stock
Exchange ( “SZSE”) stock number: 300557) (since July 2019), an
independent director of Wuhan Department Store Group (& % &
f&% 1% A BR 72 &)) (SZSE Stock number: 000501) (since July 2020), and
an independent director of Hubei Feilihua Quartz Glass Co., Ltd. (8
b JE R O I AR D B R 2 7)) (SZSE stock number: 300395)
(since August 2021).
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DIRECTORS (continued)

Moreover, Mr. Tang was an independent director of Zhejiang Reclaim
Construction Group Co., Ltd. G TEEGEZEBKRHBR R F])
(SZSE stock number: 002586) from December 2019 to November
2021, an independent director of Sino Great Wall Co., Ltd. (&)1 & 4%
R D B BR A 7)) (SZSE stock number: 000018) from December 2015
to December 2018, an independent directaor of Zhongbai Holdings
Group Co., Ltd. (A B = i% %= B i% 19 B R 2 7)) (SZSE stock code:
000759) from December 2011 to December 2017, an independent
director of Shenzhen Huapengfei Modern Logistics Co., Ltd. (Il
MR K Y) R AD B PR 2 7) (SZSE stock code: 300350) from
August 2010 to August 2016, an independent director of Wuhan
Sanzhen Industry Holding Co., Ltd. (BVE ZSEE KRB H AR A
7)) (SSE stock code: 600168) from June 2009 to June 2015 and an
independent director of Easyhome New Retail Group Corporation
Limited (FRAZ RN T EEB KD BR AR (formerly known as
Wuhan Zhongnan Commercial (Group) Co., Ltd. (& & & 7 &£ B %
3 B BR A &))) (SZSE stock code: 000785) from May 2008 to May
2014. Prior to that, Mr. Tang served as an independent director of
Wuhan Accelink Technologies Co., Ltd. (EZ SR BHH E B B R A
7)) (SZSE stock code: 002281) from September 2006 to September
2009 and an independent director of Hubei Chutian Expressway Co.,
Ltd C#AE R & 2 2 B8 B {7 B BR 2 &) (SSE stock code: 600035)
from April 2002 to April 2008. Mr. Tang has been a professor
of the Accounting Department of Economics and Management
School of Wuhan University since 2004 and a doctoral tutor at
Wuhan University (E# X&) since 2006. He served as the dean of
Accounting Department of Economics and Management School in the
same university from 2005 to 2015. He worked for the postdoctoral
research center of the accounting department of Renmin University
of China (7 Bl A R A &) from 2000 to 2002.
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Mr. Tang received his bachelor’s degree from the Economics
Department of Wuhan University in June 1985, and then
obtained a master’s degree in economics and a doctoral degree in
ecanomics from Wuhan University in September 1988 and January
1999 respectively. Mr. Tang was granted independent auditor
qualifications by the National Audit Office of the People’s Republic of
China in December 1992, and Certified Public Valuer qualification by
the Chinese Institute of Certified Public Valuers in December 1996.

Ms. XIANG Ling (&%), aged 42, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 5 June 2020. She is the chairman of the
Remuneration and Evaluation Committee and a member of the Audit

Committee and Nomination Committee.

Ms. Xiang graduated from the Law School of Hunan Normal
University CHRI AT #8 K 2K 2287 ) in 2003 with a bachelor’s degree
in law. She further obtained a master’s degree in Laws (International
Economic Law) from the Law School of Sun Yat-sen University (FF
ILIZK28) in 2006 and a doctoral degree of Judicial Science (Theory of
Law) CEEE T A2 ) 247) from the Law School of Sun Yat-
sen University (7 11K 22) in 2013.

Since July 2006, Ms. Xiang has been teaching at the School of Law
of Guangdong University of Finance and has been serving as the
Chair of the Intellectual Property Department. Her research mainly
covers contract law, company law, intellectual property law and
international economic law. Currently, she takes lead of 2 provincial-
level research topics, and has participated as a main participant
in the projects of National Social Science Foundation (Bl & 4t fb &
% 18 B), the projects of Humanities and Social Sciences Research
Foundation of the Ministry of Education (B A XA R HE 4 1A
H ) and the projects of several provincial-level research topics. She
has published more than ten papers in core journals such as Political
Science and Law (BUAEEAE)), Intellectual Property (CAIFRERE)),
Academics in China ((Z4f7 #)), Social Sciences in Guangdong ({/&
B4t & ®2)), Journal of Hunan University (< 3 A 2 £%)) and
Presentday Law Science ({FFEZ)).
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Ms. Xiang participated and successfully graduated in the 97th
Independent Director Training (55 97 Hi%8 32 2 E 55 7)l) held by the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange in September 2018 and was eligible to be

incumbent as an independent director of a listed company.

Ms. Xiang is currently an executive director (% 7% ¥ %) of the
Intellectual Property Committee (A1 ZE # £ &) of the Guangdong
Province Law Society (BER & A2 ), a director (32 %) of the
Financial Law Research Committee (& B A2 55 &) of the
Guangdong Province Law Society, a director of the International Law
Research Committee (EIBR A2 &) of the Guangdong Province
Law Society, a director of the Economic Law Research Committee (£
% BT E) of the Guangdong Province Law Society, a director
of the Guangzhou Law Society, Tianhe District (& /N /1 K o [& % 2
@), a director of the fifth council of The Association of Registered
Tax Agents of Guangdong Province (EE L MBS iH & E A&
I E®), a consultant on the area of marine rights and interests (/&
VEHE 25 55 3 H R) of the South China Sea Branch of State Oceanic
Administration, a legal consultant of Guangdong Xuping Jewelry Co.,
Ltd. (ERBF & #ABR2AF) and a part-time lawyer of the Legal
Aid Center of Guangdong University of Finance (BER & B &5 A2 1E
BhR DY), and serves as the dean of Intellectual Property Department
of the School of Law of Guangdong University of Finance.

Moreover, Ms. Xiang was an independent director of Guangdong
Zhongnan Iron & Steel Co., Ltd. (ER P EME R DB R Q7))
(formerly known as SGIS Songshan Co., Ltd. (J& 3 Z#1L K& B
B 2~ @l)) (SZSE stock number: 000717) from June 2019 to October
2022. She currently serves as the independent director of GHT Co.
Ltd. (300711.S2), Guangzhou Haozhi Industrial Co.,Ltd. (300503.
SZ) and Dongjiang Environmental Company Limitd (002672.S7)
respectively.
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Mr. LI Xuechen (Z2 ), aged 47, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 25 September 2020.

Mr. Li graduated from the College of Chemistry of the Nankai
University (8 F KX 2) with a bachelor’s degree of Chemistry in
1999. He further obtained a master’s degree of Chemistry from
the Science Faculty of University of Alberta in 2003 and a doctoral
degree of Chemistry and Chemical Biology from the Division of
Science of Harvard University in 2006.

From 2007 to 2009, Mr. Li worked for a post-doctoral research at
the Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center, USA, responsible for
research on chemistry and pharmacy. Mr. Li has been teaching in the
Faculty of Science of the University of Hong Kong, his research area
principally involves chemical biology and medicinal chemistry since
July 20089.

Mr. Li has been a member of The Hong Kong Young Academy
of Sciences since January 2020. In 2017, Mr. Li was awarded a
Croucher Senior Research Fellowship by the Croucher Foundation.
In 2018, Mr. Li received the Outstanding Researcher Award from the
University of Hong Kong.
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SUPERVISORS

As at the date of this Annual Report, the information of the
Supervisors is as follows:

E=

BEAFRAY EENEHET

Start of term of office

upon expiration of

the term of the current

session of the Board

Name Date of appointment of Supervisors Position
rEEEEEHERZA
HE EBZEAH EEEHERR Bz
Mr. TANG Jinlong 6 June 2019 7 June 2024 Chairman of the Board of
Supervisors
FEeRERE —T-AFRAKRAE —T_MERALR EEgLF
Mr. WANG Shengchao 21 July 2017 7 June 2024 Employee representative supervisor
IhBEsE “E—+F+A+—H ZET-WFRALH BIRKRES
Mr. LUO Zhonghua 16 June 2017 7 June 2024 Supervisor
BRESLE —ZE—tFRATXH —EZNFEARAEH E=x

Mr. WANG Shengchao (E &), aged 42, is an employee
representative Supervisor and the chief of the quality division of the
Company. He joined the Company in May 2012 as a quality controller
of the quality division, and served as the vice director of quality
assurance of the quality division of the Company since April 2015.
Mr. Wang held the position of the guality assurance director of the
quality division of the Company from May 2016 to June 2017, and
served as the deputy chief of the quality division of the Company
from July 2017 to June 2019 and served as the chief of the quality
division of the Company since July 20189.
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Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Wang worked as a researcher of
new traditional Chinese medicines in Hebei Yiling Pharmaceutical
Group (ORfdbAsa B B £ &) from July 2008 to March 2010, a
pharmaceutical analysis researcher in Pharmaron (Beijing) New
Medicines Technology Co., Ltd. (&L QL R)FEERMBR A
&]) from April 2010 to May 2011, and an inspection engineer and
inspection supervisor of the quality department in Lepu (Beijing)
Medical Equipment Co., Ltd. (% (b m) B ZER WD BR A 7)) from
June 2011 to May 2012.

Mr. Wang graduated with a master’s degree in science from
Shenyang Pharmaceutical University (&% 2%} X2 in July 2008.

Mr. LUO Zhonghua (% £.#), aged 41, is currently the shareholder
representative Supervisor of the Company. He joined Dongguan HEC
Medicine Development and Research Co., Ltd. (BR5=5 5t B4 i 3%
BBR A7) (a subsidiary of Shenzhen HEC Industrial Development Co.,
Ltd. (FRIITIERG L EZEZERE AR A A)), the controlling shareholder
of the Company), since June 2005 to engage in the research and
development of APIs. He successively served as the head of the
generic drug APl synthesis department and deputy head of the
generic drug division in Dongguan HEC Medicine Development and
Research. He has been the legal representative and general manager
of YiChang HEC Pharmaceutical Manufacturing, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company since February 2018, and is responsible

for the preparation of the production base of biochemical APIs.

Mr. Luo graduated with a bachelor’s degree in pharmaceutical
engineering from the Central South University in June 2005, a
master’s degree in pharmacy from Sun Yat-sen University in 2015
and a doctoral degree in hiology pharmaceuticals from South China
University of Technology ((£F¥2 T K £2) in August 2020.
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Mr. TANG Jinlong (£ &E), aged 56, he was appointed as a Supervisor
of the Company on 6 June 2019 and has been a chairman of the Board
of Supervisors since then. He joined the Company in July 2001 as
deputy head (BI#8) of the development department of the Company
and served as the chairman of the Board of Supervisors since 6 June
2019. He was the head of development department of the Company
from June 2003 to July 2004 and chief engineer of the Company
from August 2004 to January 2008. Mr. Tang was the deputy general
manager of Yidu HEC Biochemical Manufacturing Co., Ltd. (E#B&FZ
JHELBIEEABR A F]) from March 2006 to December 2010 and the
factory manager of Hecheng factory (AR BB ) from January
2008 to December 2010. Since June 2015, Mr. Tang is the director
of HEC Pharm. Since February 2018, Mr. Tang is the chairman and
legal representative of YiChang HEC Biochemical API Co., Ltd. (B
ERGHCEERBEHRR A7) and the director of YiChang HEC
Pharmaceutical Manufacturing. Mr. Tang is the standing committee
member of 6th, 7th and 8th Yidu City Committee of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference (B &F T X175 & &).

Mr. Tang has obtained a bachelor’s degree in chemistry and
pharmacy ({b 25222+ E(7) in Wuhan Institute of Technology (&
ETZKE) in June 1990.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT EREEAER
During the Reporting Period and as at the date of this Annual Report, RFEBHAREBEEAFTHREH  SHERE
the information of Senior Management is as follows: ABWERINT

Date of joining Date of
Name the Group appointment Position Responsibility
i MAFEE B EZEAH Bz BE
Mr. JIANG Juncai 4 May 2015 4 May 2015 General manager Overall day-to-day management
BaEA s “T-hFAAMA —T-R¥AAMNA BE EEMATER
Mr. WANG Danjin 27 February 2006 4 May 2015 Deputy general manager Operational management
EMEEE “EZREAZ++H ZE-AFHAMWA IRCECSES 2EERE
Mr. LI Shuang 7 August 2005 4 May 2015 Deputy general manager Operational management
FREE —ZThEN\ALA —Z-hFRhAMA BlagE EEERE
Mr. ZHANG Qiang 23 February 2018 25 February 2019 Chief financial officer ~ Financial management
SR8 K HE “E-N\5ZAZ+=H ZE-NF-A-+1H HBAZE e R
Mr. PENG Qiyun 1 July 2016 15 October 2018 Secretary of the Board  Day-to-day operation of the Board
PHERE —T-R"¥tHA-H “T-)\5+A+HA EFgUE EXgNHRLE

For the biography of Mr. JIANG Juncai (#¥97), Mr. WANG Danjin (£
F}#) and Mr. LI Shuang (Z8), please refer to “Directors” in this
section.

Mr. ZHANG Qiang (3R 5&), aged 49, is the chief financial officer of
the Company. Mr. Zhang joined the Company in February 2018 and
was appointed as the chief financial officer of the Company on 25
February 2019 and is responsible for the financial management of
the Company.

Mr. Zhang has been the head of finance department of the Company
since February 2018. Mr. Zhang has 21 years of experience in
auditing, accounting and financial management. Prior to joining
the Company, Mr. Zhang acted as an assistant auditor of Yichang
Changjiang Accounting Firm* (B & R/ T 5B EHFT) from March
1999 to September 2001. He acted as the financial auditor of
Yichang County Military Audit Bureau* (EEMEAE R EF/E) from
October 2001 to May 2005 and served as the head of the finance
department of HEC Pharm from May 2005 to February 2018.

BEBOTEE  TRAREERFREE
MEE F2HAHIERIFD -

RIBEE  495% 0 AARRIEFHBE - R
EERZEBE—NEZANMALRRT R
E-NF-_A-+HHEZTAARQRY
HEE  BEANRUBEESEE -

RAEEB T N\FE- ARERQTIE
BHR - REERE St RV BERES
EHA21F&S - MAKRRZAE KT
EE-NMANEFE=ZAZEZEZT—FNAE
FEERISMEBFAPIEE - Rt
R T FTHE_ZSTRAFHAE
FTHETHEREARUMBES YBEZ
TERFERAE T N\E_AETEE
RSAMBEEK -

YICHANG HEC CHANGJIANG PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2024



PROFILES OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

55 EFEMEREEAE[H

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Mr. Zhang graduated from Wuhan University of Hydraulic and
Electrical Engineering (EVE/K7E 71 KE) with a college degree
in financial accounting in June 1997. Mr. Zhang is an intermediate

accountant and a PRC certified public accountant.

Mr. PENG Qiyun (23 E), aged 35, is the secretary of the Board. He
joined the Company in July 2016, and has served as the assistant to
secretary of the Board since then, and served as the secretary of the
Board since October 2018.

Mr. Peng graduated from Qingdao University with a bachelor of
science degree in mathematics and applied mathematics in June
2013, and obtained a master’s degree in finance from Guangdong

Finance College in June 2017.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES
Mr. PENG Qiyun (ZH E)
For the biography of Mr. Peng Qiyun (),

please refer to “Senior

Management” in this section.

Mr. WONG Wai Chiu (Z&#)

Mr. Wong Wai Chiu is an associate director of SWCS Corporate
Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited. Mr. Wong has extensive
experience in compliance and company secretarial work for listed
companies. Mr. Wong is a fellow of the Hong Kang Chartered
Governance Institute, a fellow of the Chartered Governance Institute
in the United Kingdom, a member of CPA Australia, a member of the

Hong Kong Trustee Association and a Certified Trust Practitioner.
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REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

EESHE

The Board of Directors hereby presents the Annual Report and
the audited financial statements of the Group (the “Financial
Statements”) for the year ended 31 December 2024 to Shareholders.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board of Directors currently consists of eight Directors,
comprising four executive Directors, one non-executive Director and
three independent non-executive Directors. The incumbent Directors
during the year ended 31 December 2024 and as at the date of this
Annual Repaort are:

Executive Directors
Mr. JIANG Juncai
Mr. WANG Danjin
Mr. CHEN Hao

Mr. LI Shuang

Non-executive Directors
Mr. TANG Xinfa (Chairman)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. TANG Jianxin

Ms. XIANG Ling

Mr. LI Xuechen

PRINCIPAL BUSINESS

The Company is a PRC pharmaceutical manufacturing company
that focuses on the development, manufacturing and sale of
pharmaceutical products in the therapeutic areas of anti-infection,
endocrine and metabolic diseases. For further information of the
principal business of the Company, please refer to the section
“Business Review” of this Annual Report.
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REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

SHARE CAPITAL

As of 31 December 2024, the total share capital of the Company was
RMB879,967,700, divided into 879,967,700 shares of RMB1.00 each.
Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the
year 2024 are set out in Note 26 to the Financial Statements. As of
the Latest Practicable Date, the Company did not hold any treasury
shares.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the listed securities (including sales of treasury
shares) of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2024.

As at 31 December 2024, the Company did not hold any treasury
shares.

DEBENTURES IN ISSUE

The Company did not have any debentures in issue for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

The Company did not enter into any equity-linked agreement, nor
did any equity-linked agreement exist during the year ended 31
December 2024.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has purchased appropriate liability insurance for
its Directors, Supervisors and senior management. The permitted
indemnity provisions are set out in such liability insurance.

Save as disclosed above, no permitted indemnity provision was
made by the Company for the year ended 31 December 2024 and
no permitted indemnity provision was in force as at the date of this
Annual Report.
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EEEWRE

PLEDGING OF SHARES BY THE CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDER

On 22 April 2022, the Company was informed by Sunshine
Lake Pharma, the controlling shareholder, that it has pledged
226,200,000 Domestic Shares in the issued share capital of the
Company held by it in favour of a third-party lender as security for a
loan provided by the third-party lender to Sunshine Lake Pharma.

On 14 October 2022, the Company was informed by HEC (Hong Kang)
that it has pledged the 226,200,000 H shares in the issued share
capital of the Company held by it in favour of an independent third-
party lender for a loan provided by the independent third-party
lender to Sunshine Lake Pharma.

LOAN AGREEMENTS OR FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE OF
THE COMPANY

The Company did not provide any financial assistance nor guarantee
to its affiliated companies for the year ended 31 December 2024,
which gives rise to a disclosure under Rule 13.16 of the Listing Rules.
The Company did not enter into any loan agreement with covenants
relating to specific performance of its Controlling Shareholder nor
breach the terms of any loan agreements for the year ended 31
December 2024.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not hold any significant
investment.

SHARE SCHEMES

The Company did not adopt any share schemes.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS AND TAX RELIEF OR
EXEMPTION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association and the laws of the PRC,
the Company is not subject to any pre-emptive rights requiring it
to propose new issues to its existing shareholders in proportion to
their shareholdings. In addition, the Company is not aware of any tax
relief or exemption available to any existing Shareholder by reason
of his/her holding of the securities of the Company.
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REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

RESULTS

The audited results of operations of the Company and its
subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in the
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive
Income on page 174. The financial condition of the Company and its
subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2024 is set out in the
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position on pages 175 to 176.
The consolidated cash flow of the Company and its subsidiaries for
the year ended 31 December 2024 is set out in the Consolidated
Cash Flow Statement on pages 178 to 179.

Discussion and analysis about the operating performance and
significant elements affecting the results of operations and financial
condition of the Company during the year are set out in Management

Discussion and Analysis of this Annual Report on pages 16 to 61.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year and a
discussion on the Group’s future business development are provided
on pages 18 to 33 and page 61 of this Annual Report, respectively.
Description of possible risks and uncertainties that the Group may
be facing can be found on pages 59 to 60 of this Annual Report.
No particulars of important events affecting the Group that have
occurred since the end of the financial year. An analysis of the
Group’s performance during the year using financial key performance
indicators is provided on pages 34 to 40 of this Annual Report.

In addition, further information of the Company’s environmental
policies, performance and initiatives can be found in the section
heading “Environmental Policies and Performance” of this Report
of the Board of Directors. The Company’s compliance with relevant
laws and regulations which have a significant impact on the
Company are provided in the section heading “Compliance with Laws
and Regulations” of this Report of the Board of Directors. An account
of the Company’s relationships with its employees, customers and
suppliers are disclosed in the section heading “Relationship with
Stakeholders” of this Report of the Board of Directors.
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FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board resolved not to recommend the payment of final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2024 (for the year ended 31
December 2023: Nil).

As at the date of this Annual Report, there was no arrangement
under which a Shareholder has waived or agreed to waive any
dividends.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS AND RECORD
DATE

In order to ascertain the Shareholders’ entitlement to attend and
vote at the AGM of the Company for the year of 2024 to be held on
Thursday, 29 May 2025, the register of members of the Company
will be closed from Monday, 26 May 2025 to Thursday, 29 May 2025
(both days inclusive), during which no transfer of shares will be
registered.

In order to qualify for attending and voting at the AGM, all
unregistered H shareholders of the Company shall lodge transfer
documents together with the relevant share certificates with the
Company’s H Share Registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor
Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration
before 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 23 May 2025. The record date for the
entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM is Monday, 26 May 2025.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Company and its subsidiaries during the year of 2024 are set out in
Note 10 to the Financial Statement.
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REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company during the
year 2024 are set out in Consolidated Statement of Changes in
Equity, of which details of reserves available for distribution to
equity Shareholders are set out in Consolidated Statement of
Changes in Equity. The Company’s reserves available for distribution
to equity shareholders as at 31 December 2024 represents the
retained profits of approximately RMB5,066.77 million.

DONATIONS

During the Reporting Period, the Group made external donations of
approximately RMB0.07 million (excluding personal donations of
employees).

BANK BORROWINGS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Details of bank borrowings and other borrowings of the Company
and its subsidiaries as at 31 December 2024 are set out in Note 22
to the Financial Statements.

INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of the Directors, Supervisors and senior
management of the Company are set out on pages 62 to 77 of this

Annual Report.
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SERVICE CONTRACTS OF DIRECTORS AND
SUPERVISORS

The Company has entered into service contracts with the Directors.
The principal particulars of these service contracts are (1) each of
the contracts is for a term of three years commencing on the date of
approval of their appointment at the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 7 June 2024 until the expiry of the fourth session
of the Board; (2) each of the contracts is subject to termination in
accordance with their respective terms. The service contracts may
be renewed under the Articles of Association and applicable rules.

The Company has entered into contracts with the Supervisors
in respect of, among others, compliance with relevant laws and
regulations, the Articles of Association and provisions of arbitration.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or Supervisors has
entered into a contract of service with the Company which is not
determinable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statuary compensation.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS

The remuneration of each executive Director are determined
pursuant to the decisions of the Shareholders’ general meeting,
and with reference to the duty, responsibility and performance
of the executive Directors, results of the Group and other factors
which may be considered as relevant and appropriate. The non-
executive Directors do not receive remuneration from the Company.
The remuneration of independent non-executive Directors are
determined with reference to their duties and responsibilities within
the Company, the Company’s remuneration policy and the prevailing
market conditions.
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REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS

(continued)

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and Supervisors in

2024 are set out in Note 7 to the Financial Statements. None of

the Directors or Supervisors waived any emoluments during the

year ended 31 December 2024. During the Reporting Period, no

emoluments were paid by the Group to any Director, any Supervisor

or any of the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or

upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.

Details of the emoluments of each senior management of the

Company (excluding Directors who are also senior management) in

2024 are set out below:

Contributions
to defined

EEGRE
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—+—RLEFE BEEEHEEHET
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B EEYAMAUSESFMHALIHN
ERBE - ERRSIEEMAKRE &M
AR B 2 RN BER A

ERARFRRERAE (TEERBAS
BEBAEMNER)R _T-_MEHMEH
FEIBESIAT

Salaries, contribution
allowances retirement Equity settled
and benefits benefit Discretionary share-based
in kind schemes bonuses payments 2024 Total
DY:£
F& 2N ERAKEK BEN —T-@EHE
RENEF BAGEMLX BERA B0 % A3 mst
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AR®TT ARETT AR®TT ARETR
Mr. Zhang Qiang Chief financial officer 268.84 17.66 193.88 202.83 480.39
RoE A s e E
Mr. Peng Qiyun Secretary of the Board
and joint company
secretary 209.00 15.84 145.47 = 370.31
FHELAE EEgNERBEAR
WE
Total 477.84 33.50 339.35 202.83 850.70
eE
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DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACTS

At the end of the year of 2024 or at any time during the year, there
were no transactions, arrangement or contracts of significance
subsisting in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company
or any of its subsidiaries was a party, directly or indirectly, and in
which any Director or Supervisor (or an entity connected with any
Director or Supervisor) had a material interest.

ARRANGEMENT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

During the Reporting Period, neither the Company, its holding
company, any of its subsidiaries nor fellow subsidiaries a party to
any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by
means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or

any other body corporate.
DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

For the year of 2024, none of the Directors or their associates
had any competing interests in any business that constitutes or
may constitute direct or indirect competition with the Company’s

businesses.

UPDATE OF DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS
INFORMATION

Save as disclosed in this Annual Report, there has been no other
change in the information of each Director and supervisor that is
required to be disclosed under Rule 13.51B of the Listing Rules since
the Company’s latest published interim report until the date of this

Annual Report.
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REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF DIRECTORS,
SUPERVISORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2024, to the knowledge of the Directors, the
following Directors, Supervisors and chief executive of the Company
had interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company and any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFQ), which were required
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including those taken or
deemed as their interests and short position in accordance with such
provisions of the SF0), or which were required, pursuant to section
352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register kept by the Company
referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant to the Model
Code, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange were as
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follows:
Number of
Shares/  Approximate  Approximate
underlying  percentage of  percentage of
Shares held relevant class total issued
(shares) of share capital  share capital
BER®B,/ HBEEIREX BRITREEH
Name Types of Shares Capacity HEROHE BHAEI2E NHELEIHK
o] B 13 8 Bl i237) (i) (%) (%)
Directors £
TANG Xinfa H Shares Beneficial owner 130,400 (L) 0.019% (L) 0.015% (L)
EEE H & EREBA
LI Shuang H Shares Beneficial owner 66,800 (L) 0.010% (L) 0.007% (L)
FR H& EREBA
WANG Danjin H Shares Beneficial owner 67,200 (L) 0.010% (L) 0.007% (L)
Tz H i EREBA
JIANG Juncai H Shares Beneficial owner 66,800 (L) 0.010% (L) 0.007% (L)
B9 H A& EREBA
LI Xuechen H Shares Beneficial owner 4,000 (L) 0.00061% (L)  0.00045% (L)
FE8p HAR EREBA
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF DIRECTORS,
SUPERVISORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES (continued)

BEE EENBETHRAER
B HEARODREEISHE
ENREZRKE )

Number of
Shares/  Approximate  Approximate
underlying  percentage of percentage of
Shares held relevant class total issued
(shares) of share capital  share capital
BER®G,/ HEBEIRE BRITREEH
HEROGHEE HHEAEIE HELIEIH
(B%) (%) (%)

Name Types of Shares Capacity

] IR 42 BB =47
Supervisors 55

WANG Shengchao H Shares Beneficial owner
T H A% EREEA

LUO Zhonghua H Shares Beneficial owner
‘OE HA EREEA

(L) — Long position

The calculation is based on the total number of 879,967,700 shares in issue of the
Company as at 31 December 2024, comprising 226,200,000 Domestic Shares and
653,767,700 H Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, to the knowledge
of the Directors, none of the Directors, Supervisors or chief executive
of the Company had any interests or short paositions in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of the SFO which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
those taken or deemed as their interest and/or short position in
accordance with such provisions of the SF0), or which were required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register
kept by the Company referred to therein, or which were required,
pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

32,000 (L) 0.004% (L) 0.003% (L)

66,800 (L) 0.010% (L) 0.007% (L)

(L — 1R

HEDBBEAATIR -_Z-_NFE+-_A=+—H
ME 1T 4 8879,967,700 M3 H - B
226,200,000 iR W& A% & 653,767,700 A& H A% ©

Br EXFTHEEEIN  RZZEZMF+=A
=t+—H BESEHN BEES E=
HARBTREITEHABRAR RS EALM
HEEZE (TEERFHERBAEEM) MR
7 AEERDREREPEESEREES
MAEREEDIEXVEE 7 RESH HME AN
NEI KRB ERIAR (BIEEBRE
BFAERBERINZERERRAIER
BENEZR/RAE) RAREES
N HAE 1GR3 352 1R # A B B IR DI AT il 17
ERARANELMANERSSKAR @ K
AR BAT AE<F A F0 & AN A 7] B B 32 P O A

HHAB -
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REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
SHARES

As at 31 December 2024, to the knowledge of the Directors, the
persons (other than the Directors, Supervisors or chief executive of
the Company) who have an interest or short position in the Shares or
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed
to the Company pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO
and as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

EESHE
TERRRROAOVER

R-Z-WFE+-A=+—H BEZMH
HoTIHAL(BEF EFHARTESD
TTHABERIN RA R BB s BE A 1
FHEEARBES B RDIEXVEE 2
REIDEAARBHEENERDIOXE -
KL SR AR IR E 55 I B B {5 71 6 336 1578
THRERARRNECMOEREIORE

Number of
Number of underlying
Shares/ sharesheld  Approximate  Approximate
underlying underequity  percentageof  percentage of
Shares held derivatives  relevant class total issued
(shares) (shares) of share capital  share capital
BRARAT &
BERS/ IARE HEEIRE BRORALE
Name of Shareholders Types of Shares  Capacity HERGHE HERGHEE WHELEIL WHELEI N
BREEE R4 E R 54 (&) (&) (%) (%)
Sunshine Lake Pharma Co., Ltd.* Domestic Shares  Beneficial owner 226,200,000 (L) - 100% (L) 25.70% (L)

(ERRBGREXRONERAA,
previously known as

ERREABEEBER A

BREGAHEERHERAE WE R BEHEBA
(AIBRERRGAEXERAR)Y H Shares Interest in 226,200,000 (L) - 34.59% (L) 25.70% (L)
Hi% controlled
carporation
XEslEEER
HEC (Hong Kong) Sales Co., Limited®* H Shares Beneficial owner 226,200,000 (L) - 34.59% (L) 25.70% (L)
BERRGAHERR AR HEx ERBBA
Shenzhen HEC Industrial Development Domestic Shares  Interest in 226,200,000 (L) - 100% (L) 25.70% (L)
Co., Ltd. *2 NE R controlled
R MEGLEZRRERAA R corporation
REREERER
H Shares Interest in 248,015,200 (L) - 37.93% (L) 28.18% (L)
HA% controlled
corporation
REREERER
Shaoguan Xinyuneng Industrial Domestic Shares  Interest in 226,200,000 (L) - 100% (L) 25.70% (L)
Investment Company Limited 2 REK controlled
BBMBREEREABRLA? corporation
R EERER
H Shares Interest in 248,015,200 (L) 5 37.93% (L) 28.18% (L)
HA% controlled
corporation

R AE R

FEHRE 2024 /| EERGARIEXRRNERAF
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EESHE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN

FTERRRRM AR @)

SHARES (continued)
Number of
Shares/ Approximate  Approximate
underlying percentage of  percentage of
Shares held relevant class total issued
(shares) of share capital ~ share capital
BERR/ HRERNRE SRITREFEE
Name of Shareholders Types of Shares HERAZ WERATLL HEAEIL
RELE R EH () ®) (%
Ruyuan Yao Autonomous County Domestic Shares 226,200,000 (L) 100% (L) 25.70% (L)
Yuneng Electric Industrial Co., Ltd.? NE R
AFEREAEEHEETELZERAA?
H Shares 248,015,200 (L) 37.93% (L) 28.18% (L)
H%
Ruyuan Yao Autonomaus County Xinjing Domestic Shares 226,200,000 (L) 100% (L) 25.70% (L)
Technology Development Co., Ltd.2 NE K
ARERR RGN R HERARAR?
H Shares 248,015,200 (L) 37.93% (L) 28.18% (L)
H%
Ms. GUO Meilan® Domestic Shares 226,200,000 (L) 100% (L) 25.70% (L)
i Ls WA R
H Shares 248,015,200 (L) 37.93% (L) 28.18% (L)
H%
Mr. ZHANG Yushuai® Domestic Shares 226,200,000 (L) 100% (L) 25.70% (L)
RE RIS WE R
H Shares 248,015,200 (L) 37.93% (L) 28.18% (L)
H%
Ms. HUA Xiaoyi” Domestic Shares 226,200,000 (L) 100% (L) 25.70% (L)
EE -1’ WA R
H Shares 248,015,200 (L) 37.93% (L) 28.18% (L)
H%
(L) — Long position (L)
(S) — Short position )
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REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
SHARES (continued)

The calculation is based on the total number of 879,967,700 shares
in issue of the Company as at 31 December 2024, comprising
226,200,000 Domestic Shares and 653,767,700 H Shares.

Notes:

Mr. TANG Xinfa is a director of Shenzhen HEC Industrial Development Co., Ltd..

The shareholding information of the Shareholders as at 31 December 2024 are
based on the information recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under section 352 of the SFO.

As at 31 December 2024, Shenzhen HEC Industrial Development Co., Ltd.
directly owned 19.33% equity interest in Guangdong HEC Technology Holding
Co., Ltd. and Guangdong HEC Technology Holding Co., Ltd. (which directly held
21,815,200 H Shares) was a controlled corporation of Shenzhen HEC Industrial
Development Co., Ltd.; and Shenzhen HEC Industrial Development Co., Ltd.
directly owned 15.68% equity interest in Sunshine Lake Pharma Co., Ltd.* (E&
HG 2L ERD AR A A, previously known as R E 5 EEE B R A 7)) and
HEC (Hong Kong) Sales Co., Limited (which directly held 226,200,000 H Shares)
is wholly-owned by Sunshine Lake Pharma Co., Ltd.* (ER B R EER D AR
‘A7), previously known as B R E 5 2 HBR A 7)) (a controlled corporation
of Shenzhen HEC Industrial Development Co., Ltd.). Therefore, Shenzhen HEC
Industrial Development Co., Ltd. is deemed to be interested in the Shares held
by Guangdong HEC Technology Holding Co., Ltd. and HEC (Hong Kong) Sales Co.,
Limited (248,015,200 H Shares in total).

Ruyuan Yao Autonomous County Yuneng Electric Industrial Co., Ltd. owned
42.34% equity interest in Shenzhen HEC Industrial Development Co., Ltd. and
58.00% equity interest in Shaoguan Xinyuneng Industrial Investment Company
Limited, which owned 27.00% equity interest in Shenzhen HEC Industrial
Development Co., Ltd., therefore Ruyuan Yao Autonomous County Yuneng
Electric Industrial Co., Ltd. is deemed to be interested in the Shares which are
interested by Shenzhen HEC Industrial Development Co., Ltd..

Ruyuan Yao Autonomous County Xinjing Technology Development Co., Ltd. owned
30.66% equity interest in Shenzhen HEC Industrial Development Co., Ltd. and
42.00% equity interest in Shaoguan Xinyuneng Industrial Investment Company
Limited, which owned 27.00% equity interest in Shenzhen HEC Industrial
Development Co., Ltd., therefore Ruyuan Yao Autonomous County Xinjing
Technology Development Co., Ltd. is deemed to be interested in the Shares which
are interested by Shenzhen HEC Industrial Development Co., Ltd..

EESHE

FTERRRRM AR @)

FENRBEAAGRN _ZE_MNE+_A
= +—H® B 17D 42 %(879,967,700

Ji& T

B H - 835226,200,000 8 N & % &

653,767,700 A% H A% °

MaE

*

BHERERFNTREGAELHRERADA
HEE -

BER = -ME+ = A=+ BEOREER
T RUEA A BRI B % B A % 352 (5
TR B M AR AR -

R-ZEZ-_WFE+-_A=+—8 F®INTEEB
KEESZEARAAEEABERERL KR
AR AR A A 19.33% M A #E S /&
RREARBIERBRNERAR (HEERA
21,815,200k HA%) BFEYI TR X EXER
BRARMZELAE  URFINTREREE
BEEMRAFEEESERESG X ZERD
BERAF (ABAERRG X EEFGRAA)
15.68% lx A #E s - M E R R 5 EE RN AR
AR (ABABRRBGAEEARAT - AR
MRS HEXERARDAANZIEEE) 2
BREERBRGAHEARAR (HARRSA
226,200,000 8 HA%) » B It - FINTHREGHE
EBHEAMA AR AR ERER Y BHRIEAR
BHERABREBRGHIEEBRAGTFE
"D (& $£248,015,200 i H %) R A #E -

RERA AEBEETEERRAFEAF
P ERS K EEERE AR R A42.34% M AN
mREARATEREERERR AR (L
ARITREGHAEEERAR DA 27.00%K
ANHEE) 58.00% R A M= - FEULFLURE R 88
EEEETEEARATRE AR FITERES
KREXEBRBBRARNEAORD R EEEL -

IRER A RBRT AN ERARAREAF
YITHRFG K E B R B R A R 30.66% R A
mREERAN B ERREAR AR (K%
ARITREHAEEERARAA27.00%K
ANHERS) 42.00% IR A MRS - FH UL ILRE L A8
B RERERERAWE AR R T RS
KEBEEREARAREANRORES R -
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EESHE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
SHARES (continued)

3. Sunshine Lake Pharma Co., Ltd.* (&% $ 5 3 B2 j% 15 B R A 7], previously
known as R R[5 52 E R A A)) pledged 226,200,000 Domestic Shares to
a third-party lender as collateral for the loan provided to it by the third-party
lender.

4, HEC (Hong Kong) Sales Co., Limited pledged 226,200,000 H Shares to a third-
party lender as collateral for the loan provided to Sunshine Lake Pharma by the
third-party lender.

5. As at 31 December 2024, Ms. Guo Meilan (“Ms. Guoe”) owned 74.63% equity
interest in Ruyuan Yao Autonomous County Xinjing Technology Development
Co., Ltd., therefore Ms. Guo is deemed to be interested in the Shares which are
interested by Ruyuan Yao Autonomous County Xinjing Technology Development
Co., Ltd..

As at 31 December 2024, Ms. Guo owned 72.11% equity interest in Ruyuan
Yao Autonomous County Yuneng Electric Industrial Co., Ltd., therefore Ms. Guo
is deemed to be interested in the Shares which are interested by Ruyuan Yao
Autonomous County Yuneng Electric Industrial Co., Ltd..

6. As at 31 December 2024, Mr. ZHANG Yushuai owned 27.59% equity interest in
Ruyuan Yao Autonomous County Yuneng Electric Industrial Co., Ltd., therefore
Mr. ZHANG Yushuai is deemed to be interested in the Shares which are interested
by Ruyuan Yao Autonomous County Yuneng Electric Industrial Co., Ltd..

7. Ms. Hua Xiaoyi is the spouse of Mr. Zhang Yushuai and, therefore, is deemed to
be interested in the Shares which are interested by Mr. Zhang Yushuai under the
SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the Directors
were not aware of any interests or short positions owned by any
persons (other than the Directors, Supervisars or chief executive of
the Company) in the Shares or underlying shares of the Company
which are required to be disclosed to the Company pursuant to
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which are required to be
recarded in the register of the Company required to be kept under
section 336 of the SFO.

FTERRRRM AR @)

3. EREBEAEERHERAR (FBAERE
[5G IR A R) #§ 226,200,000 % K & L E
BTPE=ZFERA EAE=FEFRARER
HERZ TG o

4. BB RSk #HEH R QA 145 226,200,000 ;K H
BREFRTFE=ZFERA EAE=FERAM
BEREERZERSR -

5. RZZEZWF+ZA=+—H0 PE@EZL
([Bz+ ) HAIREREEEM AR RERE
BRART463%R AR o Bt BL TR
BRIAFEKREAGTREREREGRARE
BRIRMD PEA s -

R-IZE-_mWF+-A=+—08 FLxtHEBA
RIEEAAGBHEETEEARRAAT2.11%
fEARER - A BRI WERARILRERER
GEEESTEXARARBENROTHELSE

5o

6. REZF-ME+—A=+—0 REMLTEE
BIRERBABEELETEXRERRAAN
27.59% PR - EREA £ ER AR
REKBAGELEFEXERIFTHEFELD
M A
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FRAE GRS R AN RBEN A A ER
M A

BEXFEEN R_FE-NMF+=A
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BIEFEH R BAEIEPEXNVBE2REID
BRAAQFEBHTAREIAE - KL
BN RIBEE S RAEKAIE 336 1GETHE
ARG ELMAOERIAR
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REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contract concerning the management and administration of
all or any substantial part of our business was entered into by the
Company or existed in 2024.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Group has conducted certain non-exempt connected

transactions during the year of 2024.

Pursuant to Rule 8(1) of Appendix D2 of the Listing Rules, the issuers
are required to disclose details of connected transactions that
are not exempted from the annual reporting requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in accordance with Rule 14A.71.
Details of the non-exempt connected transaction of the Company
entered into during the year ended 31 December 2024 is as follows:

EESHE

EEESHN

RIZE_NFAARRAEREGERE K
EREABY EBHEERITHR TIERF]
HIFHEEREL

FERXS

AEER T _NFERETTETIHERR
FRER S e

RIE T AT 80258 8(1) & - BT A
ARREVATIGRERBE T EH2E
STCEMRAD E +MAS AR FE AR
RENBEXZNFBE RBEE-T N
FHoA=1T—HLEFEARAFINN
BReNBER S ZFRRINT
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s EE2WmE
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued) BERS &)

FREERS

Continuing Connected Transactions

AEER-_ZF_NFERETTETIHERR

The Group has conducted certain non-exempt continuing connected

94

transactions during the year of 2024: REBERS :
Actual
Annual caps transaction
for 2024 amountin 2024
SEINE R-IEBDNEH
EELR EEXSEH
Continuing connected transactions Connected persons RMB’000 RMB’000
BEBEX S BEAL ARBTR  ARETE
1 Leasing and Other Services Framework Agreement ~ Shenzhen HEC Industrial 45,362 40,199
BEREMRBERTE AYRGAER
2 APIs and Pharmaceutical Products Sales Framework Shenzhen HEC Industrial 30,819 14,203
Agreement
RHERERHEERDE ARG ALER
3 Energy Purchase Framework Agreement Shenzhen HEC Industrial 63,000 59,099
RERBRBIER DR RYNRGHERE
4 APIs Purchase Agreement Shenzhen HEC Industrial 73,787 36,277
R ERB RS AYIRGAER
5 Packaging and Production Materials Purchase Shenzhen HEC Industrial 48,600 29,613
Framework Agreement
B REEMRHRBERGH AYIRGAER
6 Equipment Purchase and Civil Construction Shenzhen HEC Industrial 7,900 3,059
Framework Agreement
REBERLERITERGH AYIRGAER
7 Entrusted Processing Framework Agreement Shenzhen HEC Industrial 136,579 128,283
ZEMIERGZ RYNRGHEXE
8 Entrusted Production and Inspection Services  Shenzhen HEC Industrial 68,992 26,892
Framework Agreement
e A E R R RISER RYNIRGHE %
9 Drug R&D Pipeline Cooperation Project Sunshine Lake Pharma 440,000 411,077
Framework Agreement
ERMEERAERBERGS BRRE N B3
10 Sharing Agreement Sunshine Lake Pharma 70,000 47,985
R AiE BRRG L EEE
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

@

Leasing and Other Services Framework Agreement

On 10 February 2023, the Company and Shenzhen HEC
Industrial entered into the Leasing and Other Services
Framework Agreement, pursuant to which Shenzhen HEC
Industrial will provide leasing of office buildings, warehouse,
inspection and testing services, conference accommodation
and other services to the Company during the three years
ended/ending 31 December 2025. The proposed annual caps
under the Leasing and Other Services Framework Agreement
for the three years ended/ending 31 December 2025 are
RMB12,383,300, RMB12,999,500 and RMB13,003,300,
respectively.

Given that the Group has initiated more academic conferences
and marketing events in order to capture the market
opportunities in 2023, after taking into consideration the
marketing plan and conference schedule of the Group in
the fourth quarter of 2023, on 30 October 2023, the Board
proposed an upward adjustment of RMB10,000,000 for the
annual cap under the Leasing and Other Services Framework
Agreement for the year ended 31 December 2023. Hence,
the revised annual cap under the Leasing and Other Services
Framewaork Agreement for the year ended 31 December 2023
was RMB22,383,300.

FERE 2024 /| EE
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@

=== A+
EETWE
BERX5 )
HEREMBREER DS

R-ZT_=F_HA+H XRAGFH
ARG E XTI HE R H MR
BEEWZ B RINREHE
¥RBE-_ZEZ-_AF+-_A=1+—
Etzﬁigﬂﬁﬁ$ﬁﬂ%#ﬁ
EWlaAXE. « Ag0ORI B2 ORI E AR

‘Q%E@&E@W% HER
HEMRBERMEE TBHE_-Z
—HAE+ZA=+—HL=EF
EMNEZFELRIINABARE
12,383,300 T + A R#12,999,500
TR AR ¥ 13,003,300 °

ER_T_=F AKEEHREE
ZEMgREREHTE  ULBEM
GHB KERAEEAR_T ==
FEMFEHLHETE R ERH
k& RZEZ=F+A=1+8H"

EEEERHERAMRBELSER
EHE_T-_=F+_H=1—H
FEFENFELRMLELABRARE
10,000,0007T ° #E 1t - HE R H ity
RBEEHBZEEE T _=F+=
A=+ —BIEFEMKEITFE L
R A AR 22,383,3007T °

REXRTEZBRNDERDF]

95



96

REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
HEHE

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

()]

YICHANG HEC CHANGJIANG PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Leasing and Other Services Framework Agreement (continued)

In light of the rapid growth in the business of the Company
since 2024, in order to capture the market opportunities, the
Group has increased the frequency of organising academic
conferences and other marketing activities. Accordingly, the
Board proposed to adjust the annual caps under the Leasing
and Other Services Framework Agreement for the year
ended 31 December 2024 to RMB45,361,500 and that for
the year ended 31 December 2025 to RMB36,960,000, with
upward adjustments of RMB32,262,000 and RMB23,956,700,
respectively. The revision of the annual caps were approved
at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company dated
31 October 2024. For further details, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 6 September 2024 and
the circular of the Company dated 15 October 2024.

BEXS ®)

@

HE R A RIEHER G ()
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REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(2

APIs and Pharmaceutical Products Sales Framework
Agreement

On 10 February 2023, the Company and Shenzhen HEC
Industrial entered into the APIs and Pharmaceutical Products
Sales Framework Agreement, pursuant to which the Company
agreed to sell APIs such as Esomeprazole Magnesium,
Oseltamivir Phosphate, Olanzapine, Entacapone and
Febuxostat to Shenzhen HEC Industrial during the three years
ended/ending 31 December 2025. The proposed annual caps
under the APIs and Pharmaceutical Products Sales Framework
Agreement for each of three years ended/ending 31 December
2025 are RMB18,000,000, RMB20,000,000 and RMB22,000,000,

respectively.

After taking into consideration the production needs of the
Group, on 30 October 2023, the Board proposed an upward
adjustment of RMB12,818,500 for the annual cap under the
APIs and Pharmaceutical Products Sales Framework Agreement
for the year ended 31 December 2023. Hence, the revised
annual cap under the APIs and Pharmaceutical Products Sales
Framework Agreement for the year ended 31 December 2023
was RMB30,818,500.

FERE 2024 /| EE

BAE
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=== A+

EETWE
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FRERERNEER S

%:g_—i A+H KANAFH

NG B 55T 3R R} BE R B
%EK s - B R RIRE
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KEBAKBNEERTZR K=
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R R EREEESRGH
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(3

YICHANG HEC CHANGJIANG PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Energy Purchase Framework Agreement

On 27 February 2023, the Company and Shenzhen HEC
Industrial entered into the Energy Purchase Framework
Agreement, pursuant to which the Company agreed to
purchase electricity and steam power required for its
production from Shenzhen HEC Industrial during the three
years ended/ending 31 December 2025. The proposed annual
caps under the Energy Purchase Framework Agreement for
each of the three years ended/ending 31 December 2025
are RMB50,400,000, RMB56,750,000 and RMB56,750,000,

respectively.

It was expected that the Group’s demand for energy would be
higher in the fourth quarter of 2023 in light of the historical
energy consumption pattern with higher demand for electricity
in winter, and the fact that the insulin factory of the Group
has commenced production. Accordingly, to satisfy the Group’s
energy demand for the year ended 31 December 2023, on 30
October 2023, the Board proposed an upward adjustment of
RMB940,000 for the annual cap under the Energy Purchase
Framewaork Agreement for the year ended 31 December 2023.
Hence, the revised annual cap under the Energy Purchase
Framewaork Agreement for the year ended 31 December 2023
was RMB51,340,000.

BAE
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(3

(4

Energy Purchase Framework Agreement (continued)

In order to meet the Group’s estimated demand for electricity
and steam power, the Board proposed to adjust the annual
caps under the Energy Purchase Framework Agreement for the
year ended 31 December 2024 to RMB63,000,000 and that for
the year ended 31 December 2025 to RMB63,000,000, with
upward adjustments of RMB6,250,000 and RMB6,250,000,
respectively. The revision of the annual caps were approved
at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company dated
31 October 2024. For further details, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 6 September 2024 and
the circular of the Company dated 15 October 2024.

APIs Purchase Agreement

On 27 February 2023, the Company and Shenzhen HEC
Industrial entered into the APIs Purchase Agreement, pursuant
to which the Company agreed to purchase certain APIs
such as Aripiprazole, Rivaroxaban, Escitalopram Oxalate,
Clarithromycin from Shenzhen HEC Industrial during the three
years ended/ending 31 December 2025. The proposed annual
caps under the APIs Purchase Agreement for each of the three
years ended/ending 31 December 2025 are RMB38,946,300,
RMB53,786,800 and RMB75,442,100, respectively.

EESHE

BEXS ®)

(3)

4

BERBRABAE 2R M5 5 (45

REA
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(4

APIs Purchase Agreement (continued)

In order to satisfy the Group’s production needs for the fourth
quarter of 2023, on 30 October 2023, the Board proposed
an upward adjustment of RMB18,411,800 for the annual cap
under the APIs Purchase Agreement for the year ended 31
December 2023. Hence, the revised annual cap under the APIs
Purchase Agreement for the year ended 31 December 2023
was RMB57,358,100.

In order to satisfy the Group’s growing production needs and
expected future expansion in the output level of the Group,
on 7 November 2023, the Board further proposed an upward
adjustment of RMB20,000,000 for the annual caps under
the APIs Purchase Agreement for the years ended/ending 31
December 2023, 2024 and 2025, respectively. Hence, the
revised annual caps under the APIs Purchase Agreement for
the years ended/ending 31 December 2023, 2024 and 2025
are RMB58,946,300, RMB73,786,800 and RMBS5,442,100,
respectively.

zpcd

4

YICHANG HEC CHANGJIANG PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2024

R 5 (4)

REHERBHE (&)
RENAEER-_Z-_=FFN=F
EMAEERF K RZTE=_=%+AH

=+R EESEIRMERER
EEHE_ZTE-_=ZF+_-_A=+—H
HFENFELRALABRARKE
18,411,8007T ° #& It - R A} B2 B8
WEBE-_T_=F+t=-A=1+—
HEFEMNKETFELRAAR
# 57,358,100 7T °

ABENAEEREZEENEES
*&K%l%ﬁﬁﬁmxmﬁé
KFE-RZFZ=F+—AF+tH"

EEgHE—STEREERMERBHZ
BHE-ZT-_=F - T -_MER=
ToRFETA=T—HLEFE®
FELERDRHRALABARK
20,000,0007T © &1t - R A S5 08
MEREE_T = - T _MOF
MZZEZRF+A=+—HLHF
EREEIFE LRI AARE
58,946,300t * A X ¥ 73,786,800
TR AR ¥ 95,442,1007T °



REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(5

Packaging and Production Materials Purchase Framework
Agreement

On 27 February 2023, the Company and Shenzhen HEC
Industrial entered into the Packaging and Production
Materials Purchase Framework Agreement, pursuant to
which the Company agreed to purchase packaging materials
for packaging and production of the drugs manufactured by
the Group from Shenzhen HEC Industrial during the three
years ended/ending 31 December 2025. The proposed
annual caps under the Packaging and Production Materials
Purchase Framewaork Agreement for each of the three years
ended/ending 31 December 2025 are RMB40,600,000,
RMB40,600,000 and RMB40,600,000, respectively.

In order to satisfy the Group’s production needs for the fourth
quarter of 2023, on 30 October 2023, the Board proposed an
upward adjustment of RMB3,380,000 for the annual cap under
the Packaging and Production Materials Purchase Framewaork
Agreement for the year ended 31 December 2023. Hence,
the revised annual cap under the Packaging and Production
Materials Purchase Framework Agreement for the year ended
31 December 2023 was RMB43,980,000.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(5

(6)
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Packaging and Production Materials Purchase Framework
Agreement (continued)

With reference to the growing production capacity and
expected future expansion of output level of the Group, in
order to satisfy the Group’s production needs, on 7 November
2023, the Board further proposed an upward adjustment
of RMB8,000,000 for the annual caps under the Packaging
and Production Materials Purchase Framewaork Agreement
for the years ended/ending 31 December 2023, 2024 and
2025. Hence, the revised annual caps under the Packaging
and Production Materials Purchase Framework Agreement for
the years ended/ending 31 December 2023, 2024 and 2025
are RMB48,600,000, RMB48,600,000 and RMB48,600,000,

respectively.

Equipment Purchase and Civil Construction Framework

Agreement

On 27 February 2023, the Company and Shenzhen HEC
Industrial entered into the Equipment Purchase and Civil
Construction Framework Agreement, pursuant to which
the Company agreed to purchase certain equipment and
civil construction services from Shenzhen HEC Industrial
during the three years ended/ending 31 December 2025. The
proposed annual caps under the Equipment Purchase and
Civil Construction Framework Agreement for each of the three
years ended/ending 31 December 2025 are RMB27,050,000,
RMB7,900,000 and RMB7,900,000, respectively.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

)

Entrusted Processing Framework Agreement

On 27 February 2023, the Company and Shenzhen HEC
Industrial entered into the Entrusted Processing Framewaork
Agreement, pursuant to which the Company agreed to
purchase processing services for its certain pharmaceutical
products, including Olmesartan Tablets, Moxifloxacin Tablets,
Clarithromycin Tablets, Aripiprazole Tablets, Levofloxacin
Tablets, Rivaroxaban Tablets, Duloxetine Enteric-coated
Capsules, Escitalopram Oxalate Tablets, Xadiafil Tablets,
Aripiprazole Orally Disintegrating Tablets, Entacapone
Tablets, Rongliflozin and other APIs from Shenzhen HEC
Industrial during the three years ended/ending 31 December
2025. The proposed annual caps under the Entrusted
Processing Framework Agreement for each of the three
years ended/ending 31 December 2025 are RMB94,805,500,
RMB108,832,000 and RMB139,468,200, respectively.

In order to satisfy the need of Processing Services to meet
high market demand of certain pharmaceutical products, on
7 November 2023, the Board proposed an upward adjustment
of RMB11,000,000 for the annual cap under the Entrusted
Processing Framework Agreement for the year ended 31
December 2023. Hence, the revised annual cap under the
Entrusted Processing Framework Agreement for the year
ended 31 December 2023 was RMB105,805,500.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued) BRERXS (&)
(7) Entrusted Processing Framework Agreement (continued) (7) ZEFEMTERGE(E)

In order to meet the Group’s demand for processing services
for certain pharmaceutical products, the Board proposed
to adjust the annual caps under the Entrusted Processing
Framework Agreement for the year ended 31 December
2024 to RMB136,578,629, with an upward adjustment of
RMB27,746,629. The revision of the annual cap was approved
at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company dated
31 October 2024. For further details, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 6 September 2024 and
the circular of the Company dated 15 October 2024.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(8

Entrusted Production and Inspection Services Framework

Agreement

On 27 February 2023, the Company and Shenzhen HEC
Industrial entered into the Entrusted Production and
Inspection Services Framework Agreement, pursuant to which
the Company agreed to provide production and inspection
services to Shenzhen HEC Industrial during the three years
ended/ending 31 December 2025. The scope of the entrusted
production and inspection services includes provision of
production, inspection and testing services to Dong An Tai,
Dong An Qiang, Dong An Rui, Dong Tong Shen, other generic
drugs, other new drugs, insulin degludec/insulin aspart,
insulin degludec/liraglutide injection and intermediates of
generic drugs. The proposed annual caps under the Entrusted
Production and Inspection Services Framework Agreement
for each of the three years ended/ending 31 December 2025
are RMB105,230,000, RMB68,992,000 and RMB49,250,000,
respectively.

As at the date of entering into the agreements mentioned
under items (1) to (8) above, Sunshine Lake Pharma is
entitled to control the exercise of approximately 51.41% of
voting rights in the Company, and is therefore a controlling
Shareholder and a connected person of the Company.
Shenzhen HEC Industrial is the holding company of the
Sunshine Lake Pharma. Therefore, as an associate of Sunshine
Lake Pharma, Shenzhen HEC Industrial constitutes a connected
person of the Company by virtue of being the holding company
of the controlling Shareholder of the Company pursuant to
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Therefore, such transactions
between the Company and Shenzhen HEC Industrial
constituted connected transactions of the Company.
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(9)
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Drug R&D Pipeline Cooperation Project Framework Agreement

On 29 November 2023, the Company and Sunshine Lake
Pharma entered into a Drug R&D Pipeline Cooperation Project
Framework Agreement in relation to the proposed cooperation
between the Company and Sunshine Lake Pharma on the
R&D and commercialization of the undergoing and future
R&D pipeline cooperation projects of Sunshine Lake Pharma
in the PRC (the “Framework Agreement”). Pursuant to the
Framework Agreement, the Company and Sunshine Lake
Pharma agreed to cooperate in a series of drug R&D projects
to jointly carry out the R&D of (i) 17 innovative drugs and (ii)
small molecule generic drug (“small molecule generic drug”)
pipeline projects (tentatively 20 drugs) (the “R&D pipeline
cooperation projects”) in China. Sunshine Lake Pharma will
formulate the R&D plan and be solely responsible for the
R&D of the R&D pipeline cooperation projects. The Company
will provide financial support solely for the clinical stage
R&D expenses incurred by Sunshine Lake Pharma in the R&D
pipeline cooperation projects (the “R&D pipeline cooperation
expenses”). Pursuant to the Framework Agreement, the
Company will provide maximum investment amount of
R&D pipeline cooperation expenses for (i) innovative drugs
of RMB150,000,000, RMB400,000,000, RMB400,000,000
and RMB250,000,000; and (ii) small molecule generic drugs
of RMB25,000,000, RMB40,000,000, RMB40,000,000 and
RMB10,000,000, for each of the period from the effective date
to 31 December 2023, the two years ending 31 December
2024 and 2025, and the period from 1 January 2026 to the
expiry date of the term of the Framework Agreement.

As at the date of entering into the Framework Agreement,
Sunshine Lake Pharma has the right to control the exercise
of approximately 51.41% of the voting rights in the Company,
and is therefore a controlling Shareholder and a connected
person of the Company. Therefore, the above transactions
between the Company and Sunshine Lake Pharma constituted
connected transactions of the Company.
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REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(10) Sharing Agreement

On 26 December 2022, the Company and Sunshine Lake
Pharma entered into the sharing agreement (the “Sharing
Agreement”), pursuant to which Sunshine Lake Pharma agreed
to distribute to the Company its revenues or profits generated
from the sale of designated pharmaceutical products within
the PRC as authorised by the Company for a term from 1
January 2023 to 31 December 2024. The original annual caps
under the Sharing Agreement for the year ended 31 December
2023 and the year ending 31 December 2024 were RMB2.5
million and RMB2.5 million, respectively. As the highest
applicable percentage ratio of annual caps of transaction
contemplated under the Sharing Agreement was less than
5% and the total consideration is less than HKD3 million, the
transaction contemplated under the Sharing Agreement was
fully exempted under Rule 14A.76 of the Listing Rules. On
26 April 2024, the Board resaolved to revise the annual cap
for the year ending 31 December 2024 under the Sharing
Agreement from RMB2.5 million to RMB70.0 million (the
“Revised Proposed Annual Cap”). As the highest applicable
percentage ratio (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the Revised
Proposed Annual Cap under the Sharing Agreement is mare
than 0.1% but less than 5%, the transaction contemplated
under the Sharing Agreement is subject to the reporting,
announcement and annual review requirements but exempt
from the independent shareholders’ approval requirement
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 26 April 2024 for details.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(10) Sharing Agreement (continued)

The Sharing Agreement has expired on 31 December 2024. On
7 February, 2025, the Company and Sunshine Lake Pharma
entered into the 2025 Sharing Agreement to renew the Sharing
Agreement, pursuant to which, Sunshine Lake Pharma agreed
to distribute to the Company its revenues or profits generated
from the sale of designated pharmaceutical products within
the PRC as authorised by the Company (the “2025 Sharing
Agreement”). The term of the 2025 Sharing Agreement shall be
from 7 February 2025 to 31 December 2025. The annual cap
in respect of the share of revenue or profit to be received from
Sunshine Lake Pharma is RMB70.0 million. For further details,
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
5 February 2025.

Review by and Confirmation of Independent Non-executive

Directors

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the above

continuing connected transactions, and confirmed that such

transactions were:

)

(iD)

(iii)

carried out in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group;

made on normal or better commercial terms (as defined in the
Listing Rules); and

carried out according to the terms in the relevant transaction
agreements, which are fair and reasonable, and in the interests
of the Shareholders as a whole.
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REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

External auditor’s report on the Group’s continuing connected
transactions

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 (revised),
“Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under
the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued his qualified
letter containing his findings and conclusions to the board of the
directors in respect of the continuing connected transactions
disclosed by the Group on pages 94 to 108 of this Annual Report in
accordance with Listing Rule 14A.56. The auditor concluded that:

(@) nothing has come to their attention that causes them to
believe that the continuing connected transactions have not
been approved by the Company’s board of directors;

(b) for transactions involving the provision of goods or services
by the Group, nothing has come to their attention that causes
them to believe that the transactions were not, in all material
respects, in accordance with the pricing policies of the Group;

(c) nothing has come to their attention that causes them to
believe that the transactions were not entered into, in all
material respects, in accardance with the relevant agreements
governing such transactions; and

(d) with respect to the aggregate amount of each of the continuing
connected transactions, nothing has come to their attention
that causes them to believe that the continuing connected
transactions have exceeded the relevant annual cap.
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EESHE

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

External auditor’s report on the Group’s continuing connected
transactions (continued)

Details of the related party transactions of the Group are set out
in Note 29 of the Consolidated Financial Statements. Apart from
the connected transactions and continuing connected transactions
as disclosed in this Annual Report, none of the related party
transactions constituted connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules,
which are subject to announcement or independent shareholders’
approval requirements. The Company has complied with disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in
respect of the connected transactions and the continuing connected
transactions as set out in this Annual Report.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

The Company had entered into a non-competition agreement on
6 December 2015 with HEC Pharm, Linzhi HEC Pharmaceutical
Investment Co., Ltd. (MR Z R[5 ¥ 82515 & B R A 7)), Dongguan
HEC Industrial Development Co., Ltd. (R=M R A EEEERR
‘A &]), Shenzhen HEC Industrial, Ruyuan Yao Autonomous County
Yuneng Electric Industrial Co., Ltd. (LIREEEASEEETE
¥ A BR 2 F]), Ruyuan Yao Autonomous County Xinjing Technology
Development Co., Ltd. (FLIRER B A% R B ERGR A7),
Mr. ZHANG Zhongneng (5&# #2) and Ms. GUO Meilan (ZB#& 7).

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
compliance of the Non-competition Agreement and had confirmed
that Mr. Zhang Yushuai, the Then Controlling Shareholders and
their subsidiaries have not been in breach of the Non-competition
Undertaking during the year ended 31 December 2024.
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REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

AMENDMENT TO NON-COMPETITION AGREEMENT

As the Company and Sunshine Lake Pharma (which was a controlled
subsidiary of the Controlling Shareholders of the Company then
by the time entering into the 2021 Non-Competition Agreement
(as defined below)) will make more specific arrangements in
relation to the business cooperation, the relevant contents of the
2015 Non-Competition Agreement will no longer be applicable to
Sunshine Lake Pharma. Therefore, the Controlling Shareholders
of the Company proposed to amend the 2015 Non-Competition
Agreement to stipulate that the relevant contents of the 2015 Non-
Competition Agreement will no longer be applicable to Sunshine
Lake Pharma. On 19 March 2021, the Company (i) entered into
the 2021 Non-Competition Agreement with HEC Pharm, Yichang
HEC Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.* (EERBG K EEEEBFR R )
(formerly known as Linzhi HEC Pharmaceutical Investment Co.,
Ltd.* (M2 P55 %% & B R 2 7)), Dongguan HEC Industrial
Development Co., Ltd.* (R=EmMRG X EEXEERER A A)),
Shenzhen HEC Industrial, Ruyuan Yao Autonomous County Yuneng
Electric Industrial Co., Ltd* (FLIREK B ARG BEE TE XS
fR A Al), Ruyuan Yao Autonomous County Xinjing Technology
Development Co., Ltd.* (FURER B A% KRB ER R A7),
Ms. Guo Meilan (¥B#§# ) and Mr. Zhang Yushuai (3R ZE A1) (the “2021
Non-Competition Agreement”), pursuant to which, the provisions
involving Sunshine Lake Pharma (as a controlled subsidiary of the
controlling sharehaolders of the Company) were excluded from the
2021 Non-Competition Agreement. Other terms of the 2021 Non-
Competition Agreement remain the same as the terms of the 2015
Non-Competition Agreement; (ii) entered into the Sunshine Lake
Pharma Non-Competition Agreement with Sunshine Lake Pharma (the
“Sunshine Lake Pharma Non-Competition Agreement”), pursuant
to which, the Company and Sunshine Lake Pharma (a) undertook
and procured their respective subsidiaries to undertake certain
scope of non-competition and commitments with the counterparty
and its subsidiaries; and (b) agreed to cooperate in sales of
pharmaceutical products within the PRC; and (iii) entered into the
Gift Agreement on Equity Interests with Shenzhen HEC Industrial
(the “Gift Agreement on Equity Interests”, together with the 2021
Non-Competition Agreement and the Sunshine Lake Pharma Non-
Competition Agreement, collectively the “Revised Non-Competition
Agreements”), pursuant to which, the controlling shareholders of
the Company intended to transfer 10% of the equity of Sunshine
Lake Pharma to compensate the Company through themselves or a
third party designated by them.
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EESHE

AMENDMENT TO NON-COMPETITION AGREEMENT

(continued)

On 25 June 2021, the then shareholders of the Company (other than
Guangdong HEC) approved the Revised Non-Competition Agreements
at the 2021 first extraordinary general meeting of the Company.

On 10 August 2021, the Company received a notice from Shenzhen
HEC Industrial that it has designated its controlling subsidiary,
Yichang HEC Research Co., Ltd.* (B & R[5 &2 AR A 7)) (being
the direct controlling sharehaolder of Sunshine Lake Pharma), to
transfer 10% of the equity of Sunshine Lake Pharma to the Company.
As at the date of this Annual Report, Sunshine Lake Pharma has
completed the relevant registration procedures in respect of
the aforesaid change in shareholding interests with the market
regulation department.

For details, please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 19 March 2021, 25 June 2021 and 10 August 2021 and the
circular of the Company dated 28 May 2021. On 25 June 2021,
the shareholders of the Company (other than Guangdong HEC)
approved the Revised Non-Competition Agreements at the 2021 first
extraordinary general meeting of the Company.

On 10 August 2021, the Company received a notice from Shenzhen
HEC Industrial that it has designated its controlling subsidiary,
Yichang HEC Research Co., Ltd.* (B & RF5 ¢ B2 B R A 7)) (being
the direct controlling shareholder of Sunshine Lake Pharma), to
transfer 10% of the equity of Sunshine Lake Pharma to the Company.
As at the date of this Annual Report, Sunshine Lake Pharma has
completed the relevant registration procedures in respect of
the aforesaid change in shareholding interests with the market

regulation department.
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REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

AMENDMENT TO NON-COMPETITION AGREEMENT

(continued)

For details, please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 19 March 2021, 25 June 2021 and 10 August 2021 and the
circular of the Company dated 28 May 2021.

NON-COMPETITION AGREEMENT

Reference is made to the Company’s announcement dated 26 April
2024 in relation to the Sharing Agreement entered into between
the Company and Sunshine Lake Pharma on 26 December 2022.
Sunshine Lake Pharma has complied with the notification procedures
under the Sunshine Lake Pharma Non-Competition Agreement in
respect of the sale of the pharmaceutical products designated
under the Sharing Agreement. The Independent Board Committee
agreed the sale of the pharmaceutical products designated under
the Sharing Agreement to be conducted by Sunshine Lake Pharma
after assessing and considering amongst other things, the following

reasons:

(i)  The centralized tender business generally has low bid winning
price and thus lower profits. Due to limited sales resources
of the Company which are usually allocated to business with
higher profits, the Company is less engaged in the centralized
tender business. Sunshine Lake Pharma agrees to allocate
a portion of its revenue or all profits (whichever is higher)
to the Company, and therefore it is in the interests of the
Shareholders as a whole to allow Sunshine Lake Pharma to

engage in the centralized tender business;
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HEHE

NON-COMPETITION AGREEMENT (continued)

(ib)

@iii)

Based on the estimate of the Company’s production capacity
and considering that Sunshine Lake Pharma agrees to allocate
a portion of its revenue or all profits (whichever is higher) to
the Company under the Sharing Agreement, the transaction
under the Sharing Agreement enable the Company to benefit
from the sharing arrangement when the production capacity of
the Company is relatively saturated. Thus, it is in the interests
of the Shareholders as a whole to allow Sunshine Lake Pharma
to engage in the sales of the designated pharmaceutical

products under the Sharing Agreement; and

Potential revenues and earnings from the sale of the
designated pharmaceutical products and whether the
designated pharmaceutical products fall within the Company’s
focused field of treatment.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the

compliance of Sunshine Lake Pharma Non-competition Agreement

and had confirmed that Sunshine Lake Pharma has not been in

breach of the terms of Sunshine Lake Pharma Non-competition

Agreement during the year ended 31 December 2023.

Please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 26 April 2024

for details.

YICHANG HEC CHANGJIANG PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2024

BRERBRFHE @

(iv)

@iii)

ERNYARAESRNEAMGREEE
DRBED BERRGAEXFE
HEDWAEFAEFNE (MEFRR
F)DBEEARRTA] > DRHHEE N
HLARBERERERMNER
T TREERE D PR BE R S s
At AAFERRGAEERED
iR IEE MmN EENT A RRA

BEAN R

EEERHEENELERAREFIA
LREETEMREBRAREIAE
B

BN IERITESCEMETREREG 5
EBERERFHEOER  WHEIARE
EZE-_=F+-A=T—HLEFE B
PR IS o SRS I8 IR BB R R 5 o R 20

CACES TR

=
DI o

HIEELBEARR AT —NENA
e AN = IP/NC=



REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the total amount of
procurement from the five largest suppliers of the Group accounted
for 42.73% of the total amount of procurement of the year. Among
the five largest suppliers for the year of 2024, Sunshine Lake
Pharma is a subsidiary of Shenzhen HEC Industrial; the single largest
supplier was Sunshine Lake Pharma and our purchase from that
company accounted for 18.85% of the total purchase amount during
the year.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the total amount of sales to
the five largest customers of the Group accounted for 33.89% of the
total revenue of sales of the year. The sales to the largest customers
accounted for 10.41% of the total revenue of sales of the year.

Save as disclosed above, during the year of 2024, to the knowledge
of the Directors, none of the Directors, their close associates, or
Shareholders of the Company (which, to the knowledge of the
Directors, owned more than 5% of the number of issued Shares of
the Company) had interests in the five largest suppliers or customers
of the Company.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this Annual Report, at no time during the year
of 2024 had the Company or any of its subsidiaries entered into any
contract of significance with the Controlling Shareholder or any of
its subsidiaries, nor had any contract of significance been entered
into for the services provided by the Controlling Shareholder or any

of its subsidiaries to the Company or any of its subsidiaries.
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EREWE

RETIREMENT AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS SCHEME

Please refer to the Note 5(b) to the Consolidated Financial
Statements for detailed information on the retirement and employee
benefits scheme.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
CODE

As a company listed on the Stock Exchange, the Company always
strives to maintain a high level of corporate governance and had
complied with all the code provisions of the Corporate Governance
Code as set out in Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

Compliance with the Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide

The Company is committed to contributing to the sustainability
of the environment and maintaining a high standard of corporate
social governance essential for creating a framework for motivating
staff, and contributes to the community in which we conduct our
businesses and creating a sustainable return to the Group. The
Company has complied with the provisions of the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide as set out in Appendix C2 of
the Listing Rules during the year ended 31 December 2024.

The Company will upload the ESG Report as at 31 December 2024 to
the Stock Exchange and the Company website concurrently with this

annual report.
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REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and to the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained
a public float of no less than 25% of the issued shares during this
year and up to the latest practicable date prior to the date of issue
of this Annual Report, which was in line with the requirement under
the Listing Rules.

SIGNIFICANT LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company was not
engaged in any litigation or arbitration of material importance
and no litigation or claim of material importance is known to the
Directors to be pending or threatened against the Company.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee includes two independent non-executive
directors, namely Mr. TANG Jianxin and Ms. XIANG Ling and one
non-executive director, namely Mr. TANG Xinfa. With professional
qualification and experience in finance, Mr. TANG Jianxin
was appointed as the chairman of the Audit Committee. The
primary duties of the Audit Committee are to make independent
recommendations on the effectiveness of our financial reporting
procedures, internal control and risk management systems and
maintaining good relationship with external auditors of the Group,
so as to assist the Board, supervise the audit process and perform
other responsibilities and related duties assigned by the Board.
The Audit Committee will meet with the external auditors of the
Company and in-house auditors, and review their plans, internal
audit procedures, their results of audits and review of the risk
management and internal supervision system.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the Group’s 2024 annual
results announcement, the Annual Report and the audited financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2024 prepared in
accordance with the IFRSs.
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EESHE

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Company is committed to promoting the sustainable
development of the environment and the society. In recognition of
the potential climate impact due to manufacturing of pharmaceutical
products, the Company strives to enhance the environmental
performance of its pharmaceutical products manufacturing and
development through eco-friendly operational measures as well
as supporting a number of external charters with regard to energy
efficiency and carbon reduction. In addition, during the Reporting
Period, the Group had continually increased investment in R&D,
upgrading its technology, improved production process, focused on
the establishment of drug quality system, extended the life cycle
of pharmaceutical products and lowered the cost in order to offer
safe, efficient, affordable pharmaceutical products and services. The
Group constantly strengthened environment protection, optimized
the production process and improved the utilization rate of the
production facilities for the purposes of energy saving, emission
reduction and environment protection. The Group emphasized
harmonious development with nature to protect the sustainable
development of the environment. The Group also improved clean
production as well as environmental protection construction, and
proactively supported environmental protection and charitable

matters in the community.
COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with
regulatory requirements and the risk of non-compliance with such
requirements could lead to the termination of operating licences.
The Group has been allocating system and staff resources to ensure
ongoing compliance with rules and regulations and to maintain
cordial working relationships with regulators effectively through
effective communications. During the year of 2024, the Group has
complied, to the best of our knowledge, with all relevant rules and
regulations that have a significant impact on the Company, including
but not limited to the Company Law of the PRC, the Securities Law of
the PRC, the Code of Carporate Governance for Listed Companies, the
Listing Rules, Drug Administration Law of the PRC, the Measures for
the Administration of Drug Registration and the Good Manufacture

Practice of Drugs.
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REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Company recognizes that our employees, customers and
business associates are keys to our sustainable journey. We strive
to achieve corporate sustainability through engaging our employees,
providing quality services for our customers, collaborating with

business partners and supporting our community.

The Company places significant emphasis on human capital. The
Company provides a fair workplace, promoting non-discrimination
and diversity to our staff, together with competitive remuneration
and benefits, as well as a range of opportunities for career
advancement based on employees’ merits and performance. The
Company administers its employee health and safety management
system and ensures the adoption of the principles across the Group.
The Company provides regular trainings for staff to keep them
abreast of the latest developments in the market and industry, in
the form of both internal trainings and trainings provided by experts

from external organizations.

To enhance customer satisfaction and promote a customer-ariented
culture within the Company, we take ‘Customer First’ as one of
our core values. We value the feedback from customers through
daily communication, regular inspections and etc. We have also
established the mechanism about customer service, support and
complaints. When dealing with a customer complaint, we treat it
as an opportunity to improve our relationship with the customer,
addressing the concern in a timely manner and in accordance with

international standards.

We believe that our suppliers are equally important in driving
quality delivery of our products. We proactively collaborate with
our business associates (including suppliers and contractors) to
deliver quality sustainable products and services. We have included
certain requirements in our standard tender documents. These
requirements include regulatory compliance, labour practices, anti-
corruption and other business ethics. We assure the performance of
our suppliers through supplier approval process and by conducting
factory audits and site visits and spot checks on the delivered goods
at site during the contractual periods.
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EESHE

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2024 have been audited by KPMG who will
retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the
AGM. A resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG as the Company’s
auditors will be proposed for the Shareholders’ approval at the
AGM. The Company did not change the auditor in the preceding three
years.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

Summary of results of operation and the assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 4 in this
Annual Report.

On behalf of the Board

YiChang HEC ChangJiang Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.
TANG Xinfa

Chairman

Hubei, the PRC

28 March 2025
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REPORT OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

In 2024, all members of the Board of Supervisors complied with
the requirement of the Company Law of the PRC, the Articles
of Association, as well as relevant regulations to diligently and
honestly perform their duties. They independently exercised
their power under the law to ensure the standard operation of
the Company and protect the interests of the Company and the
investors. The Board of Supervisors supervised the Company’s
operation plans, use of proceeds from financing activities, connected
transactions, production and operation activities of the Company,
financial position and performance of duty of the Directors and
senior management of the Company as well as the operation of
subsidiaries, and facilitated the compliant operation and healthy
development of the Company. The report of main works of the Board
of Supervisors for this year is set forth below:

1. BASIC ASSESSMENT OF THE COMPANY’S
OPERATION AND MANAGEMENT ACTIVITIES AND
PERFORMANCE IN 2024

In 2024, the Board of Supervisors strictly complied with the
requirements of the Company Law of the PRC, the Articles
of Association, the Rules of the Procedures of the Board
of Supervisars as well as relevant laws and regulations
to honestly perform its supervise duties in pragmatically
protecting the interests and rights of the Company and the
many minority Shareholders.

After having attended each of the meetings of the Board of
Directors and the general meetings in 2024, the Board of
Supervisors is of the opinion that the Board of Directors has
earnestly implemented resolutions of the general meetings
and faithfully performed fiduciary duties, it has not conducted
any acts which would damage the interests of the Company
and the Shareholders. Each resolution of the Board of Directors
has been in compliance with the requirements of the Company
Law of the PRC and other laws and regulations as well as the
Articles of Association. The Board of Supervisors supervised
the production and operation activities of the Company during
its session period. It considers that the management members
of Company earnestly implemented every resolution of the
Board with due diligence and conducted no acts of violation in
the course of business.
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2. DETAILS OF MEETINGS OF BOARD OF =
SUPERVISORS

During the Reporting Period, the Board of Supervisors held two
meetings in aggregate:

(1) 0On 28 March 2024, the first meeting of 2024 of Board of
Supervisors was convened and approved the resolutions
in relation to Work Report of Board of Supervisors for
2023, and 2023 Final Accounts Report of the Company.

(2) 0On 30 August 2024 the second meeting of 2024 of
Board of Supervisors was convened and approved
the resolution in relation to the interim results
announcement for the six months ended 30 June 2024,
interim report for the six months ended 30 June 2024,
and The Proposal Regarding the 2024 Interim Dividend
Distribution Plan.

3. THE SUPERVISORY OPINION FROM THE BOARD =
OF SUPERVISORS ON RELATED MATTERS OF THE
COMPANY IN 2024

(1) Financial Conditions of the Company

The Board of Supervisors conducted inspection with
regard to the financial conditions of the Company’s
own segment and its subsidiaries after having taken
into account the actual situation of the Company in
ways of hearing reports from financial department and
regular auditing and other methods, thus strengthening
the supervision over the Company’s financial affairs.
The Board of Supervisors is of the view that the
Company and each of its subsidiaries have established
their own independent financial departments with
separate financial books and have conducted auditing
independently, and that they have complied with
Accounting Law of the PRC as well as relevant financial
regulations and rules. In 2024, the financial management
of the Company and each of its subsidiaries was carried
out on a standard basis and the accounting statements
gave a true and accurate picture of the actual situation
of the Company and each of its subsidiaries.
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REPORT OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS

THE SUPERVISORY OPINION FROM THE BOARD
OF SUPERVISORS ON RELATED MATTERS OF THE
COMPANY IN 2024 (continued)

(2) Details of Connected Transactions

During the Reporting Period, the ordinary connected
transactions between the Company and its connected
persons have all been considered and approved on the
meetings of the Board of Directors or general meetings (if
applicable) of the Company. The connected transactions
were carried out in accordance with contracts or
agreements in arm’s length with no damages to the
interests of the Company.

COMPREHENSIVE OPINION FROM BOARD OF
SUPERVISORS ON THE COMPANY’S SITUATION IN
2024

(1) During the Reporting Period, members of the Board of
Supervisors earnestly performed duties and supervised
the Board of Director’s performance of duties and its
implementations of the Company’s decision procedures
by attending meetings of the Board of Directors. The
Board of Supervisors is of the view that each resolution
and decision procedure has been arrived by the Board of
Directors in due compliance of the requirements of the
Company Law of the PRC, the Articles of Association and
the Rules of the Procedures of the Meetings of the Board
of Directors and are legal and effective.

(2) During the Reporting Period, the senior management
members of the Company fulfilled their duties in
accordance with the Articles of Association and relevant
laws and regulations of China. With aims to protect
the interests of the Company and its Shareholders,
they earnestly implemented the resolutions of the
general meetings of the Company, fulfilled obligations
of fiduciary and due diligence so as to facilitate the
Company to carry out a standard operation, democratic
decision, management science, clear target and
continuing innovation, having achieved favorable
economic benefits without acts of violation.
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4. COMPREHENSIVE OPINION FROM BOARD OF CEEEeHAQNF =
SUPERVISORS ON THE COMPANY’S SITUATION IN FEBEINGEEER @)
2024 (continued)

(3) The Board of Supervisors has earnestly reviewed (=) EFeREERT T _OF

the financial reports for 2024 and other relevant
information. It considers that such reports give an
objective view of the Company’s financial conditions and
operating results. The operating results of the Company
for 2024 are true and accurate and the control over cost
is effective.

(4) Opinion Regarding the Company’s Self-Appraisal on (
its Internal Control: The Company has, taking into
account of the Company’s actual situation, established
and developed an internal control system that covers
all areas of the Company according to the relevant
requirements of the Listing Rules, Company Law of the
PRC and Articles of Association. Such system has ensured
that the Company’s operating activities are in a normal
and ordinary course and has safeguarded the security
and integrity of the Company’s assets. The institutional
framewaork of the internal control of the Company is
complete and the internal auditing department and
personnel allocation are in place, which has ensured
that the implementation of and supervision over key
activities under the Company’s internal control are
sufficient and effective. In 2024, no circumstances under
which the Company would violate the Guidelines for
Internal Control of Listed Companies and the internal
control system of the Company occurred. The Board of
Supervisors considers that the Company’s self-appraisal
on its internal control gives a comprehensive and true
picture of the actual situation of the internal control of
the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board is pleased to present this corporate governance report.

The Group strive to maintain high standards of corporate governance
to enhance Shareholders’ value and safeguard Shareholders’
interests. The Company’s corporate governance principles emphasize
the importance of a quality Board, effective internal controls and
accountability to Shareholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

The Company had complied with all the code provisions of the
corporate governance code as set out in Appendix C1 of the Listing
Rules during the year ended 31 December 2024.

The Company will review its corporate governance practices regularly

to ensure its compliance with the corporate governance code.

Corporate Culture and Mission

Since our incorporation, the Company has adopted an insightful
approach, comprehensive strategies and long-term planning in
developing its business. It is also dedicated to fostering high-quality
and sustainable growth within the biopharmaceutical sector and

contributing to the prosperity of the local economy.

The Company will consistently embrace the principles of innovation
and progress while establishing a new pattern of development. By
fostering cohesion among our employees, we will forge ahead with
determination. Guided by the mission of “producing quality medicine
for the public and fulfilling the century-long legacy of Pharm HEC”,
we will leverage our business strengths and further refine our
business framework in order to strive for new accomplishments as
we pursue the century-long legacy of Pharm HEC.

We believe that under the leadership of the Board and the efforts
of all employees, through formulating comprehensive development
strategies, implementing strict management systems and actively
enhancing innovation and R&D, Pharm HEC will become a first-class
benchmark pharmaceutical enterprise and an influential national

pharmaceutical brand in the PRC.
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COMPLIANCE WITH MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix C3
to the Listing Rules as its code regarding Directors’ and Supervisors’
dealings in the Company’s securities.

The Company has made specific enquiry to all of the Directors and
Supervisors and all of the Directors and Supervisors have confirmed
that they have complied with the Model Code for the year ended 31
December 2024.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board composition

The Board is responsible for overseeing the Group’s strategic
development, and determining the objectives, business strategies
and policies of the Group. The Board also monitors and controls
operating and financial performance in pursuit of the Group’s
strategic objectives.

The Board of Directors currently consists of eight Directors,
comprising four executive Directors, one non-executive Director and
three independent non-executive Directors. The incumbent Directors
during the year ended 31 December 2024 and as at the date of this
Annual Report are:

Executive Directors
Mr. JIANG Juncai
Mr. WANG Danjin
Mr. LI Shuang

Mr. CHEN Hao

Non-executive Director
Mr. TANG Xinfa (Chairman)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. TANG Jianxin

Ms. XIANG Ling

Mr. LI Xuechen
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

The Directors have no financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationships with each other.

The biographies of the Directors are set out in the section headed
“Profiles of Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management” of this
Annual Report.

Each of the Directors has entered into a service contract with the
Company. The principal particulars of these service contracts are:
(a) each of the contracts is for a term of three years commencing
from 7 June 2024 (being the date of their election or appointments
approved by the annual general meeting of the Company held on 7
June 2024) until the expiration of the fourth session of the Board; (b)
each of the contracts is subject to termination in accordance with
their respective terms. The service contracts may be renewed in
accordance with the Articles of Association and the applicable rules.

As at the date of this Annual Report, the Board at all times
complied with the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the
appointment of at least three independent non-executive Directors
with at least one independent non-executive Director possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

The Company has received written confirmation from each of
the independent non-executive Director pursuant to the factors
set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
all independent non-executive Directors to be independent in
accordance with the independence guidelines as set out in the
Listing Rules.
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BOARD DIVERSITY

The Company recognises the importance of board diversity to
the Company’s management and operation, which shall promote
the Company’s governance level and decision-making ability
as a key factor for the realization of the Company’s strategic
goals and long-term development. When selecting members of
the Board, the Company has fully considered diverse factors,
including but not limited to gender, age, position, educational
background, professional background and other factors. While
the ultimate decision on all Board appointments would be based
on the professional qualifications of the Director candidates,
relevant experience in the Company’s business and their potential
contributions to the Board, considerable weight would be given to
ensuring a diverse Board with balanced composition.

Measurable objectives

For the purpose of implementation of the Company’s policy on board
diversity, the Company adopted the following measurable objectives:

(i) Independence: The Board should include a balanced
composition of executive and non-executive Directors
(including independent non-executive Directors) so that
there is a strong element of independence in the Board. The
independent non-executive Directors shall be of sufficient
caliber and stature for their views to carry weight.

(i) Skills and experience: The Board possesses a balance of
skills appropriate for the requirements of the business of the
Company. The Directors have a mix of finance, academic and
management backgrounds that taken together provide the
Company with considerable experience in a range of activities.

(iii) Gender equality: The Board consists of at least a female
director.

In addition to the above objectives, in order to comply with the
Listing Rules, the Company’s policy on board diversity includes the
following objectives:

1. at least one third of the members of the Board shall be
independent non-executive Directors;

2. at least three of the members of the Board shall be
independent non-executive Directors; and

3. at least one of the members of the Board shall have obtained
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise.
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BOARD DIVERSITY (continued)
Measurable objectives (continued)

An analysis of the Board’s current composition based on the
measurable objectives is set out below:
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Gender Male
14 Bl 5
Number of Individuals 7
AE

Female

Age 40-50
Fir 40-50 5%
Number of Individuals 5

AE

Above 50
50 5% M £
3

Position Executive
Director
B BITES
Number of Individuals 4
AZ

Non-executive Independent

Director non-executive Director

FUTES BYFHTES

1 3

Educational background Doctor
BEER #t
Number of Individuals 3

A

Master Bachelor
|\t 2+
3 2

Professional background Science Law
EXFR =] S8
Number of Individuals 5 1

A

Economics Arts
iy L] X8
1 1

The Board is committed to improving greater gender diversity and will
increase the proportion of female Directors. The Nomination Committee
and the Board will review the implementation and effectiveness of the
Company’s policy on board diversity on an annual basis.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Nomination Committee
and the Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness
of the Company’s policy on board diversity, and considered that it
has achieved the measurable objectives set out in the Company’s
policy on board diversity and that the composition of the Board was
balanced and diversified.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD

The Articles of Association states the functions and powers of the
Board, including:

. To convene the general meetings, submit relevant matters to
the general meetings for passing, and report on its work to the
Shareholders;

. To implement the resolution of the general meeting;

. To decide on the business plans and investment schemes of
the Company;

. To formulate the Company’s proposed annual financial budget
and final accounts;

. To formulate the Company’s profit distribution plan and plan
for making up for losses;

. To formulate proposals for the increase or reduction of the
Company’s registered capital, and plans for the issue of
corporate bonds or other securities and the listing plan;

. To draw up plans for material assets acquisition or disposal,
purchase of the Company’s Shares, or merger, demerger,
dissolution or change of the form of the Company;

. To decide on the establishment of the Company’s internal
management organization;

. To appoint or remove the Company’s general manager and
secretary of the Board; to appoint or remove other senior
management officers pursuant to the general manager’s
nominations, and to determine the abovementioned matters
relating to the remuneration, incentives and punishments of
the senior management officers;
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD (continued)

To formulate the Company’s basic management system;

To formulate proposals for any amendment to the Articles of
Association;

To decide on the matters such as merger, division,
reorganization or dissolution of the Company’s wholly-owned
subsidiaries and subsidiaries;

To change the use of the placement to the extent beyond
the decision of the general meeting as required by laws and
regulations;

To decide on the establishment of special committees under
the Board and to appoint or remove its person-in-charge;

To propose at the general meetings a resolution in respect
of candidates for independent Directors and replacement of
independent Directors;

To propose at the general meetings for the appointment,
renewal or removal of accountants’ firm conducting auditing
for the Company;

To hear the work report and inspect the work of the general
manager;

To manage information disclosure of the Company;

To formulate the equity incentive plan;

Save as otherwise required to be decided by the general
meetings under laws and regulations and the Articles of
Assaociation, the Board exercises its power to make decisions
on external investments (including capital increase and
equity transfer of the invested enterprises), financing, risk
management and trust management, external guarantees,
etc.;
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD (continued)

To decide on other major affairs of the Company, save for
matters to be resolved at the general meetings as required by
the Company Law of the PRC and the Articles of Association;

To exercise other functions and powers as granted by the
Articles of Association or the general meetings of the Company;
and

To conduct other matters as required by PRC laws and
regulations.

In addition, the Board performs corporate governance function,

including:

To establish and review the Company’s corporate governance
policies and codes;

To review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of the Company’s Directors, Supervisors and
senior management;

To review and monitor the Company’s policies and codes
in connection with compliance with laws and regulatory
requirements;

To establish, review and monitor the codes of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to Directors and
employees; and

To review the Company’s compliance with the Code on
Corporate Governance Practices and the disclosures made in
the Corporate Governance Report.

During the Reporting Period, the Board reviewed the Company’s

corporate governance policies and codes; the training and continuous

professional development of the Directors, Supervisors and

senior management of the Company and the policies and codes in

connection with compliance with laws and regulatory requirements.

Also, the Board reviewed the Company’s compliance with the Code

on Corporate Governance Practices and the disclosures made in the

Corporate Governance Report.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD (continued)

The Group’s management team, which possesses extensive
operating experience and industry knowledge, has been delegated by
the Board with the authority and responsibility for the day-to-day
management of the Group. During the year, the Board considered
and approved the annual budget and its performance under
management supervision together with the business reports from
the management. The Board also reviewed and approved the annual
results for the year ended 31 December 2023, the interim results
for the six months ended 30 June 2024 and other critical business
operations. The Board also assessed the internal control and the
financial matters of the Group.

In order to ensure independent views and input are available to the
Board, the Company has formulated certain mechanisms, including
but not limited to formulating updated Articles of Association, terms
of reference of the Nomination Committee and director nomination
policy from time to time, which cover the Company’s nomination and
appointment process of the Directors (including independent non-
executive Directors), election procedures and criteria, connected
Directors’ abstention from voting and the right of independent non-
executive Directors to propose independent opinions on the Board
resolutions. The independent non-executive Directors shall notify
the Board in writing of any changes in the Company’s circumstances
that may affect their independence as independent non-executive
Directors as soon as practicable. In addition, the Directors are
free to engage external independent professional advisors to seek
independent professional opinions as they think fit at the expense
of the Company. Directors are also free to invite any staff members
to attend meetings or engage with them directly for information as
they think fit.

The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness
of the abave mechanism and confirmed that these mechanisms
were effective. The Board believes that it can effectively ensure
independent views and input are available to the Board.

In addition, this Corporate Governance Report has been reviewed by
the Board in discharge of its corporate governance function.
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OPERATION OF THE BOARD

Meetings of the Board of Directors should be held at least four times
every year. Such meetings shall be convened by the Chairman.

In case of any of the followings, the Chairman should convene an
interim meeting of the Board of Directors within 10 days:

. When proposed by Shareholders representing one tenth of
voting rights or more;

. When proposed by aone third of Directors or more;

. When the Chairman deems it necessary;

. When proposed by two or more independent Directors;
. When proposed by the Board of Supervisors; or

. When the general manager proposes the convening of the
interim meetings of the Board of Directors.

To convene a regular or interim meeting of the Board of Directors, a
written notice shall be sent to all Directors and Supervisors 14 days
prior to the date of a regular meeting or 3 days prior to an interim
meeting. By written consent of all Directors present at the meeting,
the above time limit may not be observed. The office or other
department designated by the Board of Directors is responsible for
serving the written meeting notice to all Directors and Supervisors
by direct service, fax, e-mail or other means. If an interim meeting
of the Board of Directors needs to be held quickly due to urgent
circumstances, a meeting notice may be given at any time by
telephone or other oral methods, provided that the convener makes
an explanation thereof at the meeting.
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OPERATION OF THE BOARD (continued)

Meetings of the Board of Directors may be held only if more than one
half of the Directors are present. Each Director shall have one vote.
Unless specified otherwise in the laws, administrative regulations or
the Articles of Association, resolutions of the Board must be passed
by more than half of all the Directors.

The Directors shall not vote the resolution on the approval of
contract, arrangement or other suggestions that they or their
associates maintain interests inside (which shall not be included in
the quorum of the relevant meetings). Even though such Directors
claim to vote, the votes will not be counted, unless otherwise
specified in laws, administrative regulations, relevant regulatory
regulations or rules.

In 2024, the Board held six meetings and the attendance records of
Directors at the Board meetings were as follows:
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Meeting attended/
Number of Board meetings convened
during his/her tenure of office

Name of Directors: BEEng: HEEE NEABHEEEEE K
Mr. TANG Xinfa EETE S E 6/6
Mr. JIANG Juncai BT EA 6/6
Mr. WANG Danjin FREEE 6/6
Mr. CHEN Hao BR& S 6/6
Mr. LI Shuang FREE 6/6
Mr. TANG Jianxin BRI E 6/6
Ms. XIANG Ling mZEL+ 6/6
Mr. LI Xuechen FEBRELE 6/6
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NOMINATION, APPOINTMENT AND REMOVAL OF
DIRECTOR

The Company has formulated a formal and transparent procedure
for the appointment of new Directors to the Board. Nomination
of new Director is first considered by the Nomination Committee
and the Remuneration and Evaluation Committee and then
recommended to the Board for consideration. All newly nominated
Directors are subject to the approval of the Shareholders at the
general meetings of the Company. Removal of members of the Board
is also subject to the approval of the Shareholders at the Company’s
general meetings.

DIRECTOR’S TRAINING

The Directors are continually updated on the statutory and
regulatory regime and the business environment to facilitate
the discharge of their responsibilities. Continuing briefing and
professional development for Directors will be arranged by the
Company where necessary. Individual Directors also participate in
the courses relating to the roles, functions and duties of a listed
company director or further enhancement of their professional
development by way of attending training courses or via online aids
or reading relevant materials.

The Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. This is to ensure that they could make contribution to
the Board based on their possessing of comprehensive professional
attainment. In 2024, all Directors have participated in continuous
professional development and provided to the Company a record of
training they received.
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DIRECTOR’S TRAINING (continued)

The list below summaries the training received by the Directors for
the year ended 31 December 2024:
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Attending seminar, conference and
workshop related to director’s duties/
reading materials like newspaper,
journals and updates relevant

to corporate governance

HERESRSHERNMEE -
eERTwE
REER  flnmAE -
Name of Directors BEEHE BehtEE4L HBEEHER
Mr. TANG Xinfa B E v
Mr. JIANG Juncai BHTEA 4
Mr. WANG Danjin FEEE v
Mr. CHEN Hao BR& S 4
Mr. LI Shuang e v/
Mr. TANG Jianxin BRI L v
Ms. XIANG Ling mEZ T v
Mr. LI Xuechen FERELE v
CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD AND GENERAL MANAGER EERRAKE

The roles and duties of the chairman of the Board and the general
manager of the Company are separate and held by different persons
and have been clearly defined in the Articles of Association. Mr.
TANG Xinfa and Mr. JIANG Juncai act as the Chairman and the general
manager of the Company respectively.

Mr. TANG Xinfa, the Chairman and a non-executive Director, is
entitled to exercise the following functions and powers:

. To preside over Shareholder’s general meetings, to convene
and preside over meetings of the Board of Directors;

. To procure and inspect the implementation of the resolutions
of the Board of Directors;
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CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD AND GENERAL MANAGER EERNEKE#®)

(continued)

. To sign the share certificates, corporate bonds and other e
negotiable securities issued by the Company;

. To sign important documents of the Board of Directors and
other documents to be signed by the legal representative of
the Company, and to exercise the functions and powers of the

legal representative;

. To organize and establish various systems and harmonize the °
operation of the Board of Directors;

. To hear the regular or non-regular work reports of the senior
management officers of the Company, and give guidance
on the implementation of the resolutions of the Board of
Directors;

. To nominate the list of the secretary candidates of the Board °
of Directors; and

. Other functions and powers conferred by the laws, regulations o
or the Articles of Association, and the Board of Directors.
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Mr. JIANG Juncai, an executive Director and general manager of the AR ANITE ERAKEEHA LERE
Company, is responsible to the Board of Directors and exercise the FE& & T K17 NHIRAE

following functions and powers:

. To be in charge of the production, operation and management e
of the Company, and report to the Board of Directors;

. To organize and implement the resolutions of the Board of
Directors, annual business plans and investment schemes of
the Company;

. To prepare the annual financial budget plan, and final account

plan of the Company, and make recommendations to the
Board of Directors;
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD AND GENERAL MANAGER

(continued)

. To prepare the basic management system and plan for
establishment of the Company’s internal management
organization;

. To formulate specific rules of the Company;

. To request the Board of Directors to engage or dismiss other
senior management officers; and

. To engage or dismiss the responsible managers except those
who shall be engaged or dismissed by the Board of Directors.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has delegated certain responsibilities to various
committees. The Company has established three Board committees,
being the Nomination Committee, Remuneration and Evaluation
Committee and Audit Committee.

Nomination Committee

The Company has established the Nomination Committee with
written terms of reference in compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules.
Currently, the Nomination Committee consists of three members,
namely Mr. LI Xuechen (an independent non-executive Directar), Mr.
TANG Jianxin (an independent non-executive Director) and Ms. XIANG
Ling (an independent non-executive Director), among whom Mr. LI
Xuechen serves as the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review the
composition of the Board, assess the independence of independent
non-executive Directors and make recommendations to the Board
on the appointment and removal of Directors.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued) EEEZEEW

Nomination Committee (continued) REZEE(E)

In evaluating and selecting any candidate for directorship, {-EEWE&}?KL&&?}\#E%%E% CIREZE
the following criteria should be considered by the Nomination EB&k SEE&EEET5I%E]:

Committee and/or the Board:

Character and integrity. .

. Qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience and diversity aspects under the
board diversity policy of the Company that are relevant to the

Company’s business and corporate strategy.

. Any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity on e
the Board.

. Whether the candidate would be considered independent with e
reference to the independence guidelines set out in the Listing
Rules for an independent non-executive Director.

. Any potential contributions the candidate can bring to °
the Board in terms of qualifications, skills, experience,
independence and gender diversity.

. Willingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge °
duties as a member of the Board and/or Board committee(s) of
the Company.

. Such other perspectives that are appropriate to the Company’s
business and succession plan and where applicable, may be
adopted and/or amended by the Board and/or the Nomination
Committee from time to time for nomination of directors and

succession planning.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company adopted a board diversity policy to achieve the
diversity of members of the Board and maintain an appropriate
balance of diversity perspectives of the Board that are relevant
to the Company’s business growth. The Company recognizes and
embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board and sees increasing
diversity at the Board level as an essential element in maintaining
the Company’s competitive advantage. The Company believes that
greater diversity of Directors is good for corporate governance and
is committed: (i) to attract and retain candidate(s) for Board with
a comhbination of competencies from the widest possible pool of
available talent; (i) to maintain a Board with diversity perspectives
at all levels, in particular, those are aligning with the Company’s
strategy and objectives; (iii) to assess regularly the diversity profile
of the Board and the progress on achieving diversity objectives, if
any; (iv) to ensure that the selection and nomination of Directors
positions are appropriately structured so that a diverse range of
candidates can be considered by the Company; and (v) to ensure
that changes to the Board’s composition can be managed without

undue disruption.

The board diversity policy will be reviewed periodically by the
Nomination Committee and the Board to ensure it remains relevant
to the Company’s needs and reflects both regulatory requirements

and good corporate governance practices.

The Nomination Committee reviews annually the structure, size
and composition of the Board and where appropriate, make
recommendations on changes to the Board to complement the
Company’s corporate strategy. In reviewing and assessing the Board
compaosition and the nomination of directors (as applicable), Board
diversity has to be considered from a number of aspects, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional qualifications and skills, knowledge and industry and

regional experience.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY (continued)

The Nomination Committee discusses and where necessary, agrees
on the measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board
and make recommendation to the Board. When determining such
measurable objectives, the Nomination Committee considers a
number of aspects, including but not limited to, the diversity of the
Board composition in aspects of gender, age, position, academic
background and professional background etc. The Nomination
Committee reviews the measurable objectives on a regular basis.

The Nomination Committee adopts the following procedures for

appointment/re-election of director:
(@) Appointment of New Director

(i)  The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should,
upon receipt of the proposal on appointment of new
director and the biographical information (or relevant
details) of the candidate, evaluate such candidate based
on the criteria as set out above to determine whether

such candidate is qualified for directorship.

(i) If the process yields ane or more desirable candidates,
the Nomination Committee and/or the Board should rank
them by order of preference based on the needs of the
Company and reference check of each candidate (where
applicable).

(i)  The Nomination Committee should then recommend
to the Board to appoint the appropriate candidate for
directorship, as applicable.

(iv)  For any person that is nominated by a Shareholder for
election as a Director at the general meeting of the
Company, the Nomination Committee and/or the Board
should evaluate such candidate based on the criteria as
set out above to determine whether such candidate is
qualified for directorship.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY (continued)

(@) Appointment of New Director (continued)

Where appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/or the
Board should make recommendation to the Shareholders in
respect of the proposed election of Director at the general
meeting.

(b) Re-election of Director at General Meeting

(i)  The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should
review the overall contribution and service to the
Company of the retiring Director and the level of
participation and performance on the Board.

(i)  The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should
also review and determine whether the retiring Director
cantinues to meet the criteria as set out above.

(iii)  The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should then
make recommendation to the Shareholders in respect
of the proposed re-election of Director at the general
meeting.

The Nomination Committee adopted the following conditions on the
nomination of Director candidates:

The Director should be elected or replaced by general meetings of
the Company. When a general meeting is held by the Company, the
Board, the Board of Supervisors or Shareholders who individually
or in aggregate holding more than 3% of the Shares may propose
resolutions to the convener of the general meeting in relation to the
election of Directors.

A candidate of Director must comply with the relevant qualification
set out in the Company Law of the PRC, the Articles of Association
and other applicable laws and regulations. The Board should
have a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s business.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY (continued)

The Nomination Committee adopts the following procedures on the
nomination of Director candidates:

Each Director candidate should be individually proposed. The
intention to nominate a candidate as Director and the written notice
of such candidate regarding his willingness to accept the nomination
shall be given to the Company no later than seven days prior to the

date scheduled for such general meeting.

When the general meeting proposes to discuss the election of
Director, the details of the candidate of Director should be fully
disclosed in the notice of general meeting, which shall at least

include the following:

(1) Personal information including but not limited to education
background, work experience and other appointments;

(2) Whether there is any connected relationship between him/her
and the Company or the Controlling Shareholders and de facto
controller of the Company;

(3) The number of shares of the Company held by him/her; and

(4)  Whether subject to punishment by China Securities Regulatory
Commission and other relevant securities regulatory
authorities and sanctions by the stock exchange.

Where an appointment of Director comes into effect upon the
approval at the general meeting, an announcement must be
published in accordance with the relevant Listing Rules.

The Nomination Committee is entitled to propose its nomination
of Director candidates to the Board according to the Articles of
Association, the terms of reference of the Nomination Committee

and other applicable laws and regulations.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY (continued)

In 2024, the Nomination Committee held two meetings and has
reviewed the structure, combination and balance (including
expertise, knowledge and experience (including board diversity)) of
the Board, assessed the independence of independent non-executive
Directors. The attendance records of Directors at the Nomination

Committee meeting were as follows:
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EHERAZEEEHR BN HEAT

Meeting attended/Number of
Nomination Committee convened
during his/her tenure of office

HEEE
Name of Directors EEHE RERNBHERZEREEAY
Mr. LI Xuechen TEBLAE 2/2
Mr. TANG Jianxin EEMiA 2/2
Ms. XIANG Ling mEZ L 2/2

In 2024, the Nomination Committee reviewed the compaosition of
the Board in accordance with the requirements as stipulated in the
Corporate Governance Code and concluded that the Board comprised
members with diversified backgrounds and skills which ensured
balance and safeguarded the interests of Sharehaolders as well as
the public.

Remuneration and Evaluation Committee

The Company has established the Remuneration and Evaluation
Committee with written terms of reference in compliance with
Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and the Corporate Governance Code
as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules. The Remuneration
and Evaluation Committee consists of three members, namely
Ms. XIANG Ling (an independent non-executive Directar), Mr. JIANG
Juncai (an executive Director) and Mr. TANG Jianxin (an independent
non-executive Director), among whom Ms. XIANG Ling serves as the
chairman of the Remuneration and Evaluation Committee.

FERE 2024 /| EE

tg

B RABARRBLEEA
FAREENEERHER  LRAES
GhERSTIE B RS m&%m&’
W AR T I A R RFERE R AR A
R -

FHEERZEES

ARRERE EMARAE 325 AR EH
A5 B H 8% C1 A 8k 3 BDOR 5T BIUAKSZ Hr B
HEZZES Ut ETEEEBERE -

FMEEZZEBem =RKBHAK - AI[
/xézi(?ﬁ-ﬁiélhﬂﬂi%) B R (B
TEE) MERMAL BUIFRNTES)
HmzathEFMEEZZE @M T
FE o

REXRTEZBRNDERDF]

145



146

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

J_L\ I/\-/\—\

P EE RS

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY (continued)

Remuneration and Evaluation Committee (continued)

The primary duties of the Remuneration and Evaluation Committee
are to advise on and formulate the remuneration and evaluation
policy in respect of Directors, senior management and other
managing members of the Group and make recommendations to the
Board.

In 2024, the Remuneration and Evaluation Committee held two
meetings, at which the policy and structure for all Directors’
and senior management’s remuneration and the review of
the remuneration packages of executive Directors and senior
management were discussed. The attendance record of Directors
at the Remuneration and Evaluation Committee meeting was as
follows:

EEEREZSTILEE®)
GMEERESS ()
GHREZEEENTIERE ARAEE

i% ERREEABREMERKEZR
R TE N B RF A R - WM EF S et

R-ZZB_NF HFMEEZZEGE 81T
“REH BLUW(BEEREREEA

EHN2BHMEEREE) RARATEAR
ARTEERSREBENTHEHE) -
EFHEFMEZEZZE SR RENT
SR -

Meeting attended/

Number of Remuneration and
Evaluation Committee convened
during his/her tenure of office

HESE

REARBBEME

Name of Directors BEENF ERZEEEBRRY
Mr. JIANG Juncai B4 EAE 2/2
Mr. TANG Jianxin BEREM L 2/2
Ms. XIANG Ling mEZ T 2/2

In 2024, the Remuneration and Evaluation Committee assessed the
performance of executive Directors, reviewed the remuneration
policy, considered and approved the proposed 2024 Director’s fees
for the executive Directors and made recommendation to the Board
on the Directors’ fees for the non-executive Directors.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY (continued)

Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management

The Company has established a formal and transparent procedure
for formulating policies on remuneration of senior management
of the Group. Details of the remuneration of each of the Directors
for the year ended 31 December 2024 are set out in Note 7 to the
Financial Statements.

Remuneration paid to the senior management (excluding the
Directors) by bands for the year ended 31 December 2024 is set out
below:

Remuneration bands (RMB)
FHER (AR

/\J_I_\ Vi /rh—\

E/E#ﬁn:

EEEREZSTILBE®)
EEREREEASNTH

ARBEHHTAEESREEABNT
M REL EXRABRENEF - #HE
TECEFT A=t HULEFERES
RO R BB B A AR FET -

TREJBE-_ZT_MOF+_A=1+—H
LHEEZRBEN XN TRRAEEAR (T
BIREF) O

Number of individuals

A

Nil to 1,000,000
Z188

Audit Committee

The Company has established the Audit Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules
and the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 to
the Listing Rules. The Audit Committee currently consists of three
members, namely Mr. TANG Jianxin (an independent non-executive
Director), Ms. XIANG Ling (an independent non-executive Director)
and Mr. TANG Xinfa (a non-executive Director), among whom Mr.
TANG Jianxin serves as the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to oversee the
financial reporting system and internal control procedures of
the Company, review the financial information of the Company
and consider issues relating to the external auditors and their
appointment.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)

The work performed by the Audit Committee in 2024 included
review of the annual results of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2023, interim results of the Group for the six months
ended 30 June 2024 and listen to the report of risk management
and internal control system of the Company by Internal Audit and
Risk Department. The Audit Committee also reviewed the adequacy
and effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
system and making recommendation to the Board for improvement
of internal control, credit control and risk management.

In 2024, the Audit Committee held two meetings and the attendance
records of Directors at the Audit meeting were as follows:

EEEREZTILEE®)
EREEE(H)

ERZEER T _NENIEREER
AEEHEE_T_=F+-_A=+—HI
FENFEERE ASEERE_T_NF
NAZTHRIEANERMF A REIRA
HEZRRERIFIE AR REREE R
NEEZERAN RS - EZLZE GRS
ERERRATZESRFTERTEE
ARt EARERE - FEEG REARE
EmEESRDLES -

RIT_NE EREEGERITMAE
B EBERHREERZEEERRENRLE
U

Meeting attended/

Number of Audit Committee convened
during his/her tenure of office

HESE
Directors EEHSR REREHEXZESSRARY
Mr. TANG Jianxin EEMAE 2/2
Mr. TANG Xinfa B LE 2/2
Ms. XIANG Ling mEZ T 2/2

The Audit Committee reviewed and discussed the auditor’s
remuneration for 2024, the annual results of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2024 and recommended the Board to re-
appoint KPMG as the Company’s auditor for the year of 2024.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2024. The Directors consider that the Group
has adequate resources to continue in business for the foreseeable
future and are not aware of material uncertainties that may cast
significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of annual and interim reports, inside
information announcements and other disclosures required under
the Listing Rules and other statutory and regulatory requirements.

The management of the Company has provided to the Board such
explanation and information as are necessary to enable the Board
to carry out an informed assessment of the Company’s Consolidated
Financial Statements, which are put to the Board for approval.

INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

It is the responsibility of the Board of Directors to ensure that
the Company maintains sound and effective internal controls to
safeguard the Shareholders’ investment and the Group’s assets
at all times. We have adopted a series of internal control policies,
procedures and programmes designed to achieve effective and
efficient operations, reliable financial reporting and compliance with
applicable laws and regulations. Highlights of our internal control
system include the following:

. Internal Audit. We put in place the internal audit charter that
clearly states the objectives, organisation, functions and
responsibilities, working scope and procedures of our internal
audit functions. We established an internal audit department
that is responsible for internal auditing and execution of
antibribery measures in accordance with the internal audit
charter. The internal audit department reports to our senior
management and the Audit Committee.
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INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

Risk Management. The Company has set up procedures in
respect of risk management to meet internal control targets.
The Company, on the basis of the target setting, identifies
the risks in the process of internal control through daily
and regular assessment procedures and methods, classifies
the risks and prepares the Company’s risk list, continually
conducts risk analysis, tracks the constantly changing business
environment and business activities and carries out dynamic
assessments. As the responsible unit of risk monitoring, each
department of the Company establishes a risk monitoring
index system to conduct daily risk monitoring of the unit,
especially the key indicators of major risks. For the identified
risks, each department of the Company will formulate
plans and measures to respanse risks. Each department is
responsible for the implement of the risk corresponding plans.
The department of internal control management monitors
the results of the risk corresponding measures, forms risk
response evaluation reports. In addition, the department of
internal control management regularly summarizes, analyses
and evaluates the risk response situation of the Company
as a whole, compiles a report on the implementation of the
Company’s risk response and reports to the general manager’s
office.
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INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

Internal Control Defects and Self-Appraisal. The Company
adopts qualitative and quantitative methods to establish
standards for defect identification. The Company’s internal
auditing department undertakes the responsibility to track and
review the implementation of the defects rectification found in
the supervision and evaluation, as well as the implementation
of the management recommendations and internal control
inspection rectification recommendations made by the
external auditors. The Company’s auditing department is
entitled to supervise and direct the rectification scheme,
verify the effectiveness and appropriateness of the control
measures, make recommendations for improvement and
requests relevant departments to make necessary adjustments
to the rectification measures to ensure the realization of risk
control targets. The management of the Company authorizes
relevant departments to investigate and analyze the internal
control defects identified during the supervision process by
the external regulatory and internal and external auditors and
carry out corresponding rectification measures and reviews the
implementation of each such measure. The Company’s self-
appraisal is a form of realization of internal supervision and
a process of comprehensive evaluation on the effectiveness
of internal control and issuance of self-appraisal reports on a
regular basis.

Listing Rules Compliance. We have adopted various policies
to ensure compliance with the Listing Rules, including but not
limited to aspects related to corporate governance, connected
transactions, discloseable transactions, inside information and
securities transactions by the Directors. We have designated
staff to monitor our compliance with Listing Rules and other
applicable laws and regulations who have the power to
investigate relevant incidents if any and communicate with the
related authorities or advisers.
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INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

J Code of Conduct. Our code of conduct explicitly communicates
to each employee our values, acceptable criteria for decision-
making and our ground rules for behaviour. Our code of
conduct also includes whistle-blowing policies to encourage
all employees to speak up against any sub-standard behaviour.
We also established an anti-money laundering management
group and a related working group that are respansible for
monitaring and supervising the implementation of our code of
conduct and our anti-money laundering policies.

The Board has the overall responsibility for maintaining sound and
effective risk management and internal control systems for the
Group to ensure that major risks that may impact on the Company’s
performance are appropriately identified and managed to provide
reasonable, though not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss and to manage rather than eliminating the
risk of failure to achieve business objectives. These measures are
regularly reviewed and updated.

The Board, on the basis of the target setting, identifies the risks in
the process of internal control through daily and regular assessment
procedures and methods, classifies the risks and prepares the
Company’s risk list.
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INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

The Company understands its obligations under the SFO and the
Listing Rules and the overriding principle that inside information
should be announced immediately after such information comes
to our attention and/or it is the subject of a decision unless it falls
within any of the “Safe Harbours” as provided in the SFO. Meanwhile,
the Company has set up an inside information management system,
the insider internal reporting obligations, reporting procedures and
liability of disclosure of information of the personnel concerned has
been clearly stated, and the Company shall arrange self-examination
in a timely manner in accordance with the provisions of the relevant
regulatory authorities. The real-time monitoring performed by the
Company may involve the inside information, and should organize
intermediary agencies to determine whether the information
belongs to an inside information and practical, if it has fulfilled the
disclosure requirements, will soon organize the disclosure and will
strictly control the scope of the monitoring before the disclosure,
the volatility of share price will be monitored until the disclosure of
inside information is completed; if the disclosure requirements are
not satisfied, the Company will also maintain strict confidentiality.

The main features of the risk management and internal control
systems are to safeguard assets, to ensure proper maintenance of
accounting records and provide reliable financial reporting, and to
ensure compliance with relevant legislation and regulations.

The Company reviews the internal control and risk management
systems twice a year. During the Reporting Period, the Board has
reviewed the internal control and risk management systems and
confirmed its effectiveness and adequacy.

The Company’s internal audit function is performed by the Internal
Audit and Risk Department. It is responsible for conducting
independent reviews of the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control and risk management systems. It also
assesses the risks inherent in particular business or functional areas,
including fraud or corruption, and conducts reviews or audits to
provide reasonable, though not absolute, assurance that adequate
governance and controls are in place to address such risks.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about its
reporting responsibilities for the Consolidated Financial Statements
is set out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages 161 to
173.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the remuneration paid/
payable to the Company’s external auditor, KPMG, is set out below:

B &

KARINEBIZEED B BE RS M5 R
RBAENBRETHERFHNFE 1612
173 B8 [ B A RS A -

TREVNEE_FT_MWFE+_A=+—H
IEFE - XA T AR R MBI ERAD
EFEERT A ST FB -

Amount

RMB’000
8

AR®T

Annual audit services FEEZRE
Non-audit services IEBZ R

1,950
850

Total fees kb

2,800

The non-audit services were review service for interim results.
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GENERAL MEETINGS

During the Reporting Period, the Company held an annual general
meeting of 2023, H Shareholders class meeting and Domestic
Shareholders class meeting on 7 June 2024. The 2024 first
extraordinary general meeting was held on 31 October 2024. The
attendance records of the Directors at the general meetings were as
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follows: SHIBREEINT
Meeting attended/
Number of general meetings convened
during his/her tenure of office
HEERE
Name of Directors EEHR RERBHEBRRAERE
Mr. TANG Xinfa EREEE 2/2
Mr. JIANG Juncai Bt 2/2
Mr. WANG Danijin FEEE 2/2
Mr. CHEN Hao BRE K& 2/2
Mr. TANG Jianxin ERMEE 2/2
Mr. LI Shuang PR E 2/2
Ms. XIANG Ling Mgzt 2/2
Mr. LI Xuechen FEEBEAE 2/2
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company considers that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investor understanding of the Group’s business performance
and strategies. The Company also recognizes the importance of
transparency and timely disclosure of corporate information,
which will enable the Shareholders and investors to make the best
investment decisions. The general meetings of the Company provide
a platform for face-to-face communication between the Board and
the Shareholders.

Shareholder rights
Right to propose to convene extraordinary general meeting

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, the Shareholders request for
the convening of the extraordinary general meeting or meeting of

class Shareholders shall follow the procedure below:

Shareholders individually or jointly holding a total of 10% or more
of the shares carrying the right to vote at the meeting sought to
be held may sign one or more written requests of identical form
and substance requesting the Board to convene an shareholders’
extraordinary general meeting or a meeting of shareholders of
different classes and state the subject of the meeting. The Board
shall convene a Shareholders’ extraordinary general meeting or a
class meeting as soon as possible after having received the above-
mentioned written request. The shareholding referred to above shall

be calculated as of the day on which the written request is made.

If the Board fails to issue an announcement on the convening
of meeting within 30 days after receiving the above-mentioned
written request, the proposing Shareholders are entitled to submit
a written request to the Board of Supervisors on the convening of
Shareholders’ extraordinary general meeting or meeting of the class
Shareholders.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS (continued)

Shareholder rights (continued)

Right to propose to convene extraordinary general meeting

(continued)

If the Board of Supervisors fails to issue an announcement on the
convening of meeting within 30 days after receiving the above-
mentioned written request, the Shareholders individually or
collectively representing 10% or more of the Company’s voting
Shares at the proposed meeting for at least consecutive 90
days may canvene the meeting on their own within four months
after the Board of Directors receives the request. The convening
procedures shall be the same as the procedures for the convening of
Shareholders’ general meeting by the Board of Directors.

Shareholders’ right to propose resolutions at the general meeting

Shareholder(s) individually or jointly holding 3% or more of the total
voting shares of the Company shall be entitled to propose an interim
resolution and submit the same to the convener. The convener
shall issue a supplemental announcement of shareholders’ general
meeting within 2 days after the receipt of such proposal and submit
such interim resolution to the shareholders’ general meeting for
consideration and approval. The contents of an interim resolution
shall fall within the authority of the shareholders’ general meeting
and maintain topics for discussion and specific matters to be
resolved.

The Company sets out the following contact details for the
Shareholders to communicate with the Company:

86-0769-81768866

www.hec-changjiang.com
penggiyun@hec.cn

Telephone number :
Company website
E-mail address
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COMPANY SECRETARY

As at the date of this Annual Report, Mr. PENG Qiyun and Mr. WONG
Wai Chiu acted as joint company secretaries of the Company. For the
biography of Mr. PENG Qiyun and Mr. WONG Wai Chiu, please refer
to the section headed “Profiles of Directors, Supervisors and Senior
Management” of this Annual Report.

Mr. WONG Wai Chiu’s primary corporate contact person at the
Company is Mr. PENG Qiyun, another joint company secretary. In
compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, each of Mr. PENG
Qiyun and Mr. WONG Wai Chui has undertaken no less than 15 hours
of relevant professional training during the year ended 31 December
2024.

SHAREHOLDER COMMUNICATION POLICY

The Company has established the shareholder communication
policy (the “Shareholder Communication Policy”) to ensure that
shareholders’ views and concerns are properly addressed. The
Board also regularly reviews the Shareholders Communication Policy
to ensure its effectiveness. In accordance with the Shareholder
Communication Policy, the Company has set up a “Investor
Relations” section on its website (www.hec-changjiang.com) to
ensure that the Shareholders can obtain comprehensive, identical
and easily understandable information about the Company in a
timely manner, so that the Shareholders may exercise their powers
in an informed manner, and enable the Shareholders and potential
investors to strengthen communication with the Company.

The Board welcomes views of the Shareholders and encourages
them to attend general meetings to raise any concerns they might
have with the Board or the management directly. Board members
and appropriate senior management of the Group are available
at the general meetings to answer any questions raised by the
Shareholders.
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SHAREHOLDER COMMUNICATION POLICY (continued)

During the Reporting Period, the Company has reviewed
the effectiveness and implementation of the Shareholder
Communication Policy. As a result of the above measures, the Board
believes that the Shareholder Communication Policy remains in force
and has been effectively implemented.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board adopted the dividend policy on 14 December 2018,
setting out the principles and guidelines that the Company intends
to apply in relation to the declaration, payment or distribution of its
net profits as dividends to the shareholders of the Company.

The Board adopt the policy that, in recommending the declaration of
dividends, the Company shall maintain adequate cash reserves for
meeting its working capital requirements and future growth as well
as its Share value. The Company do not have any pre-determined
dividend payout ratio.

The Board is responsible for submitting recommendations in respect
of dividend payments, if any, to the Shareholders’ general meeting
for approval, subject to the Articles of the Association and all
applicable laws and regulations and the factors set out below.

The Board shall also take into account the following factors of the
Group when considering to recommend the declaration and payment
of dividends:

. Distributable profits;

. Financial condition;

. Cash flow;

. Expected future capital expenditure;

o Return to the Shareholders;

. Capital requirements;
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DIVIDEND POLICY (continued)

o Finance costs;

o The external financing environment; and

. any other factors that the Directors may deem relevant.

Depending on the conditions and factors as set out above of the
Company and the Group, dividends may be recommended by the
Board for a financial year or period:

. interim dividend;
. final dividend;
. special dividend; and

J any distribution of net profits that the Board may deem

appropriate.

Dividends shall be distributed by the Company to its Shareholders
in proportion to their respective shareholdings according to the
resolutions adopted at the Shareholders’ general meeting. The
Company may declare and pay dividends by way of cash or scrip or
by other means that the Board considers appropriate. Any dividend
unclaimed shall be forfeited and shall be reverted to the Company in
accordance with the Articles of Assaciation.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

At the 2024 first extraordinary general meeting held on 31 October
2024, the Shareholders approved the adoption of the amended
Articles of Association, which came into effect on 31 October 2024.
The existing Articles of Assaciation are published on the websites of
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and the Company respectively.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
YiChang HEC ChanglJiang Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.
(Incorporated in the People’s Republic of China with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of YiChang
HEC Changliang Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (“the Company”) and
its subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out on pages 174 to 316, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 December 2024, the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the
year then ended and notes comprising material accounting policy

information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024 and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong

Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”)
together with any ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit
of the consolidated financial statements in the People’s Republic
of China, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements and the Code. We believe that
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to

provide a basis for our opinion.
KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we

do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continueq)

Timing of revenue recognition

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B AZBEN RS

FREEXEE %)

LON A

Refer to Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements and the 2[4 & KB ENF3IRF218F 221

accounting policies on pages 218 to 221.

The Key Audit Matter
HARERER

BH)EEIRE °

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EERTPNEERG R

Revenue of the Group mainly comprises sales of
pharmaceutical products to a large number of
distributors.
EXENEERAFTERRERMZEASHEHIHEE
oA -

The Group enters into standard sales contracts
with each distributor and sells its products in
accordance with the terms agreed in the sales
contracts.
EEFEZDHEBRIFRENHES NI RE
HESNNTEMNGRRHEER -

Once the products are delivered to the location
designated by the distributor and accepted, the
control of the goods are considered to have been
transferred to the distributor and revenue is
recognised accordingly.
BEWEIXE 7 1R 8 E 6 B R H R
AmEHRERRCERE D HE  RULHE
RBEERA -

Our audit procedures to assess the timing of revenue recognition
included the following:

BPFHEERRARRERNETEFE2HE

. obtaining an understanding of and assessing the
design, implementation and operating effectiveness of
management’s key internal controls in relation to revenue
recognition;

s TREFEEEEMREEXPARIRRAEENTIENR
BB ERE - MIT BT AL

. inspecting sales contracts with customers, on a sample
basis, to understand the terms of the sales transactions
including the terms of delivery and acceptance and any
sales return arrangements to assess the Group’s revenue
recognition policies with reference to the requirements of
the prevailing accounting standards;

s BEAMBERETERPRINEEALN  THERKESR
MERELHZHERSHER  2ZRTEFHERNR
EUFHE BERE2FRAERNBUR

. inspecting goods delivery notes and logistics records, on
a sample basis, to assess whether revenue transactions
recorded just before and after the financial year end date
had been recognised in the appropriate financial period
on the basis of the terms of sale as set out in the sales
contracts;

s REMEREBREBEERYRLHE  NEELHKLEE
EBERBAENEERBRARGEERBHESHHATE
B $H & (5R FRAC B TE LE HE BN B 75 Sk BA R
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continueq)

Timing of revenue recognition (continued)

FREEXEE %)

WA TR (E)

The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit
BRELSER EERTNEETSE
The Group’s sales contracts are standardised and e inspecting underlying documentation for manual journal

do not permit sales return except for where the
products are damaged or defective.
BREMBIENHIRMRBIN - EEENFELH
EANTHETRE -

We identified the timing of revenue recognition
as a key audit matter because revenue is
one of the key performance indicators of the
Group and therefore there is an inherent risk
of manipulation of the timing of recognition of
revenue by management to meet specific targets
or expectations.

BB HEXERANERSEZ —EARREE
REE BAREXWVAR EEEHERNXAE
Bz — GHEERERBRULEBAER
REEAZERSE B R BN BB AR

entries and adjustments relating to revenue raised during
the year which met specific risk-based criteria; and

s BREERFAMBSEXERARBALTARERRGENHTF
INHELABIFUEN  ERFAMSEXRARBAL
HEFERRGEHNF I OHELBBOFESE K

. inspecting actual sales returns and credit notes recorded
after the financial year end and evaluating whether the
related adjustments to revenue had been recorded in the
appropriate financial period.

s REBERRARBERBLEHEERORFEE HERLEE
WEHE AR & E WA RE RS 5T A F B8 % mak B -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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FREEXEE %)

Expected credit loss allowance for trade receivables BESRWHIEABCEEERRE

Refer to Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements and the 2RJ4F & B EZ ML 16 &5 197 & 204

accounting policies on pages 197 to 204.

The Key Audit Matter
HARERER

BH)EEIRE °

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EERPNEERLE

The carrying value of the Group’s gross trade
receivables as at 31 December 2024 totalled
RMB1,860 million, against which a loss
allowance of RMB92 million for expected credit
losses (ECLs) was recorded.
R-Z-M&E+-A=+—0H BL£ENEZESH
EWRIBEFRmAERARKL8608 & T &t
HZAERSHEREEERNERRBEARY
NR2HET -

Management measured the loss allowance at
an amount equal to lifetime ECL of the trade
receivables based estimated loss rates. The
estimated loss rates take into account the ageing
of trade receivable balances, the repayment
history of the Group’s customers, current market
conditions and forward-looking information.
According to the past experience of the Group,
the loss patterns for different customers are not
significantly different. Therefore, the receivables
are not segmented when calculating the loss
allowance.
ERERBMAFEERRERNE S BKFHIA
BEEAAUPHNEHEEBEENCHETEERE
Bt - hET IR R R B SR IAE SR IR
i EXEBEZTFHERESL  RITMRKAE
MER -RE SEENBELR TRATEF
WEERATEEAEZR Bk E5tEER
BER - WERRWFIRETSE -

Our audit procedures to assess the ECL allowance for trade
receivables included the following:

BAFEESRURARREEBERRENETEF 81

. obtaining an understanding of and assessing the design,
implementation and operating effectiveness of key
internal controls relating to credit control, debt collection
and the estimation of the loss allowance;

o THWEFTERERES  EBEKREIEREEFTIRED
MEREE E Z RS RE - BT RETHR L

. evaluating the Group’s policy for estimating the credit
loss allowance with reference to the requirements of the
prevailing accounting standard;

o ZERTEHENNRE  FE EEEMGHEEERRE
BEHBR

. obtaining an understanding of the key data and
assumptions of the expected credit loss model adopted
by the management, including the historical default
data and the assumptions involved in management’s
estimated loss rates;

. THERERMNBHEESEERN X 28 B MRF
BEBRLENRTRY  RERERANESHEEBR
BANTIEHREMER  BREELENEEBELREEEN
HErBRE P RNRE
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B 2 AR S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continueq)

Expected credit loss allowance for trade receivables (continued)

The Key Audit Matter
BRELSER

FREEXEE %)

ESRWREARBEESERE (E)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EERTFHNERETE

We identified the ECL allowance for trade
receivables as a key audit matter because the
assessment of the loss allowance requires the
exercise of significant management judgement.
BMEANEE ZSRUGRIENTEREEERE B
E-AEREZEE BATHBEERERS
ZEREZMNEREHE -

166

assessing the appropriateness of management’s
estimates of loss allowance by examining the information
used by management to derive such estimates, including
testing the accuracy of the historical default data

and evaluating whether the historical loss rates are
appropriately adjusted based on current economic
conditions and forward-looking information;
BARESEREEHARMLAMANER  FEEEE
HETERERENSEL  BREREELENBBRNER
MRFEELBEXEZDREE /LB LATE T
BRELBE R

assessing the classification of individual balances in the
trade receivable ageing report by comparing the details
in the trade receivable ageing report with the underlying
goods delivery notes and invoices, on a sample basis; and
RIBEIEA - LW E 5 W GKIA R RS 15 MAERE
WHEERESR  FHE S REFIAREK RE EBHRE
DEREERN &

re-performing the calculation of the loss allowance as
at 31 December 2024 based on the Group’s credit loss
allowance policies.

BiE SEENCEEBRBEBEE  ENiER_-F
“HE+TZA=t—HHEEEE -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continueq)

Assessment of the impairment of intangible assets

NDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B AZBEN RS

FAREREE @)

B EENRERE

Refer to Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements and the 2 Rjir &M BERERM T 114 % E 205 %

accounting policies on pages 205 to 209.

The Key Audit Matter
HARERER

209 B E TR ©

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EERPNEERRGE

The carrying value of the Group’s intangible
assets totalled RMB2,504 million as at 31
December 2024.

RZZE_MNF+-A=+—H X ESENE]F
BERHEARXRARK 250488 -

Management performs annual impairment
assessment for its capitalised development
costs which were not ready for use. For other
intangible assets, the management performs
impairment assessment if there are any
indicators of potential impairment, such as
the decrease of forecasted selling price due to
the significant decrease of tendering price in
the Centralised Procurement organised by the
authorities.

EREHAERARERNE RN E T LT
FEREN G RHEMBETLEENS  EEE
ERAEFEEAEERETR (FITERE
BRABRBAEASNETRBENRIZER KR
TREMIRE) - SRERETREEEITRENE

Our audit procedures to assess the impairment of intangible
assets included the following:

BFFHE B EERENEETFEE

. assessing the design and implementation of key internal
controls relating to impairment assessment in respect of
intangible assets;

o FMEEEPEERENGEBNE2REES R R
ﬂ 1T

. involving our internal valuation specialists in assessing
the appropriateness of the impairment assessment model
with reference to the prevailing accounting standards
and the discount rate applied in the discounted cashflow
forecast by benchmarking against those of other similar
companies in the same industry;

o ERMOABEEZREBER —TENHMBAURF
EITHER  WRERTEHENLENRBESREEA
FrEAMITERE  FEREFERENEE T

. challenging the key assumptions adopted by management
in the discounted cashflow forecasts by comparing
future revenue with the tendering price and procurement
volume in the Centralised Procurement or with the
market price, market capacities of the products or
comparable products, and comparing future costs of
goods sold to historical costs of comparable products of
the Group and our knowledge of the business;

s BBRBRKKGEEETREBOHREERLIREENEE
MK EBRERNTMGERETEAEETHE - A
EBEEEMOARKAR SEEAELKRERNSB
ERTETEBRRBRERFMEEBN TR ERNERE
REFRRSREFRRPRBHBERRER
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continueq)

FREEXEE %)

Assessment of the impairment of intangible assets (continued) BREENRENS (&)
The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

HEELRSAE

EERPHNERER

The management performs impairment
assessment by comparing the carrying value
of the cash-generating unit (“CGU”) against
the respective recoverable amount, which was
the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use based on discounted cashflow
forecast to determine the amount of impairment
which should be recognised, if any.
ERERBENRREREVABRESELSE
(REeEEEM)OEEEEBRETRDE
BOARABERHERAEREREENRSE)
EITHBUAEITRERT L - A LAEE E & T LA T
REBEZRE(WE) -

Management is required to exercise significant
judgement in estimating the individual products’
future revenue, future costs and the discount
rate used in calculation of the recoverable
amounts. The pharmaceutical industry is
dynamic and the reception of the market to the
Group’s products involves inherent uncertainty.
IR E A FHE B E f 8 R RIS - RRAKA
KatE el ¢ B ER TR RS AELE
R - -BETEIHZL mHEE E&E
EmNEXEESNERETHERE -

We have identified the assessment of the
impairment of intangible assets as a key
audit matter because determining the level
of impairment, if any, involves a significant
degree of management judgement in estimating
the recoverable amounts, which is inherently
uncertain and could be subject to management
bias.

BB HBELEENREN A —ARREE
RER RERETCRENKT (E)FRER
ERAEFA RS ERELDNERAR KA
BEETHEEAZLAIEXIEEERRINTE

comparing the data in discounted cash flow forecast
prepared in the prior year with the current year’s
performance and making enquiries of management as

to the reasons for any significant variations identified

to assess how accurate the prior year’s discounted cash
flow forecast was and whether there is any indication of
management bias; and

i E—AFERENEFTRFREBAMBEEARFE
MRIVETHE  YAREEEEFNERRINERERDN
JRE - RHE E—EFER 2 RE RS TER 6 £
MUARREFHEEMERRBRENTR &

performing a sensitivity analysis of the key assumptions

and considering the resulting impact on the impairment

assessment and whether there were any indicators of

management bias.

HARBRETRREDN - WEBAEESREN G
IRWENNEZEFEEFREEERENTR -
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INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S REPORT
THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual
report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our

auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance

conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be

materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are respansible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the IASB and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
respansible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting

process.

EENACHMBHRRAREN
BfE

EEAAARBERGHENEEGEM
M BIFR B S S R G 5T BRI R EE AR
ROV ERERREEEM QIR
ZEFAUBHRER UABREERA/RE
REMBMERMLFNBBALES - SA
R A M RRORETFE B R EGE
k55 AR T B B E K # aR R A
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is
made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person

for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations

or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an

opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B AZBEN RS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDITOF THE KB BRGSHERREA
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) AENEE®

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used e
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related

disclosures made by the directors.

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s repaort to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a

going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that

achieves fair presentation.

. Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient e
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business units within the group as a basis
for forming an opinion on the group financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of
the audit work performed for purposes of the group audit. We

remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other ~ ISt T TERTEI S E MR - £
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant #ZBRFPHNETE IR (BIEALFEHHE
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal — KER%) R EMEHEEZZSSHITED -

control that we identify during our audit.

YICHANG HEC CHANGJIANG PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2024



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and,
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Cheng Chu Fai.

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

28 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

e = Fag N

A 2 [ W am

TR

for the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Renminbi)
(ZEZFNF+ A=+ —HIEFE (UARBE7])

2024 2023
—EDmE T =F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
e AR¥Tx ARET T
Revenue EER 3 3,723,783 6,294,585
Cost of sales SHE KA (929,725)|  (1,308,821)
Gross profit EX 2,794,058 4,985,764
Other net income/(loss) HAFUWA S (BE) 4 31,773 (499,800)
Distribution costs AR (1,153,994)  (1,547,150)
Administrative expenses THREEMY (385,374) (385,702)
Research and development costs i 3% g AR (493,443) (192,287)
Recognition on impairment loss of WRE 5 K E b IR
trade and other receivables FEEE (118,539) (6,627)
Other operating expenses HEMasEmmxy (12) -
Profit from operations KRR 674,469 2,354,198
Finance costs & A AR 5(a) (97,529) (227,398)
Share of profit/(loss) of an associate Ak I= i ENECTb Y | A SE= ) 293 (29)
Profit before taxation BRBE AT T 5 577,233 2,126,771
Income tax Frig i 6 (94,521) (270,945)
Profit for the year FREF 482,712 1,855,826
Profit and total comprehensive income SEERUTEEHMNERBIR
for the year attributable to: ZHENBEE:
Equity shareholders of the Company KAaE=FAA 482,712 1,992,624
Non-controlling interests FEFE IR i 12 - (136,798)
Profit and total comprehensive income FREFNR EEKSEHEEE
for the year 482,712 1,855,826
Earnings per share BRER 9
Basic and diluted ERREE RMBO0.55 RMB2.26

The notes on pages 180 to 316 form part of these financial
statements. Details of dividends payable to equity shareholders of
the Company attributable to the profit for the year are set out in

Note 26(b).
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

a8

e

AR

at 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Renminbi)
RZEZMFE+=—HA=+—H

31 December

(AAREZ75)

31 December

2024 2023
—E-E B
+=A=+—8 +=—A=1+—H
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
e AR¥BTrx ARE®ETT
Non-current assets IRBEE
Fixed assets [l E & B 10
— Property, plant and equipment — W BE REFE 3,617,986 3,398,369
— Right-of-use assets — PREEE 345,585 342,055
3,963,571 3,740,424
Intangible assets | EAE 11 2,503,625 2,565,626
Interests in an associate /NS 25,464 12,571
Financial assets measured at fair value  IZARBETEHHE
through profit or loss (“FVPL”) FFABENESREE 13 17,066 19,587
Prepayments T 3k IE 14 650,078 115,379
Deferred tax assets RIETR IR B E 25(b) 236,008 237,686
7,395,812 6,691,273
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 15 645,929 409,050
Trade and other receivables i‘éﬁ%&ﬁmmﬁxlﬁ 16 2,257,335 2,112,798
Prepayments TERT KT 326,910 270,809
Financial assets measured at FVPL % ’Aﬁfﬁfﬁ?iﬂ,ﬁ\“
ATABRGNEREE 13 3,839 18,686
Restricted cash XRHHEE 17 395,613 1,567,300
Cash and cash equivalents RekReFEER 18 1,403,777 1,674,413
5,033,403 6,053,056
Current liabilities REAE
Trade and other payables B 5 M E MR IR 20 1,467,646 1,755,352
Contract liabilities aRAaE 19 29,546 101,448
Bank loans and other borrowings IRITER R EAER 21 1,331,611 2,319,518
Lease liabilities HEAE 22 3,418 359
Deferred income BT S 23 8,079 8,195
Financial liabilities measured at FVPL BARBEFEEEEH
FAERNERARE 13 - 1,139
Current taxation BN ERFH IR 25(@a) 231 146,209

The notes on pages 180 to 316 form part of these financial

statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

sre MBI R

at 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Renminbi)
RZZBZOF+ZA=1+—8 (AAREZ%)

31 December

31 December

2024 2023
—ZoIEF —T=F
+=A=+-8 +=A=t-~
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
ez AR®TR AREBTET
| . 840,531 | 4,332,220
Netcurrentassets =~~~ w"E®EERE | 2192872 1,720,836
Total assets less current liabilities = ®EERABAS/ | 9588684 | 8412109
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Bank loans and ather borrowings RITEFRREMET 21 889,235 288,286
Lease liabilities HEBE 22 10,571 1,165
Deferred income R E W = 23 180,682 187,145
.| .. 1,080,488 ] 476,536
Net assets REE 8,508,196 7,935,513
Capital and reserves EAXR#E 26
Share capital [N 879,968 879,968
Reserves & 7,628,228 7,055,545
Total equity attributable to equity AAFERRREGEER
shareholders of the Company 8,508,196 7,935,513
Total equity A RE R 8,508,196 7,935,513
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 BfE KXo mHEETeRN _E _FFE=H

March 2025.

Tang Xinfa
B
Director

EF

The notes on pages 180 to 316 form part of these financial

statements.

N\ BHEREETE

Jiang Juncai
BT
Director

EF

o

F180=E 316 B 2 M B ZEMERE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

—H— N\ 7
T / ~ /|\E.|/|\ %jj %

/\\/ \

for the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Renminbi)
HEZZ-WF+-A=1T—ALEFEUUAREZ)

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

FARBERRES
Non-
Share Capital Statutory Retained controlling Total
capital reserve reserve earnings Total interests equity
[ BAfRE EERE REEF B FERER BRAE
Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Wi AR®TR ARETR  ARETRT  ARETRT  ARMTR  ARETT  ARETR
Note 26(c) Note 26(d)(i) ~ Note 26(d)(ii)
#izE 26(c) 3% 26(d) () 3T 26(d)ii)
Balanceat1January2023 R=B=-=F-F-AH
3 879,968 2,610,409 328,696 2,065,811 5,884,884 185,117 6,070,001
Changesinequity for2023: —B-=FHEZREH:
Profit/(loss) and total EREH/(BE) R
comprehensive income for 2 A EE
the year - - - 1,992,624 1,992,624 (136,798) 1,855,826
Equity-settled share-based ~ WIEZEERHRH X
payments - 45,136 - - 45,136 - 45,136
Acquisition of non-controlling  YRBE SFIRRRIE 2
interests - 12,869 - - 12,869 (48,319) (35,450)
Appropriation of statutory ~ REVEE ATES
reserve - - 111,291 (111,291 - - -
Balance at 31December 2023 W=Z==%+=j
and 1 January 2024 Zt-HR=BCRF
-R-RiEs 879,968 2,668,414 439,987 3,947,144 7,935,513 - 7,935,513
Changesin equity for2024: —E-MENEZEH .
Profit and total comprehensive  FEFIR 2 A 25
income for the year - - - 482,712 482,712 - 482,712
Equity-settled share-based ~ WA EHRH XA
payments 24 - 89,971 - - 89,971 - 89,971
Balance at 31 December 2024 W-Z-M%+=A
=t-HHEE 879,968 2,758,385 439,987 4,429,856 8,508,196 - 8,508,196

The notes on pages 180 to 316 form part of these financial

statements.
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

an\ Eﬁi /ﬁiﬁ%

for the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Renminbi)
(ZEZFNF+ A=+ —HIEFE (UARBE7])

2024 2023
—FomFE ZET-=F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Mz AR¥®Tr ARETT
Operating activities REEH
Cash generated from operations KEEENES 18(b) 328,239 1,903,697
The People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) B X fHHyPZE A R ME
Corporate Income Tax (“CIT”) paid ([ E]) B
(T{ERMFHI) 25(a) (238,821) (230,485)
Net cash generated from operating RETHEENESFE
activities 89,418 1,673,212
Investing activities RETH
Interest received B U F B 72,211 60,753
Proceeds from disposal of unlisted equity H%& 3 E TR A B SIS RIE
securities - 2,312,320
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets H & & gt & E TS FUA 2,763,105 1,594,645
Payments for the purchase of property, BEWE - BEN
plant and equipment BN e (968,303) (343,718)
Payments for purchase of listed equity BB £ TR ANE S5 AT 5108
securities 13(0) - (15,200)
Dividends received from listed equity B E TR AR HR B
securities 309 247
Payment for investment in an associate & & B N BT (12,600) (12,600)
Payments for development cost F ST M P 308 (101,752) (209,938)
Payments for the purchase of intangible B8 EE & EFT 3R
assets (112,048) (41,422)
Decrease/(increase) in restricted cash ZREIR SR, () 1,171,687 (1,490,519)
Payments for investments in financial KEMEEMNHIA
assets (2,760,105) (1,300,000)
Proceeds received from disposal of HEME - BE R
property, plant and equipment B{lIECE/ e 35,757 -

The notes on pages 180 to 316 form part of these financial

statements.

— 15 -

YICHANG HEC CHANGJIANG PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2024

F180E316 B 2 B ZE T B hE



e

2R

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOVV STATEMENT

MER

for the year ended 31 December 2024 (Expressed in Renminbi)
BE_ZE_NMF+_A=+T—HBLEFEUARKZ7))

2024 2023
—FomFE ZET-=F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
ez AR®TR AREBTET
Net cash generated from REZHBRSEE
investing activities 88,261 554,568
Financing activities AMEEE
Praceeds from hank loans RITERATS A 18(c) 1,221,492 1,964,063
Proceeds from borrowings under sale BERMAER S8 ERAEHIE
and leaseback transactions 18(c) 300,000 200,000
Repayments of bank loans BEEITER 18(c) (1,684,631) (255,929)
Payments for capital element of ERMEBRHEERN
obligations arising from sale and EBHNERBD R
leaseback transactions 18(c) (174,287) (150,000)
Repurchase of convertible bonds LA Bl =g s 18(c) - (3,047,989)
Interest paid BT E 18(c) (93,419) (138,322)
Payment for acquisition of Wit B FE 15 AR W 2 P 5P 5K IE
non-controlling interests 12 - (35,450)
Other borrowing costs paid B EL i f8 SR AR (13,907) (3,853)
Payments of capital element and HERBREARHY &
interest element of lease liabilities M B &5 it 58 18(c) (3,185) (419)
Deposits paid for sale and leaseback ERERZSHNEFIZES
transactions (376) (9,000)
Netcashusedin financingactivites =~ MRZRBAARSAE |  (448313)) (1,476,899)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and iﬁ%&iﬁﬁ%fﬁlﬁ B#
cash equivalents W), N (270,634) 750,881
Cash and cash equivalentsat 1 January R—A—HHBEER
Re%EERA 1,674,413 923,543
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes /'\EE RS EHHN T E (2) (11)
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December R+ —A=+—HMEE
RREEERE 18(a) 1,403,777 1,674,413

The notes on pages 180 to 316 form part of these financial

statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BTSRRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B AN

1

BIUAARESITR)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable IFRS Accounting Standards
as issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board (“IASB”) and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These financial
statements also comply with the applicable disclosure
provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). Material accounting policies adopted by the
Group are disclosed below.

The IASB has issued certain amendments IFRS Accounting
Standards that are first effective or available for early
adoption for the current accounting period of the
Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as “the
Group”). Note 1(c) provides information on any changes
in accounting policies resulting from initial application of
these developments to the extent that they are relevant
to the Group for the current accounting periods reflected
in these financial statements.

1
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B FS R I ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(b)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2024 comprise the Company and its
subsidiaries.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
financial statements is the historical cost basis except
for other investments in securities (See Note 1(g)), and

derivative financial instruments (See Note 1(p)).

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
RMB, which is the functional currency of the Group. The
financial statements presented in RMB has been rounded
to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise indicated.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with IFRS Accounting Standards requires management
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the application of policies and reported amounts
of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factars that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results
of which form the basis of making the judgements about
carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BTSRRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B AN

1
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BIUAARESITR)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(b)

(c)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements

(continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of
IFRS Accounting Standards that have significant effect on
the financial statements and major sources of estimation

uncertainty are discussed in Note 2.

Changes in accounting policies

The Group has applied the following amendments to
IFRS Accounting Standards issued by the IASB to these
financial statements for the current accounting period:

J Amendments to IAS 1, Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants and Amendment to IAS 1, Classification
of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

. Amendments to IFRS 16, Lease Liability in a Sale
and Leaseback

. Amendments to IAS 7 and IFRS 7, Supplier Finance
Arrangements

1
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B FS R I ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

()

(d)

Changes in accounting policies (continued)

These new and amended IFRSs Accounting Standards
have not had a material effect on how the Group’s
results and financial position for the current or prior
periods have been prepared or presented in this interim
financial report. The Group has not applied any new
standard or interpretation that is not yet effective for
the current accounting period.

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the entity. When assessing whether the
Group has power, only substantive rights (held by the

Group and other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that
control commences until the date that control ceases.
Intra-group balances, transactions and cash flows
and any unrealised profits arising from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in full in preparing the
consaolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses
resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in
the same way as unrealised gains but only to the extent
that there is no evidence of impairment.
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BIUAARESITR)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(d)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (continued)

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the
Company, and in respect of which the Group has not
agreed any additional terms with the holders of those
interests which would result in the Group as a whole
having a contractual obligation in respect of those
interests that meets the definition of a financial liability.
For each business combination, the Group can elect to
measure any non-controlling interests either at fair
value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate
share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position within
equity, separately from equity attributable to the equity
shareholders of the Company. Non-controlling interests
in the results of the Group are presented on the face of
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as an allocation of the total
profit or loss and total comprehensive income for the
year between non-controlling interests and the equity
shareholders of the Company.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made to
the amounts of controlling and non-controlling interests
within consolidated equity to reflect the change in
relative interests, but no adjustments are made to
goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B FS R I ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(d)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it
derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary,
and any related non-controlling interests and other
components of equity. Any resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that
former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is
recognised at fair value and this amount is regarded as
the fair value on initial recognition of a financial asset ar,
when appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate or joint venture.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less
impairment losses (See Note 1(k)(ii)) unless the
investment is classified as held to sale (or included in a
disposal group that is classified as held for sale).
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BIUAARESITR)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(e)

Associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group or the
Company has significant influence, but not control or
joint control, over the financial and operating policies.

An interest in an associate is accounted for using the
equity method, unless it is classified as held for sale (or

included in a disposal group classified as held for sale).

They are initially recognised at cost, which includes
transaction costs. Subsequently, the consolidated
financial statements include the Group’s share of the
profit or loss and other comprehensive income (“0CI”)
of those investees, until the date on which significant
influence ceases.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in
the associate, the Group’s interest is reduced to nil and
recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the investee.
For this purpose, the Group’s interest is the carrying
amount of the investment under the equity method,
together with any other long-term interests that in
substance form part of the Group’s net investment in the
assaciate, after applying the ECL model to such other
long-term interests where applicable (see Note 1(k)(i)).

Unrealised gains arising from transactions with equity-
accounted investees are eliminated against the
investment to the extent of the Group’s interest in the
investee. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same
way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent there is
no evidence of impairment.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B FS R I ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(e)

U]

Associates (continued)

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
an investment in an associate is stated at cost less
impairment losses (see Note 1(k)(ii)), unless it is
classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal group
classified as held for sale).

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of

(i)  the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interest in the acquiree and the fair value of the
Group’s previously held equity interest in the

acquiree; over

(i)  the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable
assets and liabilities measured as at the acquisition
date.

When (ii) is greater than (i), then this excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a gain on a bargain

purchase.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment
losses. Goodwill arising on a business combination is
allocated to each cash-generating unit, or groups of cash
generating units, that is expected to benefit from the
synergies of the comhbination and is tested annually for
impairment (See Note 1(k)(ii)).

On disposal of a cash generating unit during the year, any
attributable amount of purchased goodwill is included in
the calculation of the profit or loss on disposal.
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BIUAARESITR)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(g)

Other investments in securities

The Group’s policies for investments in securities, other
than investments in subsidiaries and associates, are set
out below.

Investments in securities are recognised/derecognised
on the date the Group commits to purchase/sell the
investments. The investments are initially stated at fair
value plus directly attributable transaction costs, except
for those investments measured at fair value through
profit or loss (FVPL) for which transaction costs are
recognised directly in profit or loss. For an explanation
of how the Group determines fair value of financial
instruments, see Note 27(e).

(i) Non-equity investments

Non-equity investments are classified into one of

the following measurement categories:

— amortised cost, if the investment is held
for the collection of contractual cash flows
which represent solely payments of principal
and interest. Expected credit losses, interest
income calculated using the effective interest
method (see note 1(v)(ii)(a)), foreign exchange
gains and losses are recognised in profit or
loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is

recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 755 B vt

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B = BB - GAAREIIR)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 1 EAEFHE®E)
(g) Other investments in securities (continued) (g) MEBEHFHNHEHMIRE (B)
()  Non-equity investments (continued) () FBREREHE)
FVOCI (recycling), if the contractual cash BAnEBEFZAR
flows of the investment comprise solely HEFHTAEME
payments of principal and interest and the Mz (AJ#EE) -
investment is held within a business model WMZENEHNIERE
whose objective is achieved by both the NEEREAE R

collection of contractual cash flows and
sale. Expected credit losses, interest income

AMERMZK BRE
TR E B ® AR

(calculated using the effective interest WREHNREmE
method) and foreign exchange gains and REENEBEN

losses are recognised in profit or loss and
computed in the same manner as if the

financial asset was measured at amortised
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cost. The difference between the fair value KE R W REE
and the amortised cost is recognised in OCI. RIEEEBER - I LA
When the investment is derecognised, the B LB SE A ARG 2
amount accumulated in OCl is recycled from HerEEMRR
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FVPL if the investment does not meet the
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criteria for being measured at amortised cost HEHAAER
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of the investment (including interest) are KA IE AR E
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YICHANG HEC CHANGJIANG PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2024

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(g)

Other investments in securities (continued)

(ii)

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified
as FVPL unless the investment is not held for
trading purposes and on initial recognition of
the investment the Group makes an irrevocable
election to designate the investment at FVOCI
(non-recycling) such that subsequent changes in
fair value are recognised in other comprehensive
income. Such elections are made on an instrument-
by-instrument basis, but may only be made if
the investment meets the definition of equity
from the issuer’s perspective. Where such an
election is made, the amount accumulated in other
comprehensive income remains in the fair value
reserve (non-recycling) until the investment is
disposed of. At the time of disposal, the amount
accumulated in the fair value reserve (non-
recycling) is transferred to retained earnings. It is
not recycled through profit or loss. Dividends from
an investment in equity securities, irrespective
of whether classified as at FVPL or FVOCI, are
recognised in profit or loss as other income.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B FS R I ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(h)

Property, plant and equipment

The following items of property, plant and equipment
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses (See Note 1(k)(ii)):

— Plant and buildings held for own use which are
situated on leasehold land (See Note 1(j)); and

—  Other items of property, plant and equipment.

The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant and
equipment includes the cost of materials, direct labour
and the initial estimate, where relevant, of the costs
of dismantling and removing the items and restoring
the site on which they are located, and an appropriate
proportion of production overheads and borrowing costs
(See Note 1(w)).

Construction in progress is transferred to respective
items under property, plant and equipment when it is
ready for its intended use. No depreciation is provided

against canstruction in progress.

ltems may be produced while bringing an item of
property, plant and equipment to the location and
condition necessary for it to be capable of operating
in the manner intended by management. The proceeds
from selling any such items and the related costs are

recognised in profit or loss.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of
an item of property, plant and equipment are determined
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the item and are recognised in

profit or loss on the date of retirement or disposal.
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BIUAARESITR)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(h)

0]

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation is calculated to write-off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment, less their estimated
residual value, if any, using the straight-line method over
their estimated useful lives as follows:

—  Plant and buildings situated on leasehold land are
depreciated over the shorter of the unexpired term
of lease and their estimated useful lives, being no
more than 50 years after the date of completion

—  Machinery 10-15 years
—  Motor vehicles 10 years
—  Office equipment and others 5-8 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of the item is
allocated on a reasonable basis between the parts and
each part is depreciated separately. Both the useful life
of an asset and its residual value, if any, are reviewed

annually.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Expenditure on research activities is recognised in
profit or loss as incurred. Expenditure on development
activities is capitalised if the product or process is
technically and commercially feasible and the Group
has sufficient resources and the intention to complete
development. The expenditure capitalised includes the
costs of materials, direct labour, and an appropriate
proportion of overheads. Other development expenditure
is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is
incurred.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B FS R I ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

0]

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (continued)

Development cost under intangible assets is transferred
to respective items under intangible assets when it is
ready for its intended use. No amortisation is provided

against development cost.

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group
are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation (where
the estimated useful life is finite) and impairment losses
(See Note 1(k)(ii)). Expenditure on internally generated
goodwill and brands is recognised in profit or loss as

incurred.

Amaortisation of intangible assets with finite useful
lives is charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis
over the assets’ estimated useful lives. The following
intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortised
from the date they are available for use and their
estimated useful lives are as follows:

—  Patents 10-13 years

—  Drug’s intellectual property rights 10 years
Both the period and method of amortisation are reviewed

annually.

Intangible assets are not amortised while their useful
lives are assessed to be indefinite. Any conclusion that
the useful life of an intangible asset is indefinite is
reviewed annually to determine whether events and
circumstances continue to support the indefinite useful
life assessment for that asset. If they do not, the change
in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is
accounted for prospectively from the date of change
and in accordance with the policy for amortisation of

intangible assets with finite lives as set out above.
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BIUAARESITR)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

®

Lease assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether
the contract is, or contains, a lease. This is the case
if the contract conveys the right to control the use of
an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
cansideration. Control is conveyed where the customer
has both the right to direct the use of the identified asset
and to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits
from that use.

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and
non-lease component(s), the Group has elected not
to separate non-lease components and accounts for
each lease component and any associated non-lease
components as a single lease component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises
a right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less and
leases of low-value assets. When the Group enters into a
lease in respect of a low-value asset, the Group decides
whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis.
If not capitalised, the associated lease payments are
recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over
the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is
initially recognised at the present value of the lease
payments payable over the lease term, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition, the
lease liability is measured at amortised cost and interest
expense is recognised using the effective interest
methaod. Variable lease payments that do not depend on
an index or rate are not included in the measurement
of the lease liability, and are charged to profit or loss as
incurred.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B FS R I ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

®

Lease assets (continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is
capitalised is initially measured at cost, which comprises
the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any
lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, plus any initial direct costs incurred. Where
applicable, the cost of the right-of-use assets also
includes an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove
the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset
or the site on which it is located, discounted to their
present value, less any lease incentives received. The
right-of-use asset is subsequently stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (See
Note 1(k)(ii)).

The initial fair value of refundable rental deposits is
accounted for separately from the right-of-use assets
in accordance with the accounting policy applicable
to investments in debt securities carried at amortised
cost. Any difference between the initial fair value and
the nominal value of the deposits is accounted for as
additional lease payments made and is included in the
cost of right-of-use assets.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change
in future lease payments arising from a change in an
index or rate, if there is a change in the Group’s estimate
of the amount expected to be payable under a residual
value guarantee, or there is a change arising from the
reassessment of whether the Group will be reasonably
certain to exercise a purchase, extension or termination
option. When the lease liability is remeasured in this
way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit
or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset
has been reduced to zero.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

®

Lease assets (continued)

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a
lease modification, which means a change in the scope
of a lease or the consideration for a lease that is not
originally provided for in the lease contract, if such
modification is not accounted for as a separate lease. In
this case, the lease liability is remeasured based on the
revised lease payments and lease term using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the madification.

In the consolidated statement of financial position,
the current portion of long-term lease liabilities is
determined as the present value of contractual payments
that are due to be settled within twelve months after
the reporting period.

For sale and leaseback transactions, the Group considers
whether the initial transfer of the underlying asset to
the buyer-lessor is a sale. The Group applies IFRS 15 to

determine whether a sale has taken place.

When the transfer to buyer-lessor is a sale, the Group
derecognises the underlying asset and applies the
lessee accounting model to the leaseback — the Group
measures the right-of-use asset at the retained portion
of the previous carrying amount (i.e. at cost), and
recognises only the amount of any gain or loss related to
the rights transferred to the lessor.

When the transfer to buyer-lessor is not a sale, the
Group continues to recognise the underlying asset, and
recognises a financial liability for any amount received

from the buyer-lessor.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B FS R I ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets

0]

Credit losses from financial instruments

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected
credit losses (ECLs) on the financial assets
measured at amortised cost (including cash and
cash equivalents, trade and other receivables).

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Generally, credit losses are measured as
the present value of all expected cash shortfalls
between the contractual and expected amounts.

The maximum period considered when estimating
ECLs is the maximum contractual period over
which the Group is exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account
reasonable and supportable information that
is available without undue cost or effort. This
includes information about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions.
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(B =BHEAN GUARKEIITR)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 1
(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments

(continued)
Measurement of ECLs (continued)

ECLs are measured on either of the following
bases:

— 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from possible default
events that are possible within the 12
months after the reporting date (or a shorter
period if the expected life of the instrument

is less than 12 months); and

—  lifetime ECLs: these are the ECLs that result
from all possible default events over the
expected lives of the items to which the ECL
model applies.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B FS R I ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

0]

Credit losses from financial instruments

(continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)

Loss allowances for trade and other receivables are
always measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs. ECLs on these financial assets are estimated
using a provision matrix based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, current market
conditions and forward-looking information.
According to the past experience of the Group,
the loss patterns for different customers are not
significantly different. Therefore, the receivables
are not segmented when calculating the loss
allowance.

For all other financial instruments, the Group
recognises a loss allowance equal to 12-month
ECLs unless there has been a significant increase in
credit risk of the financial instrument since initial
recognition, in which case the loss allowance is

measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
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1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

0]

YICHANG HEC CHANGJIANG PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Credit losses from financial instruments

(continued)

Significant increases in credit risk

When determining whether the credit risk of a
financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares the
risk of default occurring on the financial instrument
assessed at the reporting date with that assessed
at the date of initial recognition. In making this
reassessment, the Group considers that a default
event occurs when (i) the borrower is unlikely
to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full,
without recourse by the Group to actions such as
realising security (if any is held); or (ii) the financial
asset is 90 days past due. The Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit risk

has increased significantly since initial recognition:

—  failure to make payments of principal or

interest on their contractually due dates;

— anactual or expected significant deterioration
in a financial instrument’s external or

internal credit rating (if available);
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 755 B vt

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

BHEBA  HUAAREIIR)

(Bf

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 1 EXEFBEm®

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

0]

Credit losses from financial instruments

(continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (continued)

— anactual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor; and

— existing or forecast changes in the
technological, market, economic or legal
environment that have a significant adverse
effect on the debtor’s ability to meet its
obligation to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial
instruments, the assessment of a significant
increase in credit risk is performed on either an
individual basis or a collective basis. When the
assessment is performed on a collective basis, the
financial instruments are grouped based on shared
credit risk characteristics, such as past due status

and credit risk ratings.
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1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

0]

YICHANG HEC CHANGJIANG PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Credit losses from financial instruments

(continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (continued)

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to
reflect changes in the financial instrument’s
credit risk since initial recognition. Any change in
the ECL amount is recognised as an impairment
gain or loss in profit or loss. The Group recognises
an impairment gain or loss for all financial
instruments with a corresponding adjustment to
their carrying amount through a loss allowance
account, except for investments in non-equity
securities that are measured at FVOCI (recycling),
for which the loss allowance is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the fair

value reserve (recycling).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B FS R I ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

0]

Credit losses from financial instruments

(continued)

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised in accordance with Note
1(v)(ii) is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial
asset is credit-impaired, in which case interest
income is calculated based on the amortised cost
(i.e. the gross carrying amount less loss allowance)
of the financial asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses
whether a financial asset is credit-impaired. A
financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset
have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired

includes the following observable events:

— significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

— a breach of contract, such as a default or

delinquency in interest or principal payments;
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1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

0]

YICHANG HEC CHANGJIANG PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Credit losses from financial instruments

(continued)

Basis of calculation of interest income (continued)

— it becoming probable that the borrower
will enter into bankruptcy or other financial

rearganisation; or

— significant changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that

have an adverse effect on the debtor.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is
written-off (either partially or in full) to the extent
that there is no realistic prospect of recovery.
This is generally the case when the asset becomes
365 days past due or when the Group determines
that the debtor does not have assets or sources of
income that could generate sufficient cash flows to

repay the amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was
previously written-off are recognised as a reversal
of impairment in profit or loss in the period in

which the recovery occurs.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B FS R I ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(ii)

Impairment of other non-current assets

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to
identify indications that the following assets may
be impaired or, except in the case of goodwill, an
impairment loss previously recognised no longer

exists or may have decreased:

—  Property, plant and equipment;

—  Right-of-use assets;

— Intangible assets;

—  Goodwill;

— Interests in an associate;

—  Prepayments; and

— Investments in subsidiaries in the Company’s

statement of financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. In addition, for goodwill
and intangible assets that are not yet available
for use, the recoverable amount is estimated
annually whether or not there is any indication of

impairment.
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BIUAARESITR)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(ii) Impairment of other non-current assets

(continued)

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is
the greater of its fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset. Where an
asset does not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other assets, the
recoverable amount is determined for the
smallest group of assets that generates cash
inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating
unit). A portion of the carrying amount of
a corporate asset (for example, head office
building) is allocated to an individual cash-
generating unit if the allocation can be done
on a reasonable and consistent basis, or to
the smallest group of cash-generating units
if otherwise.

1

BERETBE®)
EEFAREERE (&)

HibERBEERE (F)

AT E A O 2 E

BEMAKEEE
RARBERHEE
AR A K B (B
MEBNRSE -
EHEEREE
R @ RRRE R
MEHERRHHEE
BREERTER
B ¥ fil B9 % A 37 3R
o EEFRKR
EREFTHREHR
B WEEYEE
ERBUE LN EAD
BEMRERA
AR B ELER
ERANRNEE
Mpl (MREEE
BA) EE AR E
T8 o 0 B A IR
EREE-HEEE
17 RAIEE (A
HARE) WA D K
[EIN =Rl R R
TELEEM TR
DREZNPHRE
ELBEAAR -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B FS R I ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(ii) Impairment of other non-current assets

(continued)

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit
or loss if the carrying amount of an asset,
or the cash-generating unit to which it
belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses recognised in respect of
cash-generating units are allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the cash-generating unit (or
group of unites) and then, to reduce the
carrying amount of the other assets in the
unit (or group of units) on a pro rata basis,
except that the carrying value of an asset will
not be reduced below its individual fair value
less costs of disposal (if measurable) or value
in use (if measurable).
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(ii) Impairment of other non-current assets

(continued)

Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an
impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favorable change in the estimates used
to determine the recoverable amount. An
impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not

reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited
to the asset’s carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised in prior years. Reversals
of impairment losses are credited to profit
or loss in the year in which the reversals are

recognised.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B FS R I ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets (continued)

(iii)

Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange, the Group is required to
prepare an interim financial report in compliance
with IAS 34, Interim financial reporting, in respect
of the first six months of the financial year. At the
end of the interim period, the Group applies the
same impairment testing, recognition, and reversal
criteria as it would at the end of the financial year
(See Notes 1(k)(i) and (ii)).

Impairment losses recognised in an interim
period in respect of goodwill are not reversed in a
subsequent period. This is the case even if no loss,
or a smaller loss, would have been recognised had
the impairment been assessed only at the end
of the financial year to which the interim period
relates.
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BIUAARESITR)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

o

Inventories

Inventories are assets which are held for sale in the
ordinary course of business, in the process of production
for such sale or in the form of materials or supplies to be
consumed in the production process or in the rendering

of services.

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net
realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost
formula and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of
conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in
which the related revenue is recognised.

The amount of any write-down of inventories to
net realisable value and all losses of inventories are
recognised as an expense in the period the write-down
or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-
down of inventaries is recognised as a reduction in the
amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the
period in which the reversal occurs.

A right to recover returned goods is recognised for the
right to recover products from customers sold with a
right of return. It is measured in accordance with the
policy set out in Note 1(v)(i).
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(m) Contract liabilities

(n)

(o)

A contract liability is recognised when the customer
pays non-refundable consideration before the Group
recognises the related revenue (See Note 1(v)). A
contract liability is also recognised if the Group has
an unconditional right to receive non-refundable
consideration before the Group recognises the related
revenue. In such latter cases, a corresponding receivable

is also recognised (See Note 1(n)).

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right to
receive consideration is unconditional if only the passage
of time is required before payment of that consideration
is due.

Trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component are initially measured at their
transaction price. Trade receivables that contain a
significant financing component and other receivables
are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs.
All receivables are subsequently stated at amortised
cost using the effective interest method and including
allowance for credit losses (See Note 1(k)(i)).

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at
fair value less transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at
amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would
be immaterial, in which case they are stated at invoice
amounts.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BTSRRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B AN

1

YICHANG HEC CHANGJIANG PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2024

BIUAARESITR)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(p)

(q)

(r)

Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are recognised at fair
value. At the end of each reporting period the fair value
is remeasured. The gain or loss on remeasurement to fair

value is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair
value. Subsequent to initial recognition, trade and other
payables are stated at amortised cost unless the effect
of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at invoice amounts.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on
hand, demand depaosits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value, having been within three months of maturity at
acquisition. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for
ECLs in accordance with the policy set out in the Note

1(k)().
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B FS R I ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(s) Employee benefits

0]

(i)

Short-term employee benefits and contributions

to defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement
plans and the cost of non-monetary benefits are
accrued in the year in which the associated services
are rendered by employees. Where payment or
settlement is deferred and the effect would be
material, these amounts are stated at their present

values.

Annual contributions to retirement benefit
schemes operated by the government in the
PRC are recognised in the profit or loss as and
when incurred, except to the extent that they
are included in the cost of inventories not yet
recognised as an expense.

Share-based payments

The controlling shareholder of the Group operates
an equity-settled share-based compensation plans,
under which the Group receives services from
employees as consideration for equity instruments
of the controlling sharehaolder of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BTSRRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B =BHEAN GUARKEIITR)

1

YICHANG HEC CHANGJIANG PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2024

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(s)

Employee benefits (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Share-based payments (continued)

The fair value of share-based payments awards
granted to employees is recognized as an employee
cost with a corresponding increase in capital
reserves within equity. The fair value is measured
at grant date with reference to the price per share
in the latest equity financing transaction or fair
value valuation techniques, taking into account
the terms and conditions upon which the share-
based payments awards were granted. Where the
employees have to meet vesting conditions before
becoming unconditionally entitled to the shares,
the total estimated fair value of share-based
payments awards is spread over the vesting period,
taking into account the praobability that the shares

will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of shares
that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any resulting
adjustment to the cumulative fair value recognized
in prior periods is charged/credited to the
profit or loss for the period of the review with a
corresponding adjustment to the capital reserves.
On vesting date, the amount recognized as an
expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of
shares that vest (with a corresponding adjustment

to the capital reserve).

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier
of when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits and when it recognises

costs for a restructuring.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B FS R I ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(®)

Income tax

Income tax for the period comprises current tax and
deferred tax. It is recognised in profit or loss except to
the extent that they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case the relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other

comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax comprises the estimated tax payable or
receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year
and any adjustments to the tax payable or receivable
in respect of previous years. The amount of current tax
payable or receivable is the best estimate of the tax
amount expected to be paid or received that reflects
any uncertainty related to income taxes. It is measured
using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
reporting date. Current tax also includes any tax arising
from dividends.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain
criteria are met.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liahilities for financial reporting purposes and the
amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not

recognised far:

— temporary differences on the initial recognition
of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not
a business combination and that affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss and does not
give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences;
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BTSRRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B AN

1

YICHANG HEC CHANGJIANG PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2024

BIUAARESITR)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(®)

Income tax (continued)

— temporary differences related to investment in
subsidiaries and associates to the extent that the
Group is able to control the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences and it is probable that
they will not reverse in the foreseeable future; and

—  taxable tempaorary differences arising on the initial

recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax
losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable profits will be available against which they can
be used. Future taxable profits are determined based on
the reversal of relevant taxable temporary differences.
If the amount of taxable tempaorary differences is
insufficient to recognise a deferred tax asset in full, then
future taxable profits, adjusted for reversals of existing
temporary differences, are considered, based on the
business plans for individual subsidiaries in the Group.
Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting
date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that the related tax benefit will be realised;
such reductions are reversed when the probability of
future taxable profits improves.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if
certain criteria are met.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B FS R I ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(u)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event,
it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made. Where the time value of money
is material, provisions are stated at the present value of
the expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probahility of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more future events are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probahility

of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle
a provision is expected to be reimbursed by another
party, a separate asset is recognised for any expected
reimbursement that would be virtually certain. The
amount recognised for the reimbursement is limited to
the carrying amount of the provision.
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BTSRRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
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1

YICHANG HEC CHANGJIANG PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2024

BIUAARESITR)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(v)

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it
arises from the sale of goods, the provision of services or
the use by others of the Group’s assets under leases in

the ordinary course of the Group’s business.

The Group is the principal for its revenue transactions
and recognises revenue on a gross basis, including the
sale of goods that are sourced externally. In determining
whether the Group acts as a principal or as an agent,
it considers whether it obtains control of the products
before they are transferred to the customers. Control
refers to the Group’s ability to direct the use of and
obtain substantially all of the remaining benefits from
the products.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income

recognition policies are as follows:

(i) Revenue from contracts with customers:

Revenue is recognised when control over a product
or service is transferred to the customer, at the
amount of promised consideration to which the
Group is expected to be entitled, excluding those
amounts collected on behalf of third parties such
as value added tax or other sales taxes.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 755 B vt

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BREBEEHRI  HFUAREITR)
1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 1 EREFHBE®
(v) Revenue and other income (continued) (v) EEHERHEAMWAGE)
(i) Revenue from contracts with customers: (i) REEFEHMNEXE:
(continued) (%)

(a) Sale of goods (a) HEEM®
Revenue is recognised once the products EEEREMERX
delivered to the location designated by the iﬁfﬁﬁ? JE Yl
distributor and accepted as the control EE B OH IR
of the goods are considered to have been R Jh P a8

transferred to the distributor. Payment
terms and conditions vary by customers and
are based on the billing schedule established
in the contracts or purchase orders with
customers, but the Group generally provides
credit terms to customers within six months
upon customer acceptance. The Group
takes advantage of the practical expedient
in paragraph 63 of IFRS 15 and does not
adjust the consideration for any effects of a
significant financing component as the period
of financing is 12 months or less.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R M ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B =BHEAN GUARKEIITR)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 1

(v) Revenue and other income (continued)

(i) Revenue from contracts with customers:

(continued)
(b) License fee

Distributors are required to pay license
fees for their right to access to the Group’s
patents. The license fee is recognised as
revenue when the related sales occur.

(ii) Revenue from other sources and other income

(a) Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues
using the effective interest method. For
financial assets measured at amortised
cost or FVOCI (recycling) that are not credit-
impaired, the effective interest rate is applied
to the gross carrying amount of the asset. For
credit-impaired financial assets, the effective
interest rate is applied to the amortised
cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net of loss
allowance) of the asset (See Note 1(k)(i)).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B FS R I ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(v) Revenue and other income (continued)

(ii) Revenue from other sources and other income

(continued)

(b) Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the
statements of financial position initially when
there is reasonable assurance that they will
be received and that the Group will comply
with the conditions attaching to them. Grants
that compensate the Group for expenses
incurred are recognised as income in profit
or loss on a systematic basis in the same
periods in which the expenses are incurred.
Grants that compensate the Group for the
cost of an asset are recognised initially as
deferred income and amortised to profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the useful
life of the asset by way of recognised in other

income.

(w) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset
which necessarily takes a substantial period of time to
get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as
part of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are
expensed in the period in which they are incurred.
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
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YICHANG HEC CHANGJIANG PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2024

BIUAARESITR)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(w) Borrowing costs (continued)

(x)

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost
of a qualifying asset commences when expenditure for
the asset is being incurred, borrowing costs are being
incurred and activities that are necessary to prepare
the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress.
Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended or ceases
when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare
the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are
interrupted or complete.

Translation of foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the
respective functional currencies of group companies at
the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated into the functional currency at
the exchange rate at the reporting date. Non-monetary
assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value in
a foreign currency are translated into the functional
currency at the exchange rate when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are
measured based on historical cost in a foreign currency
are translated at the exchange rate at the date of the
transaction. Foreign currency differences are generally
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B FS R I ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B = BB - GAAREIIR)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 1 EXREFEHE®

(y) Related parties

(@)

(b)

A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others).

(i)  One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the
other entity is a member).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R M ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B =BHEAN GUARKEIITR)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 1

(y) Related parties (continued)
(b)  (continued)

(iii)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the

Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the
entity.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B FS R I ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(2)

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to
the Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business and
geographical locations.

The chief operating decision maker of the Group assesses
the performance and allocates the resources of the Group
as a whole, as all of the Group’s activities are considered
to be primarily dependent on the performance on sales
of pharmaceutical products. Therefore, management
considers there to be only one operating segment under
the requirements of IFRS 8, Operating Segments. In this
regard, no segment information is presented for the year
end 31 December 2024.

No geographic information is shown as the Group’s
operating profit is derived from activities of manufacture

and sale of pharmaceutical products in the PRC.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R M ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B =BHEAN GUARKEIITR)

2 ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS 2

The key sources of estimation uncertainty and critical
accounting judgments in applying the Group’s accounting
policies are described below.

(@) Impairments

(i) In considering the impairment losses that may be
required for certain property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets, goodwill, right-of-use assets and
prepayments, recaverable amount of these assets
needs to be determined. The recoverable amount is
the greater of the net selling price and the value in
use. It is difficult to precisely estimate selling price
because quoted market prices for these assets
may not be readily available. In determining the
value in use, expected cash flows generated by the
asset are discounted to their present value, which
requires significant judgment relating to items such
as level of revenue and amount of operating costs.
The Group uses all readily available information
in determining an amount that is reasonable
approximation of recoverable amount, including
estimates based on reasonable and supportable
assumptions and projections of items such as
revenue and operating costs.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B FS R I ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

2 ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

(continued)

(a)

(b)

Impairments (continued)

(@ii)  The Group estimates the loss allowances for trade
receivables by assessing the ECLs. This requires the
use of estimates and judgements. ECLs are based
on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, and an assessment of both the current
and forecast general economic conditions at the
end of reporting period. Where the estimation
is different from the original estimate, such
difference will affect the carrying amounts of
trade receivables and thus the impairment loss in
the period in which such estimate is changed. The
Group keeps assessing the expected credit loss of
trade receivables during their expected lives.

Development costs

Development costs are capitalised in accordance with
the accounting policy for research and development
(“R&D”) costs in Note 1(i) to the financial statements.
Critical judgement by the Group’s management is applied
when deciding whether the recognition requirements
for development costs have been met. This is necessary
as the economic success of any product development
is uncertain and may be subject to future technical
problems at the time of recognition. Judgements are
based on the best information available at the end of the
reporting period. In addition, all internal activities related
to the R&D of new products is continuously monitored by

the Group management.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
P e Ead i

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRZEEAH  HAARKETITR)

3 REVENUE 3

The principal activities of the Group are manufacturing and

sales of pharmaceuticals.
Disaggregation of revenue

Revenue represents the sales value of goods supplied to
customers and the license fee. Revenue is after deduction of
any trade discounts. The amount of each significant category

of revenue is as follows:

LR

AEENETEXHEREREENEE

ERBEDH

EEBEHELAEPNERNEE
BEKMFAE EEXBCNBREM
BHWM - SEBEEEHINS
BT

2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTR
Revenue from contracts with customers F& FBIFR 81 5 R &5 RIS 1558
within the scope of IFRS 15 HERNHWREEFEHAZ
E £
Sales of anti-viral drugs HERSEY) 2,584,574 5,580,477
Sales of endocrine and metabolic drugs — $5% R 2 W K X B 22 249,009 164,174
Sales of cardiovascular drugs SHEOIME ZEY) 270,249 184,117
Sales of anti-infectives drugs THE PR R YY) 114,676 106,919
Sales of other medical products and HE MY R Al &
license fee 505,275 258,898
3,723,783 6,294,585

The Group’s customer base is diversified and includes four
customers (2023: three) with whom transactions have
exceeded 10% of the Group’s revenue for the year ended 31
December 2024, including sales to entities which are known to
the Group to be under common control with single customer.
Revenue from these customers amounted to approximately
RMB1,894,720,000 (2023: RMB3,533,998,000). Details of
concentrations of credit risk arising from these customers are
set out in Note 27(a).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 755 B vt

OTHER NET INCOME/(LOSS)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B

BAANRESIR)

4 HAFKA(EHE)

2024 2023
—E-E —E-=F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt 5 ARBTR ARBTR
Impairment loss on intangible assets & & & 5 (B &5 18 11 (86,518) (485,393)
Government grants BT 48 B
— Unconditional subsidies — M4 B 17,608 8,778
— Conditional subsidies — BRI E) 23 8,079 8,195
Interest income B WA 70,279 57,775
Net gain/(loss) on disposal of fixed HEBTEEEZ
assets Fls (BE) 10,331 (526)
Fair value change on derivative AR ERERE
financial instruments embedded TEEEIAR
in convertible bonds ARBEEE - (79,796)
Fair value change on investment in ~ BAZEAEZREK
equity securities RAEEES 13(i) (2,521) 4,387
Fair value change on investment LEESREDN
in a private fund NREEE 13(ii) 734 -
Net gain on foreign currency HNES BRFE & K080 F e
option contracts 13(iii) 7,681 17,547
Investment income from a trust IR AR SR ERA
investment scheme - 4,645
Investment income from investment BRZARFEH & & KR E WA
in equity securities 310 -
Investment income from investment FLEESEE NI EWRA
in a private fund 13(ii) 8,105 -
Net foreign exchange loss M W B 1EF R (2,889) (34,407)
Others Hith 574 (1,005)
31,773 (499,800)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R M ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B =BHEAN GUARKEIITR)

5 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 5 PBR®ANEF
Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting): BB AR A D0 (BEA) AT &
HZSH
(a) Finance costs (a) @WERAK
2024 2023
—TEC-E —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BTFRT ARETET

Interest on convertible bonds ATEmESF B - 92,178

Interest on bank loans and other IRITER R EALERF L
borrowings 117,532 142,768
117,532 234,946

Less: interest expense capitalised W ERIRNER 2

into construction in progress* AR * (20,003) (7,548)
97,529 227,398

* The borrowing costs have been capitalised at a rate of 3.50%— * BERARABRETFI50%%

5.40% per annum (2023: 3.60%-5.50%). 5A0%M L ERERIL (ZT ==

£ : 3.60% £5.50%) °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B FS R I ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B SEHEAI DUARKEIIR)
PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (continued) 5 PBR®ADER &)
(b) Staff costs (b) EIRAE
2024 2023
—E-ME —EC=F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
e AR¥Tx ARET T
Salaries, wages, bonuses and e I1E - TBAREF
benefits 592,901 714,304
Contributions to defined TE B SR UK A8 M 5T 2] 3%
contribution retirement
benefit schemes 41,930 38,001
Equity-settled share-based R AEE RS AR
payments expenses 24 89,971 45,136
724,802 797,441

Pursuant to the relevant labour rules and regulations in

the PRC, the Group participates in defined contribution

retirement benefit schemes

(the “Schemes”) organised

by the local government autharities whereby the Group is

required to make contributions to the Schemes based on

certain percentages of the eligible employee’s salaries.

The local government authorities are responsible for

the entire pension obligations payable to the retired

employees. The Group has no other material obligations

for payments of retirement

and other post-retirement

benefits of employees other than the contributions

described above.

The Group’s contributions to the defined contribution

plans are expensed as incurred and not reduced by

contributions forfeited by those employees who leave

the plans prior to vesting fully in the contributions.

RIEFEMERSEHRA LR
{5 - A< S5 [ 22 B8 iy 3 75 BT A
[68 4E A8 B9 57 R BOR IR AR AR
g ([a18l) Bt AKHEE
EREENREEHSWRA
o LA E & B AR o 37 IR
I EAERERRERSNE
MERASOEE - B Lt 1R
S AEBEAEEMEKNEE
XA B 8 AR R R B A R IR 1R
@A -

K 5% B A € BB LR ET 8l A
HANELERZH MESR
FEEEG 2 EHREIE HET8lm
BOL W B KT & R VBB %

Paray 1:),
R
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BTSRRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B =BHEAN GUARKEIITR)

5

RMB308,059,000) relating to staff costs, depreciation and
amortisation expenses, which amount is also included in the

respective total amounts disclosed separately above or in the
Note 5(b) for each of these types of expenses.
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PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (continued) BREEAER ()
Other items (c) H#EAR
2024 2023
—EZNF —E=F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 ARETx ARETF T
Depreciation e 10 208,630 172,603
Less: amount capitalised as W BB HERE
development costs (453) (842)
208,177 171,761
Amortisation 5 11 187,483 219,513
Auditor’s remuneration Z A B &
— audit services — Bi R 1,950 1,950
— non-audit services — FEBET RS 850 867
Lease charges HEER 6,373 7,232
Cost of inventories sold (i) EEFERKA(G) 15 860,790 1,083,047
0) Cost of inventories include RMB314,958,000 (2023: 0) GFEXRABEHRETHA  FE

RBHEAZ AR EARE
314,958,000 T (ZT == : A
R #308,059,0007T) * A b &
BB RET A £ 30K R 5(b) 3t 5 B
TR R EEEE SN -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 6

B FS R I ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B BHERIN - HUARKIIR)
mERBERAEMEERE

OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER KRAMNFER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(a) Taxation in the consolidated statements of profit or loss (a) HEBEEkEMZERERA
and other comprehensive income represents: B IEE
2024 2023
—ENEF —E-=F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
e AR®BTT ARETF T
Current tax B HA %1 18
Pravision for PRC CIT for the year ANFEE AR B ZEMEIHEEME 250) 86,751 368,088
Under/(over)-provision for PRC  BEFE R B EFEH
__ CiTinrespect of prior years | BETR(BEEE) 5@ 6092 (66).
92,843 368,022
Deferred tax EEFIE
Origination and reversal of T A E £ R E
__temporary differences ~~ 250)| 1678 | | (97,077).
Total income tax FrisBi#s 94,521 270,945
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BTSRRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B =BHEAN GUARKEIITR)

6 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 6

OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (continued)

(b) Reconciliation between income tax expenses and

REBEERAEM2ERE

RANFEH &)

(b) FAEBAXERBEABRITE

accounting profit at applicable tax rates: HETHER YR
2024 2023
—ED@mE T =F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
s AR¥®FTr ARETT
Profit before taxation G300l 577,233 2,126,771
Applicable tax rate AR E 0) 25% 25%
Notional tax on profit before B 750 AT 1 #E B A TE
taxation 144,308 531,693
Under/(over)-provision for PRC  BEFE R B EFTEH
CIT in respect of prior years BETR(BEER %) 6,092 (66)
Tax effect of non-deductible TR H0% B 2 B B 75 57
expenses 22,365 16,066
Tax effect of preferential tax rate BEM KB (i) (68,547) (264,158)
Tax effect of additional deduction fiff 2% 5 S %8 SN0 R A9 T 7%
of R&D expenses B (28,224) (26,709)
Tax effect of utilisations of tax ~ FI B BEFE R HERIE
losses for deferred tax assets HBEEE E’\J%RIEJEETEEI'\J
not recognised in prior years S (1,001) (5,611)
Tax effect of unused tax losses K WE R IR T Fi T & EE 1Y
of deferred tax assets not KA AR IBEE B
recognised MG E 19,528 19,730
Actual income tax BREH 94,521 270,945

M The PRC CIT rate is 25%.

0] PRI EMSHER25%

(i) The PRC CIT Law allows enterprises to apply for the certificate of
“High and New Technology Enterprise” (“HNTE”) which entitles
the qualified companies to a preferential income tax rate of 15%.
The Company and a subsidiary were recognised as “HNTE” for the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, and they enjoyed a
preferential CIT rate of 15% for the relevant years.

(i) FECEMBHEATEER
ERERBMBMEE (THH
i) AEBRRRAFEAR
15% M BEEMEHRE - KRR
—HEHRBARREBEE -2 =N
FRZIBZ=ZF+-R=+—
RIEFEERERDMEMDE
X BURERFEZTAI%M
EMSHEERE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 755 B vt

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B = BB - GAAREIIR)

7 DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ REMUNERATION 7 EEREEMSE

The details of directors’ and supervisors’ remuneration are EEREEMSFFBERENT

disclosed as follows:

2024
—EomE
Contributions
to defined
Salaries,  contribution
allowances retirement Equity-settled
Directors’  and benefits benefit  Discretionary  share-based
fees in kind schemes bonuses payments Total
Fe BMR TEMAREHK NERGEE
Eshe BENER BAGEMR MEEL  HROXA @t

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR  ARBTR ARMTR ARETR ARMTR AR%TR

Executive directors (i) HTER()

Mr. Jiang Juncai BTk - 487 2 570 2,254 3,33
Mr. Wang Danjin FhERE - 419 23 374 2,254 3,070
Mr. Li Shuang TRLE - 401 23 270 1,127 1,821
Mr.Chen Hao BE LA - 470 Py 441 924 1,862
Non-executive director FynESE

Mr. Tang Xinfa EMELE - - - - 64,378 64,378

Independent non-executive directors BuFHTEE

Mr. Tang Jianxin BENEE 100 - - - - 100
Ms. Xiang Ling MATT 100 - - - - 100
Mr. Li Xuechen FEEEAE 340 - - - - 340
Supervisors gz

Mr. Tang Jinlong o it - 430 2 434 - 887
Mr. Wang Shengchao THBLE - 41 18 108 428 795
Mr. Luo Zhonghua BRELE - 385 27 270 1,352 2,034
Total B 540 2,833 164 2,467 7,717 78,721
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R M ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B =BHEAN GUARKEIITR)

7 DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ REMUNERATION 7 EEREEM<E »

(continued)
2023
—ZBC=F
Contributions
to defined
Salaries,  contribution
allowances retirement Equity-settled
Directors’  and benefits benefit  Discretionary  share-based
fees inkind schemes bonuses payments Total
B RER EREFRK IEREE
E 2ok EMEN B EER RMERL  ORGXA @zt
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETR ARETR AREFT AREFT ARETR
Executive directors HiTES
Mr, Jiang Juncai 232y 8t - 482 23 940 1,127 2,572
Mr. Wang Danjin TR - 412 23 1,150 1,127 2,712
Mr. Li Shuang IREE - 377 19 360 563 1,319
Mr.Chen Hao (i) RE S (i) - 156 8 960 462 1,586
Mr. Chen Yangui (i) BRAE LA (i) - 153 11 481 - 645
Non-executive director FHES
Mr. Tang Xinfa EREBEE - - - - 32,189 32,189

Independent non-executive directors BUFHTEE

Mr. Tang Jianxin ERMEE 100 - - - - 100
Ms. Xiang Ling MART 100 - - - - 100
Mr. Li Xuechen ZEEEE 340 - - - - 340
Supervisors gz
Mr. Tang Jinlong [t e - 420 23 770 - 1,213
Mr. Wang Shengchao THRBEE - 251 16 700 214 1,181
Mr. Luo Zhonghua BRERE - 381 25 250 676 1,332
Total @t 540 2,632 148 5,611 36,358 45,289
[0) There is no change in executive director in 2024. [0) R NEHITERWEE
(ii) Mr. Chen Yangui resigned as executive director and Mr. Chen Hao was (ii) RS LEER S _=ZFALANBHET
appointed as executive director on 8 September 2023. WITEE MRELERABEZESR
WITES -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B FS R I ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, five (2023:
three) are the directors whose emoluments are disclosed in
Note 7. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the
other individuals is as follows:

(% 2SN - HAARESIR)
REFMAL

EE&ESHFMALST  HPRH (=
TIoF I ZR)REF WEHH
BENHIEET o A LR BHR e
wmr

2024 2023

—BomE —T-=F

RMB'000 RMB’000

ARETx AREBTT

Salaries and other emoluments e N H b - 6,317
Discretionary bonuses B IEIEAL - 313
Contribution to retirement schemes IRRET IR - 18
- 6,648

The emoluments of other individuals with the highest

HiGaHATHOHEMT FIATE

emoluments is within the following band:
2024 2023
—E-NE —EC-=F
Number of Number of
Individuals Individuals
AE A B
HK$3,000,001 — HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 & T = 3,500,000 7T - 1
HK$3,500,001 — HK$4,000,000 3,500,001 % 7T £ 4,000,0007%8 7T - 1
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R M ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(Br=BREAN - HUAARKEIITR)
9 EARNINGS PER SHARE 9

(a) Basic earnings per share

The calculation of basic earnings per share is
based on the profit attributable to ordinary equity
shareholders of the Company of RMB482,712,000
(2023: RMB1,992,624,000) and the weighted average
of 879,967,700 ordinary shares (2023: 879,967,700

ordinary shares) in issue during the year.

(b) Diluted earnings per share

There were no dilutive potential ordinary shares during
the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, and
therefore, diluted earnings per share is the same as the

basic earnings per share.
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10 FIXED ASSETS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 755 B vt

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B BAEB - HUAREFIR)
10 BIEEE

(a) Reconciliation of carrying amount (a) BREEMHIER
Property, plant and equipment Right-of-use assets
% BERRE RREZE
Ownership
interests in Other
Office leasehold properties
Plant and equipment Motor  Construction land held for ~leased for
Buildings ~ Machinery  and others vehicles inprogress  Sub-total own use ownuse  Sub-total Total
KEERZ
BER NS AEtH  HtER
BF BE REREM RE  EEIR Mt FEEEE  BAENE it a5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETT ARETT AREFR ARETR ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
Cost: B
At 1 January 2023 RZZ=Z=§-F-8 1,695,496 792,641 530,209 2,64 675,452 3,696,062 395,748 - 395,748 4,091,810
Additions RE 3271 4231 4,047 849 380,516 392,914 - 1,874 1,874 394,788
Transfer from construction BERTRER
in progress 78,827 291,729 44,898 2,314 (417,768) - - - - -
Disposals RE - (1,303) (1,802) - - (3,105) - - - (3,105)
At 31 December 2023 RZFZ=F+ZA=T-H 177759 1,087,298 577,352 5427 638,200 4,085,871 395,748 1,874 397,622 4,483,493
Additions HE 11,227 7,827 8,096 520 445,353 473,023 - 15,652 15,652 488,675
Transfer from construction BERIRSEY
in progress 58,279 106,391 92,227 97 (256,994) - - - - -
Reclassification Eip] (11,181) 3,875 7,306 - - - - - - -
Disposals BE (60,354) (9,342) (2,468) - - (72,164) - - - (72,164)
At 31 December 2024 RZZZWE+ZA=+-A 1775565 1,196,049 682,513 6,044 826,559 4,486,730 395,748 17,526 413,274 4,900,004
Accumulated depreciation: EHE
At 1 January 2023 R-B-=£-f-H (200258)  (188121)  (137,214) (856) - (56449)  (46,5%) - (465%)  (573,045)
Charge for the year ENR (53,517) (51,303) (58,472) (340) - (163,632) (8,595) (376) (8971)  (172,603)
Written-back on disposals REEREE - 963 1,616 - - 2,579 - - - 2,579
At 31 December 2023 RZFZ=F+=R=1+-H (253,775)  (238,461)  (194,070) (1,196) - (687,502) (55,191) (376) (55,567)  (743,069)
Charge for the year NG (55782 (71684) (68,497 (545) - (196,508) (8,596) (3526)  (12122)  (208630)
Written-back on disposals REEREE 11,774 1,600 1,892 - - 15,266 - - - 15,266
At 31 December 2024 RZEZRF+ZA=+-H (297,783) (308,545  (260,675) (1,741) - (868,744) (63,787) (3902) (67,689)  (936,433)
Carrying amount: BEE:
At 31 December 2024 RZZZMFFZA=+-0 1477782 887,504 421,838 4303 826,559 3,617,986 331,961 13,624 345585 3,963,571
At 31 December 2023 RIZZ=F+ZA=+-B 1523819 848,837 383,282 4,231 638,200 3,398,369 340,557 1,498 342,005 3740424
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R M ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B AN

BIUAARESITR)

10 FIXED ASSETS (continued)

(@) Reconciliation of carrying amount (continued)

0)

(i)

@iii)

All property, plant and equipment owned by the
Group are located in the PRC.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group was applying
for certificates of ownership for certain properties,
with carrying value of RMB271,583,000 (2023:
RMB432,426,000). The directors of the Company
are of the opinion that the use of and the conduct
of operating activities at the properties referred to
above are not affected by the fact that the Group
has not yet obtained the relevant properties title
certificates.

As at 31 December 2024, amount of
RMB282,646,000 (2023: RMB254,041,000)
of the ownership interests in leasehold land
held for own use, amount of RMB228,404,000
(2023: RMB117,949,000) of construction in
progress, and amount of RMB913,422,000 (2023:
RMB667,593,000) of plant and buildings were held

in pledge for bank loans (Note 21(a)).

10 EEEE &)

(@) FREEHHIRGE)

0)

(i)

@iii)

YICHANG HEC CHANGJIANG PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2024

AEBERENMBEYME
B E Kz ma R E -
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=+—H AE£H
FEEEAAR
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B FS R I ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

10 FIXED ASSETS (continued)

(a)

(b)

(B =B

BAANRESIR)

10 EEEE &)

Reconciliation of carrying amount (continued) () FEEEMNHIERE)

(iv) The Group sold some of its machinery and vy REZZZ-_=FKk=-F
equipment to external parties and leased them —ME+=ZA=+—H
back for terms of 2—3 years for the years ended 31 IEFE - REERINDA
December 2023 and 2024. The Group determined THEERDHE KR
the transfers to buyer-lessor were not considered W HEEMAR - BHERE
as sales under IFRS15, thus the Group continues = AEEBRTEET
to recognise the underlying assets, and recognises B — HHEAL TR
financial liabilities for the considerations received RHBE R E RS
in accordance with the accounting policy set 15 B THEE R
out in Note 1(j). No gain or loss were recognised EEEBEREMTL()FT
from the sale and leaseback transactions for the T ERERAE
year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: nil). As at BRETBHEE - HE_T
31 December 2024, the carrying amounts of the —HWHE+ZA=+—AL
plant and buildings and machinery pledged for the FE- E%:TH@*%T[E
aforementioned sale and leaseback transactions TR TE (ZZ==%:
were RMB290,816,000 (2023: RMB327,463,000) ®/) R-T-_MF+=
(Note 21(b)). A=+—H " batE’H

EIZS5BERNEE - EF
L#ENEmMERARKE
290,816,000 7L (=T ==
F: AR % 327,463,000
7o) (5 21(b)) °

Right-of-use assets (b) FHEEE

() The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use () EBEEEEEESH
assets by class of underlying assets is as follows: FAEERAFE

T
2024 2023
ZEBD@E T =F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARBTT
Included in fixed assets: BEREEEE -
— Ownership interests in —HEERZEE L
leasehold land held for FTE et
own use 331,961 340,557
— Other properties leased for — At AMEEDE
own use 13,624 1,498
345,585 342,055

FERE 2024 /| EE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R M ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B =BHEAN GUARKEIITR)

10 FIXED ASSETS (continued) 10 BEEE#®)
(b) Right-of-use assets (continued) (b)y FHAEEEE)
(i) The analysis of expense items in relation to leases (ih REZEREBEEEN
recognised in profit or loss is as follows: FXEESTAT :
2024 2023
—E-ME —E=F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BTFRT ARETET

Depreciation charge of REEEERENES 2
right-of-use assets by class CREEENEER
of underlying assets:
— Ownership interests in —FHEEAzEE T
leasehold land held PRERERER
for own use 8,596 8,595
— Other properties leased —HEMmEREEYmE
for own use 3,526 376
12,122 8,971
Expense relating to short-term  BEIREHEE X
leases 6,373 7,232
Interest on lease liabilities HEBERNE 566 69
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 755 B vt

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BRmEEAN BUARKEIIR)

INTANGIBLE ASSETS 11 BFEE
Hepatitis C drugs Other Drugs
A& HitEd
Generic drug Insulin

Capitalised intellectual intellectual Capitalised
development property property development
Patents costs rights rights costs Total
Exf FRE REZ BAxf
R HEXE  ASEE  NEER BRI @t
Note RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
Mz ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETR

Cost: KA
At 1 January 2023 WZE_=F—-f— 848,021 174512 1,490,138 261,069 986,350 3,760,090
Addition through internal BBNHREE
development - - - - 204,908 204,908
Addition and transfer from BNFEN L R B
prepayments - - 144,978 - - 144,978
Transfer from development BT HEEEF
costs to patents 14 - - - 95,861 (95,861) -
Abandonment nE - (174512 - - - (174512
At 31 December 2023 RZBZ=ZE42R
=t+-H 848,021 - 1635116 356,930 1,095,397 3,935,464
Addition through internal BRNPRENE
development - - - - 99,952 99,952
Addition though drug R&D BREMHEEEAE
pipeline cooperation projects B H #7115 (iii).1).(c) - - - - 112,048 112,048
At 31 December 2024 R-E-ME
B e S T = S 0
Accumulated amortisation: ~ Z3t#s
At 1 January 2023 W-E-=£-F-R (237,263) - (33573 (26881) - (600517)
Charge for the year FERMR (62,465) - (127,746)  (29,302) - (219513)
At 31 December 2023 RZBZ=F
+-R=1—H (299,728) - (464,319) (55,983) = (820,030)
Charge for the year ERMK (40,502) - (111,288) (35,693) = (187,483)
At 31 December 2024 RZE-ME
+ZR=1t—H (340,230 = (575,607) (91,676) - (1,007,513)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R M ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BB EHEBAN  GUARKEIITR)

11 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 11 BEEE W)
Hepatitis C drugs Other Drugs
A& EtbEY
Generic drug Insulin

Capitalised intellectual intellectual Capitalised
development property property development
Patents costs rights rights costs Total
Bxf 3 S -e(4
BR BEXE  A8EE  NEER BRI @t
Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ME  ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETT AREBTR ARET:

Impairment loss: HERS:
At 1 January 2023 RZZ-=F-f—R (203%9)  (22,599)  (195,929) - - (238,927)
Recognised in the year FRRR (139,753)  (151,913)  (193,727) - - (485,393)
Written-off i3 (i) - 174512 - - - 174512
At 31 December 2023 RIZZ=%
+ZA=+-8 (160,152) - (389,656) - - (549808)
Recognised in the year ERED (il - - (68,308) - (18,210) (86,518)
At 31 December 2024 RIZZEE
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, ToASTCR Qo) - @) - (182100 (6363%6)
Net book value; REFE
At 31 December 2024 RZZ-mE
+-A=1+-H 347,639 - 601,545 265,254 1,289,187 2,503,625
At 31 December 2023 3
+-A=1+-H 388,141 - 781,141 300,947 1,095,397 2,565,626
() The amortisation charge for the year was included in the () AEEHMHBEBRATALALIE
“cost of sales” and “general administration expenses” in whHEm2EmI SR IEE
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other A R[—RITHREEHY]
comprehensive income, except to the extent that they MEME T AR BB AR
are included in the development cost not yet recognised ALK o
as an expense.
(i)  Development costs were either in-process research and (i) FAERITLEECWENETH
development projects (“IPR&D”) acquired or development EEEE ([ETHhEEE])
cost capitalised in accordance with the accounting iR 47 A B A R R BT 5 13)
policies for the research and development costs in Note SHBRENMEAORES L -

1(i) to the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B FS R I ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

11 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(continued)

As at 31 December 2024, the intangible assets under

development were not yet ready for intended use.

Impairment review on the intangible assets of the
Group has been conducted by the management as at
31 December 2024. For the purpose of impairment
test, the recoverable amount of the intangible assets is
determined based on value-in-use calculations. These
calculations use the cash flow projections based on
the financial forecasts approved by management, with
reference to professional valuation reports issued by
China Alliance Appraisal Co., Ltd. and Beijing KYSIN Assets
Appraisal Co., Ltd., independent firms of professionally
qualified valuers.

(B =B

BAANRESIR)

11 BEFXEE #)

(if)

(iii)

(%)

RZE-_WE+ A =+—
B HEREREEGARED
WMTERE -

RZEBEZMNF+=—A=+—
A A£ETEEBCHERE
EEITREER - 3RE R
mE |BEEAEMAIKESEE
DiREREAFEETE %%
TEEREREEEMMAED
BEAMNRESRETER - X2
ZHEXESERGERMER D
B AR R RELEN
BRARIRIRHMITEREE
FEERARHANEEMGE

HE o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R M ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BB EHEBAN  GUARKEIITR)

11 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 11 BEEE &)
(i) (continued) iy (&)

1) Capitalised development costs 1) ERBE#EXH
Capitalised development costs represent IPR&D ERrRAELZHED K
acquired, drug R&D pipeline cooperation projects BHETHRAEIER -
or internal development cost capitalised by Y EEAEREE
pharmaceutical products as follows: o BB E mE AN ED

FZES - FEBANT -

2024 2023

—E-E —EC=F

Note RMB’000 RMB’000

Mz AR¥®Tr AR%®TT

Rongliflozin L-Pyroglutamic A EEEREY)F (a) 919,052 819,747

Liraglutide P& PR (a) 71,107 88,671

Emitasvir phosphate BEBR fORth 218 &

follow-up compounds a=g7 (b) 186,979 186,979

Antaitavir LR E (© 6,463 -

Clifutinib RUBEE (© 48,481 -

Larotinib KRB (©) 13,398 -

Insulin Degludec EAREE (© 12,547 -
Insulin Degludec/Insulin Aspart EAREE X EAFL

fE &% (© 31,160 -

1,289,187 1,095,397

Capitalised development costs are tested for EXRtABEZHEFE
impairment annually until the completion or TRERMR  HZE TR
abandonment of the related research and BT ETE-

development efforts.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 755 B vt

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

11 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

(iii)  (continued)

1) Capitalised development costs (continued)

(a)

Identifiable assets: Rongliflozin
L-Pyroglutamic, Liraglutide

In 2019, the Company entered into a sale
and purchase agreement and a supplemental
agreement to such sale and purchase
agreement with Sunshine Lake Pharma
Co., Ltd. (BERRBGAEEROHAER D
A, “Sunshine Lake Pharma”) which is the
controlling shareholder of the Company
since December of 2021. Pursuant to
which the Company agreed to acquire and
Sunshine Lake Pharma agreed to dispose
the IPR&D in relation to two pharmaceutical
products, namely Liraglutide and Rongliflozin
L-Pyroglutamic within the PRC at a total
consideration of RMB1,645,600,000 (the
“Proposed Acquisition”). The payment
terms comprised an up-front payment of
RMB550,000,000, and three milestone
payments totalling of RMB246,840,000 and
a contingent payment of RMB848,760,000
subject to the future sales of the target
products. The Proposed Acquisition was
effective after the shareholder’s approval in
January 2020. Up to 31 December 2024, the
Company have made accumulated payments
of RMB785,480,000 (2023: RMB708,880,000)
and have recognised IPR&D as intangible
assets. The remaining payments will be
accumulated into the cost of the intangible
assets when the capitalisation criteria are
met or recognised as a cost of sales in line
with the underlying sales.

(B =B

11 BEFXEE #)

(i) (%)

BAANRESIR)

1) EACH#XZEHE)

(a)

AHAEE  £&B
HEMEKIF - 7
EIR=Y/

RZFE—NF K
NAHEERREG K

BERMHAERAD
a) ([E R R[5t
E I = =
F+ - AR AN
NAERRE) T
VEEWEERZE
Ead 2
FoBM ARQHA
FAEKRE mMERX
R HEXRE T
& EF Bk K
BEEEEETF M
18 224 KB B8 9 P
BRETHREIE
B -B8REAAR
#1,645,600,000
T (g2 WE=
H]) - 3 EH A
K ¥ 550,000,000
IV O =R S
ZTEAHEARE
246,840,000 TTHY B
BEMZKERBZA
R #848,760,000
LK EEBRR
BiZEMMNBEHE
E-ERWESEE
R-—ZE-_LTF—H
% BR 4L A I AR o
HE_Z_@OF
+=-A=+—8"
ARABEEZMAR
# 785,480,000 7T
—TE-=F: AR
# 708,880,000 7T)
MREHIBLC
RETHEIER
BEREE - F &
HRIEEm R E R
IR 5 RET B &
FEEMKAKE
RIEERIEERERB
MIER A HER A o
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B %5 R M ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B AN

BIUAARESITR)

11 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

(iii)  (continued)

1) Capitalised development costs (continued)

(a)

Identifiable assets: Rongliflozin

L-Pyroglutamic, Liraglutide (continued)

The management regards Rongliflozin
L-Pyroglutamic and Liraglutide as a
separately identifiable asset and CGU in the

impairment test.

Based on the result of impairment test,
the recoverable amount of Rongliflozin
L-Pyroglutamic calculated based on value-
in-use exceeded its carrying amount as at
31 December 2024, no impairment was
recognised for the year ended 31 December
2024 (2023: nil). The estimated recoverable
amount of Liraglutide was less than
the carrying amount as at 31 December
2024.The difference was approximately
RMB18,210,000 (2023: nil) based on the
impairment evaluation result, which was
recognised as impairment loss in the “Other
net income/(loss)” in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income.

11 BFEEE ©)

(i) (&)

1) BEXRCHEBXZEHE)

(a)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 755 B vt

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B BEIEAEIN - HUAREFITR)
11 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 11 BEEE @)
(i) (continued) (i (&)
1) Capitalised development costs (continued) 1) EXREEEIH(E)
(a) Identifiable assets: Rongliflozin () HWRAEE: &R

L-Pyroglutamic, Liraglutide (continued) REEEEIEFE R

The following sets out the key assumptions
for the value in use calculation of the
Liraglutide:

€)]

(b)

(©)

Revenue

Revenue is calculated based on the
predicted selling price and the sales
volume, after considering the factors
such as market competitors, product
launch time, sales of similar products
that have been launched.

Costs of goods sold

The cost of goods sald includes the
cost of materials and the processing
cost, which are calculated based on the
production capacity of the Group and
entrusted processing costs.

Discount rate

The discount rate used in the
impairment valuation is pre-tax
discount rate 20.51% (2023: 21.60%),
and reflect specific risks relating to
Liraglutide.

A8 AR ()

BA T #0515 3 B Bk
Y {5 (B (3t 1Y
EEHR:

(@

(b)

(©)

EXE

B ERRIRTE N
EERHEE
Sk
BRI 5 S
E EmEm™m
FE--B2Lm
FRLEmey i
BERE -

EEEmAXR

EEERKA
BAEM R A
Mon I B R
- HTY R
IRE B R E B
REZFEIIAK
KEHE -

HEE

VR Rl
SO
& F AT AT 8
& 20.51% (=
T = F ¢
21.60%) @ I
f B B I R
FAFE R M 45 B
[B\ Bz o
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B %5 R M ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B AN

BIUAARESITR)

11 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

(iii)  (continued)

1) Capitalised development costs (continued)

(b)

Identifiable assets: Emitasvir phosphate

follow-up compounds

On 22 July 2015, the Group entered into
an agreement with Sunshine Lake Pharma.
Pursuant to the agreement, the Group
acquired the right to use all the relevant
knowhow and patents relating to emitasvir
phosphate and follow-up compounds. As of
31 December 2024, this Emitasvir phosphate
follow-up compounds has completed its
phase Il clinical trial and the application of
the new drug have been submitted to the
National Medical Products Administration
(“NMPA”) of the PRC. It is targeting to obtain
the new drug approvals and permits in 2025.

Based on the result of impairment test, the
recoverable amount of Emitasvir phosphate
follow-up compounds calculated based on
value-in-use exceeded its carrying amount
as at 31 December 2024, no impairment was
recognised for the year ended 31 December
2024 (2023: nil).

11 BFEEE ©)

(i) (&)

1) BEXRCHEBXZEHE)

(b)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 755 B vt

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

11 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

(iii)  (continued)

1) Capitalised development costs (continued)

(c)

On 23 November 2023, the Group entered
into an agreement with Sunshine Lake
Pharma. Pursuant to the agreement, both
parties jointly carry out drug R&D pipeline
cooperation projects on research and
development of 17 new drugs and 20 small
molecule generic drugs in China, among
which five products named Antaitavir,
Clifutinib, Larotinib, Insulin Degludec and
Insulin Degludec/Insulin Aspart were
technically and commercially feasible.
The related development expenditure was
capitalized.

As of 31 December 2024, the management
regards each of these individual products as
a separately identifiable asset and CGU in the
impairment test. Based on the result of the
impairment test, the recoverable amount of
each of these individual products calculated
based on value in use exceeded their
carrying amount as at 31 December 2024, no

impairment was recognised.

(B =B

BAANRESIR)

11 BEFXEE #)

(i) (&)

1) BEXRCHEBXZEHE)

(c)
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AAE -
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MBS EEEM-
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BTSRRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BRZEEAH  HAARKETITR)

11

YICHANG HEC CHANGJIANG PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2024

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

(iii)

(continued)

2)

Generic drugs

As at 31 December 2024, generic drugs represent
31 generic drugs’ intellectual property rights.
The management regards each individual drugs’
intellectual property rights as a separately
identifiable asset and CGU in the impairment test.

Based on the results of impairment tests, the
recoverable amount for 28 out of 31 generic drugs
calculated based on value in use exceeded their
carrying amount as at 31 December 2024 and no
impairment was recognised during the year ended
2024 (2023: nil).

Due to the price of generic drugs decreased
after they have been included in the national
centralised procurement, new market competitors
were introduced or the estimated distribution
and production cost increased, the estimated
recoverable amount of 3 (2023: 13) out of 31
generic drugs were less than their carrying amount
as at 31 December 2024.

The differences were approximately
RMB68,308,000 (2023: RMB193,727,000) in total
based on the impairment evaluation result, which
was recognised as impairment loss in the “Other
net income/(loss)” in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B FS R I ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

11 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

(iii)  (continued)

2)

Generic drugs (continued)

Based on the life cycle of drugs and the market
supply and demand of similar drugs, the life of the
generic drugs for impairment evaluation is at least
10 years after the drugs listing on the market. The
lifecycle of the generic drugs are 10 years in the
recoverable amount calculation in the impairment
test.

The calculations apply the cash flow projections
based on financial budgets approved by

management covering a three-year period.

The following sets out the key assumptions for the

value in use calculation of the 31 generic drugs:

(a) Revenue

Revenue is calculated based on the tax-
exclusive selling price and the sales volume,
after considering the factors such as market
competitors, product launch time, the price
and volume in the national centralised

procurement.

(B =B

BAANRESIR)

11 BEFXEE #)

(i) (&)

2)

3% (E)

BIBEEYR S0 E SR
RIEERANMIGHT -
FA Y Rk (B AT 1 & 1 B %
SwhEyLEmErEL
104 o TE R BRI S A AT
KeleEaER R
EMSHEBAELI0F -

AETLERNEREM
ERE=FHOHMBEE

EERRSRETAGH -

AT #3185 R B

FRHEBEFENTER

B

() E*H
EEBIZTEME

BREEEE
EHERITISE
FE -EmLWE
B BRETRE
MERLBESFR
%o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R M ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
BIAARETITR)

(B =B AN

11

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

(iii)

(continued)

2)

Generic drugs (continued)

(b)

(c)

Costs of goods sold

The cost of goods sold includes the cost
of materials and the processing cost, in
which the cost of materials is determined
in combination with the production data
of related units and the market price. The
processing cost is mainly determined by
reference to the manufacturing cost of the
similar drugs.

Discount rate

The discount rates used in the impairment
valuation is pre-tax discount rate 17.68%
(2023: 17.85%). and reflect specific risks
relating to the generic drugs.

11
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 755 B vt

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BRmEEAN BUARKEIIR)

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 12 RBERAIZRE
As at 31 December 2024, the Company has direct interests in RZEBE-NE+ZA=+—H K
the following major subsidiaries, which are private companies. NIRRT EZMB AR (BAEILA
The particulars of the subsidiaries are set out below: NE)HEEEEZ  BRANB A
ABEHIIT
Proportion
Place of of direct
incorporation ownership Principal
Name of company and business  Registered capital Paid-up capital interest activities
TEmAY R BEHRE
AIEH mE ERBA CETES 37 TEEH
Yichang HEC Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.* PRC RMB2,000,000 RMB2,000,000 100% Sales of
("EERBEHEEER LT pharmaceutical
products
HERBHBERRAR e Nz AE% HEBEED
2,000,0007T 2,000,0007T
Yichang HEC Pharmaceutical PRC  RMB450,000,000 RMB332,000,000 100% Manufacturing
Manufacturing Co., Ltd. * and sales of active
(EEREHEEERAF") pharmaceutical
ingredient
HERBHHERRAR el AEE AE% EERHERHE
450,000,000t 332,000,0007C
Dongguan Yangzhikang PRC  RMB50,000,000  RMB50,000,000 100% Sales of
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.* Pharmaceutical
(‘REmBEzREEEREMTAR") products
RrmBRBEEREMENA i AEE AE% HEBEED
50,000,000t 50,000,000 7T
Guangdong HEC Biological PRC  RMB530,000,000 RMB439,532,109 100% R&D of
Pharmacy Co., Ltd. * pharmaceutical
(‘EREEENRHERAF") products, medical
devices and
biotechnology
ERRGHAENREERAT HE AR® ARE BEER BESW
530,000,0007T  439,532,1097T R Wi B9 B

FEHRE 2024 /| EERGARIEXRRNERAF
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R M ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BREEEAN - AUARKEIIR)
12 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 12 RMBARIZERE &)
Proportion
Place of of direct
incorporation ownership Principal
Name of company and business  Registered capital Paid-up capital interest activities
LR BEER
DNEAEE genwy R E8RA BRI TEEHR
YiChang HEC Pharmaceutical technology PRC  RMB50,000,000  RMB46,500,000 100%  Medical cansulting
Marketing Services Co., Ltd.* services
(‘HERBXBEMRERERE
BBERA)
HERGABENBERREBRAT e ARE AR BEAARE
50,000,0007¢ 46,500,000 7T
YiChang HEC Bio-technology Co., Ltd.* PRC  RMB30,000,000 RMB3,000,000 100% Manufacturing and
(‘HERBXEMRRERAR”) sales of active
pharmaceutical
ingredient
HERGRENRBBRAF hE ARE AR EERBEERHE
30,000,0007c 3,000,0007¢
Dongguan HEC TaiGen Biopharmaceuticals PRC  RMB683,400,000 RMB683,400,000 100% Sales of
Co., Ltd.* Pharmaceutical
(ERREXBEERDF", products
“HEC TaiGen”) (i)
RRRBHBEERAF(REXARD () PE ARE AR% HEBEEMD
683,400,000 683,400,0007T
Zhejiang HEC Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.* PRC  RMB10,000,000  RMB10,000,000 100% Marketing and
(MIRGRBEERARF) Medical consulting
services
HIRGRBERRAF hE ARE AR% EHNBRLARYE
10,000,000 7T 10,000,000 7c
Zhejiang HEC Changjiang Pharmaceutical PRC  RMB50,000,000 RMB200,000 100% Manufacturing
Co., Ltd.* and sales
(MIRGRRIEEERRA") of drugs
IRGHRTEEER DA hE ARE AR% TERHERY
50,000,000t 200,0007T
* The English translation of the above companies’ names is for reference * T ATEEHEXEEEMRE

only. The official names of these companies are in Chinese.

ERRNEBE T BRWAT XA
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 755 B vt

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BRmEEAN BUARKEIIR)

12 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 12 AMEBRRIZRE #)
On 22 November 2023, the Company entered into an equity RZEZ=F+—HA=Z+=ZH &
transfer agreement with the minority shareholder of HEC ANEIERB K ZHF NIRRT L
TaiGen, to acquire the remaining 40% equity interests in the REEZEGE WERBAXREN
HEC TaiGen with a consideration of USD4,980,000 (equivalent % T 40% /% # - X {8 & 4,980,000
to approximately RMB35,450,000). Upon completion of the Eor (FBE K4 A R # 35,450,000
transaction, the Company became the sole shareholder of TT) e R THKE  RRABKRRE
HEC TaiGen. Loss of HEC TaiGen attributed to NCI amounted to HAEHWE—RRE -BE_T ==
RMB136,798,000 for the year ended 31 December 2023. FTZA=T—BIEFE  FER

BEELHREARENEEAAR
# 136,798,000 7T °

13 FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES MEASURED 13 RO AEEIEBHEZH

AT FVPL FFABENSREERE
&
At At
31 December 31 December
2024 2023

R=B=mE RoTo=f
+=B=+-8 +=A=1-A

Note RMB’000 RMB’000
i ARFR  ARBTL

Non-current asset RBEE
— Investment in listed equity — LR AEBSHRE

securities 0] 17,066 19,587
Current assets REBEE
— Investment in a private fund — RAEHESHIKE (i) 3,839 -
— Foreign currency option — INEERARES R

contracts (iii) - 18,686

3,839 18,686

Current liability REEE
— Foreign currency option — INEHARES R

contracts (iii) - (1,139)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R M ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B AN

BIUAARESITR)

13 FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES MEASURED
AT FVPL (continued)

0]

(ii)

The Group’s investment in listed equity securities are
shares in Beijing Sunho Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., a
company listed in Beijing Stock Exchange and engaged
in manufacturing and sales of pharmaceutical products.
The Group classified its investment in non-current
financial assets measured at FVPL, as the investment is
held for strategic purposes.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the net fair
value loss in respect of the Group’s investments in listed
equity securities recognised in profit or loss amounted
to RMB2,521,000 (2023: net fair value gain amounted to
RMB4,387,000).

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Group invested in a private fund with principal of
RMB55,000,000. Pursuant to the agreement, the
investment in the private fund is designated to make
the majority of its investments in portfolios where
the principal and return of the investment are not
guaranteed.

In October 2024, the Group redeemed part of the
investment in a private fund at a total consideration
of RMB60,000,000, which comprised principal of the
investment amounted to RMB51,895,000 and investment
income amounted to RMB8,105,000.

As at 31 December 2024, the balance of the investment
in the private fund represented the remaining principal
amounted to RMB3,105,000 and the corresponding fair
value gain amounted to RMB734,000.

13 BAREBEEFEREHESE
SFABENEREERE

&a)

(M

(i)
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HEZZ-_mF+=ZA=+—
HEFE AEBERERR
RO LETRAZTHIZED
AARBEEEIFERARE
2,521,000 (Z &2 = =% -
APABERZFEARE
4,387,0007T) °

HEZZ-_mF+=ZA=+—
Emirg CAREEEBERAEE
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51,895,000 7T &1 & Wz A R
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B FS R I ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B = BB - GAAREIIR)

13 FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIESMEASURED 13 B A A EBEITEBH®

AT FVPL (continued)

(iii)  The Group entered into foreign currency option contracts
with banks to mitigate the currency risk arising from
certain of its bank loans denominated in USD.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group has
repaid bank loans denominated in USD. The net gain in
respect of the Group’s foreign currency option contracts
recognised in profit or loss amounted to RMB7,681,000
(2023: RMB17,547,000). As of 31 December 2024, the

Group held no foreign currency option contract.

SFABENEREERE

&a)

(i) AEEERITAIZINERES
# o AR E T IAKTEHED
RITEFASI BN EERR

HE-Z-mFE+=-_A=1+—
HEFE AEBEDEEMN
ENENRITER - A%
ENEHESAREBZT
BROKZFERARE
7,681,000 C (ZZE =4 : A
R#17,547,00070) c H = =
E_MFE+-_A=+—8 &
SEWERSFINERESLD -

14 PREPAYMENTS 14 FEFRIE

2024 2023
—E-mE —T-o=F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
e AR®TRT AREBTT
Prepayments for intangible assets 2 & EFE T A 0! 6,135 6,135

Prepayments for property, Y - B R ERENTER A
plant and equipment 643,943 109,244
650,078 115,379
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R M ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B AN

BIUAARESITR)

14 PREPAYMENTS (continued)

0]

In 2018 and 2019, the Company entered into two
acquisition agreements with Sunshine Lake Pharma,
to acquire 33 pharmaceutical products’ know-how,
intellectual property rights and ownership rights (“Target
Products”) from Sunshine Lake Pharma with a total
consideration of RMB2,131,635,000, which comprised
a prepayment of RMB1,065,817,000, several milestone
payments totalling RMB577,888,000 and contingent
payments of RMB487,930,000 subject to the future sales
of the Target Products.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had made
accumulated payments of RMB1,641,250,000 (2023:
RMB1,641,250,000) to Sunshine Lake Pharma. During
the year ended 31 December 2024, there was no
transfer of intangible assets (2023: RMB144,978,000)
since no NMPA approvals out of the Target Products has
been obtained (2023: 2). The outstanding prepayments
to Sunshine Lake Pharma as at 31 December 2024 was
RMB6,135,000 (2023: RMB6,135,000).

14 FE{FIE (&)

(M
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5 A K #1,065,817,0007C
ETERMNREHARE
577,888,000 7T & 3k A 15 ;LA
R # 487,930,000 T * 8 F B
EEmMmBRRIEE MIE °

RZE_WE+_A=+—
H AEEBEEBERFRMER
EErtEEINARE
1,641,250,000L (Z &2 = =
F: AR®1,641,250,000
L) B ETWFE+A
=+—HLEFE BHRBERZRE
MW ENSEERIEX (ZF
Z=F:WE) A Es
EEFVEE(ZZEZ=F: A
R #144,978,0007T) - N =
ZWEFZA=F+—HBEZNHT
R RS B2 6)FA (N FRIE #4
BHAARMKE,135000L (=F
—=%F: AR¥6,135,0007T) °



15

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 755 B vt

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BRmEEAN BUARKEIIR)

INVENTORIES 15 78
2024 2023
ZEBDmE T =F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARETT
Raw materials R 364,271 253,741
Work in progress E& 104,825 75,898
Finished goods P 174,060 74,570
Goods in transit 18t 2,773 4,841
645,929 409,050
The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as an ERAAAXLFABEENTFES
expense and included in profit and loss is as follows: BEAONWAT :
2024 2023
—BomE T =F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000

MeE AR®TFRT ARETET

Carrying amount of inventories sold B &F &R EE 818,797 1,063,056
Write-down of inventories FEMUR 41,993 19,991
Cost of inventaries sold BEEFEKAR 5(c) 860,790 1,083,047
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BTSRRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=BHEAN GUARKEIITR)

16 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

16 EZREMEWRE

2024 2023

—EZNF —E=F

Note RMB’000 RMB’000

e AR®TT ARETIT

Trade receivables g 5 EWGRIA 1,860,032 2,000,557

Bills receivable JE Uk 22 45 380,894 89,852
Less: allowance for doubtful debts &l : RERERH 27 (137,243) (17,798)

2,103,683 2,072,611

Tax recoverable CIEqEE R 101,781 20,565
Other receivables HoAth FE W SR IE 53,485 22,750
Less: allowance for doubtful debts ¥ : REREWE (1,614) (3,128)
153,652 40,187

Total Bt 2,257,335 2,112,798
(i)  Bills receivable with carrying value of RMB105,843,000 () BREMEAARE105,843,000

(2023: RMB19,512,000) were pledged as securities of
bank loans of the Group as at 31 December 2024 (see

Note 21(a)).

YICHANG HEC CHANGJIANG PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B FS R I ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

16 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)
Ageing analysis

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of
trade debtors and bills receivable (which are included in trade
and other receivables), based on the invoice date and net of
allowance for doubtful debts, is as follows:

16

(B BRI - HUARER)
ESREMEWRE®)

SRR 2 AT

REBERR  BUREALEREE
(BEFFAE S REMEKFIR) RE
EHBMEMBREREBORE DT
s

2024 2023
—ENEF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BTRT AR®ETET

Within 3 months 3ME AR
More than 3 months but within 1 year  #B#3EAE1FR
More than 1 year HBiB 1

1,226,400 1,803,219
731,331 269,355
145,952 37

2,103,683 2,072,611

Trade debtors are generally due within 30-90 days from the
date of billing. Bills receivable is due in 3 months or 6 months
from the date of billing. The Group’s credit policy is set out in
Note 27(a). All of the trade and other receivables of the Group
are expected to be recovered within one year.

FEWBR R — R B ERE B H A
30E90RNEIH - BIKEEB
HAREHHRF3IMEAKGEA R
FHR o NEE 25 EBURE M
27(@)  AEBFFBEE 5 R EMENK
FIBTEET AT R —F ALK E -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R M ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BRE=FEEAHN AUARKETIR)

17 RESTRICTED CASH 17 ZRFHERE
2024 2023
—EmEF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BTRT ARETT

Security deposits REBEE® 395,613 1,567,300

As at 31 December 2024, the restricted cash mainly RZE-WNE+=—A=+—H %

represented pledges to banks for bank loans or issuance of RH|ReEEZRBBITERIIET

bills payables and letter of credit. ERERREREMmMRERITREERLN
B -

18 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHERCASH 18 B2 REEZEEBHRH

FLOW INFORMATION HESREER
(a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise: ) HRERRESEEBHEE:
2024 2023
—E_NFE T =F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BTRT ARETT

Cash on hand FHEES - -
Cash at bank RITIRE 1,403,777 1,674,413

1,403,777 1,674,413
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18 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHER CASH
FLOW INFORMATION (continued)

(b)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B FS R I ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

18

(B =B

BAANRESIR)

HEeRBESZEEEERE
HmEEREELZE &)

Reconciliation of profit before taxation to cash (b) BRBAGFELEFRBSREMN
generated from operations: HHR -
2024 2023
—E-ME —E=F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
e AR®BTRT AR®ETT
Profit before taxation B %5t A ) 577,233 2,126,771
Adjustments for: IR
Depreciation e 5(c) 208,177 171,761
Amortisation | 5(c) 187,483 219,513
Interest income 2 HA 4 (70,279) (57,775)
Investment income from a AR AR
trust investment scheme BEWA 4 - (4,645)
Finance costs BhE AR 5(a) 97,529 227,398
(Gain)/loss on disposal of HEBRTEEN
fixed assets (Uez), /B8 4 (10,331) 526
Fair value change on RAFBHBRED
investment in equity RAEEES
securities 4 2,521 (4,387)
Fair value on derivative MARERESZ
financial instruments TESRMIAEY
embedded in convertible NREE
bonds 4 - 79,796
Fair value change on RILEESHIRERN
investment in a private fund NABEZE 4 (734) -
Equity-settled share-based IARE & A H AR ) S A
payments expenses 24 89,971 45,136
Impairment provision for B EERERE
intangible assets 4 86,518 485,393
Share of (profit)/loss of an SaR (/N
associate G#F),E518 (293) 29
Dividend income from listed ETBRARESFHRERA
equity securities (309) (247)
Investment income from REFLEESHIRERA
investment in a private fund 4 (8,105) -
Net gain on foreign currency HNEE RS X RO U F 5
option contracts 4 (7,681) (17,547)
Net foreign exchange loss b 5 B 18558 2,891 34,418
Changes in working capital: EEESEE:
Increase in inventories F &30 (236,879) (94,023)
Increase in trade and other B 5 N CE b e Y GR IR A0
receivables (200,627) (1,417,907)
(Decrease)/increase in trade B 5 K E b fE S 5E
and other payables Cri ),/ 0 (388,846) 109,487
Cash generated from operations RZ&fE5HE 328,239 1,903,697
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R M ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BRE=FEEAHN AUARKETIR)

18 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHERCASH 18 BHEeRKRELZEEERARH

FLOW INFORMATION (continued) tEESREER (@)
() Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (c) BMEETBFFEEEENYHE
activities
Bank loans
and other Lease
borrowings liabilities Total
BITER
REMER HEEE M@ar
Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(k3 AREFTL AREFL AREFL
(Note 21)
(fizE21)
Atllanuary2024 ] R=F-R¥-A-A 2607804 1524 2,609,328
Changes from financing MERERESE !
cash flows:
Proceeds from bank loans BITERMEZE 1,221,492 - 1,221,492
Proceeds from borrowings ERERZHMER
under sale and leaseback T8 3R
transactions 300,000 - 300,000
Repayments of bank loans BEBITER (1,684,631) - (1,684,631)

Payments for capital element of &%HEET FELH

obligations arising from sale EBRNERDDER

and leaseback transactions (174,287) - (174,287)
Payments of capital element HEBRBEAT IR

and interest element of lease ~ FI 8 SN FUE

liabilities - (3,185) (3,185)
Interest paid BAHE (93,419) - (93,419)

Total changes from financing ~ BEREREEHAE
cash flows (430,845) (3,185) (434,030)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 755 B vt

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BRmEEAN BUARKEIIR)

18 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHERCASH 18 BHEe KR4 ZSEERARH

FLOW INFORMATION (continued) HmESREER ®)
(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (c) BMEETBFFEEEENYHE
activities (continued) (#)
Bank loans
and other Lease
borrowings liabilities Total
RITEH
REMER HEEE w@ar
Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
BisE AREFL AREFL AREFL
(Note 21)
(s 21)
Other changes: Hit2g:

Interest on bank loans and other $R{TEFT R E

borrowings fE FR S 117,532 - 117,532
Interest on lease liabilities HEBEFE - 566 566
Derecognition of bank loans RIFERIRITER () (75,911) - (75,911)

Increase in lease liabilities from R AT FT AR 4149
entering into new leases during ~ HE&EIEM

the year - 15,084 15,084
Exchange adjustment I 5 3% 2,267 - 2,267
At 31 December 2024 RZTZUF

+-A=+—H 2,220,847 13,989 2,234,836
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R M ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=BHEAN GUARKEIITR)

18 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHERCASH 18
FLOW INFORMATION (continued)

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing

HERBEEEBEERHE
HmEEREELZR &)

() BMEFDFELEREGENEIR

activities (continued) (#)
Bank loans Interest-
and other bearing Lease
borrowings  borrowings liabilities Total
BITER
REMER HEER HEERE M@ar
Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
iz ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTR
(Note 21)
(MEE21)
At 1 January 2023 RZEZ=F
AR gy 2653 - e
Changes from financing MERERELT:
cash flows:
Proceeds from bank loans ~ RITEFRFAGIIE 1,964,063 - - 1,964,063
Proceeds from borrowings ~ S#MARR FHE R
under sale and leaseback P15 308
transactions 200,000 - - 200,000
Repayments of bank loans ~ {EERITER (255,929) - - (255,929)
Payments for capital element EREERFEAE
of obligations arising MEBMERLH
from sale and leaseback B
transactions (150,000) - - (150,000)
Repurchase of convertible BRI AJERE A
bonds (if) - (3,047,989) - (3,047,989)
Payments of capital element HEREERTH R
and interest element of FIE B BT 308
lease liabilities - - (419) (419)
Interest paid BRFIE (71,644) (66,678) - (138,322)
Total changes from financing BEHR & HEE
cash flows ek 1,686,490 (3,114,667) (419)  (1,428,596)
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

18 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHERCASH 18
FLOW INFORMATION (continued)

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing

activities (continued)

(c)

(B =B

HeRBEEEEEARHE
HEESREER &)

(%)

BIAARESIR)

METBMELEEBNYIR

Bank loans Interest-
and other bearing Lease
borrowings  borrowings liabilities Total
RITER
REMER FTEER HERE mar
Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
sz ARBTFT ARETFT ARETT ARETRT
(Note 21)
EXY
Other changes: Hip 28 :
Interest on bank loans FTEF R EER
and interesting bearing FlE
borrowings 103,359 92,178 - 195,537
Fair value change on AT B G5 AT
derivative financial EERIANDA
instruments embedded BEEZY
in convertible bonds - 79,796 - 79,796
Interest on lease liabilities ~ HEEEHE - - 69 69
Derecognition of bank loans ~ #& |FEERBITER 0) (96,730) - - (96,730)
Increase in lease liabilities ~ MEFRFI AL
from entering into new HEBEEM
leases during the year - - 1,874 1,874
Exchange adjustment AR (187) 35,730 - 35,543
At 31 December 2023 RZZ_=F
+=ZA=+—-H 2,607,804 - 1,524 2,609,328

FEHRE 2024 /| EERGARIEXRRNERAF
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R M ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BRE=FEEAHN AUARKETIR)

18 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND OTHERCASH 18 BHEeRKRELZEEERARH
HEEREER #)

FLOW INFORMATION (continued)

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing
activities (continued)

(i)  The amount represents the derecognition of bank
loans of discounted bills with recourse upon the
maturity of respective bills receivable for the year
ended 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023.

(i) On 5 July 2023, the Company completed
redemption all the convertible bonds. The
bondholders no longer have any interest in the
bonds and/or any rights arising therefrom.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 755 B vt

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BRmEEAN BUARKEIIR)

19 CONTRACT LIABILITIES 19 8HEE
Contract liabilities EHNEE
2024 2023
—EZFE T =F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTRT ARBTT
Sales of goods HEEm
— Billing in advance of performance — TBURER 29,546 101,448
Movements in contract liabilities EHEENES
2024 2023
—E-ME —_F-=
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARBTT
Balance at 1 January R—HA—BM& 101,448 75,386
Decrease in contract liabilities as AR FE NS GTAFY]
a result of recognising revenue EHNBBE)MEENELN
during the year that was included BERD
in the contract liabilities at
the beginning of the year (93,720) (65,784)
Increase in contract liabilities as A TS & SR E AR
a result of billing in advance of sales BHBEEE 21,818 91,846
Balance at 31 December R+ZA=+—Hm#&H% 29,546 101,448
The amount of contract liabilities expected to be recognised EHREBR - FREEIARBAN
as income after more than one year is RMB2,139,000 (2023: AEHEaESE A ARY?2139,000
RMB4,403,000). All of the other contract liabilities are T(ZZE =4 : AR™ 4,403,000
expected to be recognised as income within one year. 7T) - EHIMEEMENEERN —
FRERBUA -

FERE 2024 /| EERG R TEERMNER AR
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(BR=BHEAN GUARKEIITR)

20 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R M ot

20 EFREMENRE

2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt E ARBTR AREBTET
Trade payable g S ENFIE 133,610 86,153
Bills payable FIREFRIE 43,676 113,935
Amounts due to related parties A< BE S 5 Bk IA 29(b)(ii) 343,319 441
VAT and other taxes payable FERTIE AT R E IR 92,703 151,134
Accrued payroll and benefits FEET & K& F| 89,644 229,408
Accrued expenses st &R 589,688 660,281
Accrued royalty fee JEFHEFTEGRE 2,630 356,669
Other payables for purchasing HMENBERTEEENIA
fixed assets 154,303 136,106
Other payables M E A FRIE 18,073 21,225
Financial liabilities measured at ~ Z#ER AT EZ CRAE
amortised cost 1,467,646 1,755,352
An ageing analysis of the trade and bills payable based on the NBEEABRAEAENE I REEE
invoice date is as follows: NFIEREITAT
2024 2023
—E-NFE T =F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTT
Within 1 month 1EAR 29,518 81,905
Over 1 month but within 3 months HiE1EAEIEAR 59,135 47,178
Over 3 months but within 1 year BB 3MEAELFER 84,625 67,486
Over 1 year HEIB 1 4,008 3,519
177,286 200,088
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 755 B vt

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BRmEEAN BUARKEIIR)

21 BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS 21 RITERRHMER
2024 2023
—E-NE —TEC-=HF
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 ARETx ARETF T
Non-current JEENHEA
Bank loans RITER 21(a) 747,265 253,998
Obligations arising from sale and ERMEBNZHEENES
leaseback transactions 21(b) 141,970 34,288
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 889,235 | 288,286
Current B H#A
Bank loans RITER 21(a) 1,173,706 2,165,438
Obligations arising from sale and ERMEBZHEENET
leaseback transactions 21(b) 157,905 154,080
| B33E1L 2,319,518
2,220,846 2,607,804
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B %5 R M ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BRE=FEEAHN AUARKETIR)

21 BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS (continued) 21 $SR{TER R HMER @)

(a) Bankloans (a) RITER
The analysis of the repayment schedule of bank loans is RITERMNERKRER>TN
as follows: ™
2024 2023
—ENEF —E=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARBTT
Within 1 year or on demand 1FANIZENK 1,173,706 2,165,438
After 1 year but within 2 years 1F&BB2FA 425,862 153,998
After 2 years but within 5 years 2FBESFR 236,070 100,000
After 5 years 51 85,333 -
Total 5t 1,920,971 2,419,436
At 31 December 2024, the bank loans were secured as RZZE-_WMF+-_A=+—8" 4§
follows: TEFREBOT
2024 2023
—ENEF —E=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARBTT
Unsecured 4 662,320 149,803
Secured [ 1,258,651 2,269,633
Total B 1,920,971 2,419,436
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B

21 BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS (continued)

(a)

Bank loans (continued)

0)

BAANRESIR)

21 SBITEFRREMER @)

(a)

RITER(E)

The Group’s bank loans were secured as follows: REEMRITEHEA
N
2024 2023
ZEIRE T =F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt 3 ARBTRT ARBTT
— Ownership interestsin ~ — F{EEAZHE
leasehold land held for TP R
own use 10(a)(iii) 282,646 254,041
— Construction in progress — EE T2 10(a)(i) 228,404 117,949
— Plant and buildings —BEREF 10(a)(iii) 913,422 667,593
— Bills receivable (jii) — FEIEE (iii) 16()) 105,843 19,512
— Restricted cash — XREIRE 244,507 1,545,237
1,774,823 2,604,332

Apart from the above secured assets, the
bank loans of RMB1,282,847,000 (2023:
RMB564,248,000), was additionally guaranteed by
Shenzhen HEC Industrial, Mr. Zhang Yushuai and
Mrs. Guo Meilan, the ultimate controlling party of
the Group as at 31 December 2024.

RZE-_m@MFE+=_HAH=+—8"
BREMBEREEN AR
1,282,847,000 TR RITTEK (ZF
— =% : AR¥564,248,00070) i
FINRBEAEE  AEEHRKRIE
M7 R B RS A R BIGE A TR
BEIMELR -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BTSRRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BB EHEBAN  GUARKEIITR)

21 BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS (continued)

(a) Bank loans (continued)

(iv)

(iii)

As of 31 December 2024, the total banking
facilities amounted to RMB2,756,376,000 (2023:
RMB2,939,193,000). Such facilities were utilised
to the extent of RMB1,812,846,000 (2023:
RMB2,395,255,000). These facilities are subject
to the fulfilment of covenants relating to certain
of the Group’s balance sheet ratios and intended
use of the loans, as commonly found in lending
arrangements with financial institutions. If the
Group were to breach the covenants the drawn

down facilities would become payable on demand.

Further details of the Group’s management of
liquidity risk are set out in Note 27(b).

As of 31 December 2024, the bank loans of
RMB105,843,000 (2023: RMB19,512,000)
represented the bills discounted with recourse
which were repayable within one year.

21 BRITEFRREMER )

(a)
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RITER(E)

(iv)

(iii)

RZZEZWNFE+ = A
=+—H  RITREETE
A AR #2,756,376,000
T(ZEZ=ZF: AR
#2,939,193,0007T) °
ZERECHRENSE
A AR 1,812,846,000
T(CE-=%F: AR
2,395,255,0007T) ° 2%
MmEASERASEHESET
EEABERILELERER
BRERAGBEHANZHE
EREAUEE L£HE
DREBORELZ R
EEER -MAKEEEZ
REZ#H BRI EH
BIRERETAT -

AEERHECRRE
B E — B E M
F27(h) °

RZZTEZWMF + =
A=+—8  AE®
105,843,000 L M IR 1T &
R(ZEZ=ZF: ARE
19,512,0007t) 5 B BH 38
MBEREERE  EAR
—FANEE-



21 BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS (continued)

(b)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Obligations arising from sale and leaseback transactions

B FS R I ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

Obligations arising from sale and leaseback transactions

were repayable as below:

(BB BIEHI
21 SRITERK

(b)

FAANRETR)
HiER (@)

ERENXRZELENRE

ERHEOIRSEENEHAE
ZBAOR

2024 2023
—ED@mE T =F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARBTT
Within 1 year 1FR 168,540 160,966
After 1 year but within 2 years 1F&BB2FA 128,924 18,412
After 2 year but within 3 years 2FBEIFA 18,336 18,412
Total undiscounted obligations ERHEERSEER
arising from sale and leaseback RANERBREE
transactions 315,800 197,790
Less: total future interest expenses  J& : KK F B 5 X 4258 (15,925) (9,422)
Total ST 299,875 188,368
All obligations arising from sale and leaseback RZZEZWNE+ZA=+—

transactions were secured by plant and buildings and

machinery as mentioned in Note 10(a)(iv), and were

guaranteed by Shenzhen HEC Industrial, Mr. Zhang

Yushuai and Mrs. Guo Meilan, the ultimate controlling

party of the Group as at 31 December 2024.

FERE 2024 /| EE

H €E%MHARXZSGEELENHME
E B LA FE10@)(v) Tt B9
WEMIEF R EEA I
HIRYIREREE  NEEK
BIRER T REBAN £ R
B TR ER -

REXRTEZBRNDERDF]
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B %5 R M ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BB EHEBAN  GUARKEIITR)

22 LEASE LIABILITIES 22 HE&E
2024 2023
—E-MF —E=F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETx ARET T
within1year —1®&n 3418 | 359
After 1 year but within 2 years 1F18B2F R 3,538 733
After 2 years but within 5 years 2FRBEIFA 7,033 432
S SN L4 ) N 1,165
Total @t 13,989 1,524

23 DEFERRED INCOME 23 EEWA
2024 2023
—ENEF —E-=F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
M AR®Tx AREF T
At 1 January n—HA—H 195,340 195,684
Additions B 1,500 7,851
Credited to profit or loss st BT 4 (8,079) (8,195)
At 31 December ®“+=—HA=+—H 188,761 195,340
Net carrying amounts representing: 85 EF{EIE
Current portion BN ER &L 8,079 8,195
Non-current portion JERNHRES & 180,682 187,145
188,761 195,340

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, deferred income of the
Group mainly included various conditional government grants
for R&D projects of new or existing pharmaceutical products
and subsidies relating to purchase of fixed assets.

Deferred income relating to purchase of fixed assets are
recognised as income on a straight-line basis over the expected
useful life of the relevant assets.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B FS R I ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

24 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The controlling shareholder of the Group, Sunshine Lake
Pharma, adopted a restricted share scheme in June 2023 (the
“2023 Restricted Share Scheme”) for the purpose of attracting
and retaining the employees. Under the 2023 Restricted Share
Scheme, up to 7,926,777 restricted shares of Sunshine Lake
Pharma may be granted to the selected employees serving
in the Group at an exercise price of RMB0.7738 per share.
These restricted shares will vest after the 5th anniversary of
the grant date, on the condition that the employees remain
in service and has fulfilled certain performance requirement.
If employees leave the Group before the vesting date or fail
to fulfill the performance requirement, the restricted shares
will be forfeited. The forfeited shares will be repurchased by
a shareholder designated by Sunshine Lake Pharma at the
original exercise price, and with an additional 3% per annum
interest, and if applicable, and could be reallocated in the
subsequent grants at the discretion of Sunshine Lake Pharma.

On 18 July 2023, 7,926,777 restricted shares of Sunshine Lake
Pharma under the 2023 Restricted Share Scheme were granted
to the selected employees serving in the Group. The weighted
average grant date fair value of restricted shares per share
and aggregate fair value of restricted shares at the date of
grant were RMB57.71 and RMB457,496,000, respectively. The
fair value of restricted shares of Sunshine Lake Pharma at the
grant date was determined by using the asset-based valuation
method.

(B = BB - GAAREIIR)

24 DEREENRD M

REEZERBRREBERRG L EER
ZEZ=FXNARMZRHBRMDE
S ZE==FXRHIRMTE]) -
LReI Rk BREE RBE_T_=
FXBHRMDAE AEEETD
TEB B B A X 5% % 7,926,777 Ik &
RRBGAREXZREIRG - TEE
BERAR®EQ0T738TT - ZEXR
R E L BB RS EF R
BE O KHREEBEERBLRE
ETENEZR -HEENEEAH
AIBERAA R E S ReE R EEEK
PR &l AR 19 1 08 R o 402 WA AR
MEBEBERRG A EERETHRR
AR B8 1T (52 {8 55 I 3% &89 5F F &[]
B (mEs) THERRRG &
FEMIEAEEREENEEPEFRSE o

ZEZ=F+LATNH AEER
ETHEBEERE_ZS_—F2R
BB (0 5T 21 1% 7,926,777 X & R R
5B ZR G D - ZRHIRHD
RELBBROSRMEFTHAAE
BERZEHBMRTLEBHNQR
BEABESNAARES7T.7ITRA
R#457,496,0007T ° BER R 5 &
EIBHEBROABELBBRENAAE
BERAEEMEEET -
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BRE=FEEAHN AUARKETIR)

24 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

(continued)

Total compensation expense calculated based on the
grant date fair value and the estimated forfeiture rate
recognised in the consolidated statements of profit or loss
for aforementioned restricted shares granted to the Group’s
employees were RMB89,371,000 (2023: RMB45,136,000).
No restrict shares were forfeited or vested during the year
ended 31 December 2024 (2023: n/a). The weighted-average
remaining contract life for the outstanding restricted shares
granted was 42 maonths as at 31 December 2024 (2023: 54).

24

DESERENRG N @)

BEREBBEAAEBERRGAE
mERERN LIAEFAEERE Z
BRI G EEHE W EFT E R
EBERABEAARYKS9,971,0007T
—FE =% : AR¥45,136,000
L) cBEZT-_NF+_-_A=+—
BIEFE - W EZR 5 IR0 502 0
BB (ZE_=F:TEA) - #H
E-FT-_MFEF+_A=+—H" B
BB & K 5 B 2 BRI AR 10 B9 hn
EEHFBENFHRR2EAR (=
TZ=F:54@AF) -

25 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 25 Z& B BRARAMNAE
OF FINANCIAL POSITION b3
(a) Current taxation in the consolidated statement of (a) HEMBRRRAMENEE E
financial position represents: E:
2024 2023
—E-mE —T-o=F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
[ihg=3 ARETRT ARBETTT
Provision of PRC CIT for the year F R B EFSH
B 6(a) 86,751 368,088
Under/(over)-provision for PRC  iBFFE B EFTEH
CIT in respect of prior years BETR(BEEE) 6@) 6,092 (66)
PRC CIT paid for the current year NFE RAE B2
TS (238,821) (230,485)
(145,978) 137,537
Balance of PRC CIT at 1 January »— A — B R B EA
1SS 146,209 8,672
Balance of PRC CIT at R+ A=+—8Hw
31 December PR EMSHAR 231 146,209
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BRmEEAN BUARKEIIR)

25 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 25 HZE8 B BEMRAETAMNRE

OF FINANCIAL POSITION (continued) Bs)
(b) Deferred tax assets recognised (b) CRIBELEHREBEEE
The components of deferred tax assets recognised in the RERE BRI KR A ERE IR
consolidated statements of financial position and the TR IEE FE AR IR 1D AR
movements during the year are as follows: ERNEHBHMT
Fair value
changein
connection
with
Provisions for derivative Excessed  Provisions for  Depreciation
Deferred  inventory and Accrued financial ~ advertisement intangible forfixed  Unused tax
revenue  receivables expenses  instruments expenses assets assets losses Total
BEfE
RETHREN FEREY SRIEZ BERS EYEE BE&E ABA
Deferred tax arising from:  EREHE : BERE FERRE Eit8R LABESD BX BE i hEER @it

RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB00D RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
AR®TL  ARHTL  ARETn  ARETn ARETn  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR

At 1 January 2023 R-B-cok
N

E
-A-A 507 11,993 39,238 18,526 14613 59,511 (13779 - 140,609

(Charged)/credited to () /HM@E
profit or loss (Note 6(a)) .
(MTE 6(&)) (49) 2,121 (2,956) (21,815) (24,613) 49,875 1,635 92,273 97,077

At 31 December 2023 and W-Z-= E
N———
1 January 2024
+=A=1-R
R-2-m#
-A-H 458 14720 36,282 (3,289) - 109,386 (12,144) 92,273 237,686
(Charged)/credited to (g ) /ﬂ AB#

profit or loss (Note 6(a)) .
GEL) Gy mES @) M0 a6 1950 10 48 (6w

At 31 December 2024 fi@:?:@ﬁ

T-A=+-H 434 27,859 - (389) 2,036 128,9% (10,524) 87,636 236,008
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=BHEAN GUARKEIITR)

25 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 25 #R&

OF FINANCIAL POSITION (continueq)
(c) Deferred tax assets not recognised

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note
1(t), the Group has not recognised deferred tax assets
in respect of cumulative tax losses of RMB390,119,000
(2023: RMB347,021,000) as it is not probable that
future taxable profits against which the losses can be
utilised will be available in the relevant tax jurisdiction
and entity.

The unrecognised tax losses will expire in the following

BRI R A&

e

(c)

TTFRIANELEHREE

BB L) T E = 5 BUR
BREEBECRBEREER
KB RARME @ T AR 8
BRI E R E A DK 8 Ay
HEACHEESE WAEHE
WHEMRFAHBEEE AR
390,119,000 C (=T = =4 :
AR ¥ 347,021,000 7T) FERIE
ERTHEE -

O R SR 2 6 B B 2 R BERR A

years: T ¢
2024 2023
—ENEF —Eo=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETx ARETF T
2024 —E - 41,145
2025 —E-RF 33,740 33,740
2026 ZERF 93,271 97,275
2027 —ECEF 72,683 76,161
2028 —E)N\F 95,481 98,700
2029 —TNF 94,944 -
390,119 347,021
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BRmEEAN BUARKEIIR)

26 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS 26 EX - REREKE
(a) Movements in components of equity of the Company (@) EAFRZERBHEH
The reconciliation between the opening and closing REBEGEERS D 2FEY
balances of each component of the Group’s consolidated N R G R 2 [ R S BR B A AR
equity is set out in the consolidated statement of ERREHERAN - BRAFUE
changes in equity. Details of the changes in the FREABA QN RE R E = 35
Company’s individual components of equity between the ZEBHBEHINNAT

beginning and the end of the year are set out below:

Share Capital Statutory Retained Total
capital reserve reserve earnings equity
S BRfRE EERE REEF Az
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREMTRT AR®TR ARBTR ARETE
Note 26(c)  Note 26(d)(i)  Note 26(d)(ii)
MisE26()  BEEE26()))  PEE 26(d)i)

Balance at 1 January 2023 RZEZ=%-A—-H&&# 879,968 2,647,175 328,692 2,641,352 6,497,187
Equity-settled share-based NEREENRAZ R
payments - 42,092 - - 42,092
Appropriation of statutory reserve  REUVAT ATE% - - 111,291 (111,291) -
Total comprehensive income FRE2ENELE
for the year - - - 1,910,568 1,910,568
Balance at 31 December 2023 i
and 1 January 2024 +ZA=+-Bk
—Z-MF-A-A
ok 879,968 2,689,267 439,983 4,440,629 8,449,847
Equity-settled share-based I B ER R X T
payments - 84,503 - - 84,503
Total comprehensive income FRE2ENELE
for the year - - - 626,141 626,141
Balance at 31 December 2024 R-ZE-M%E
+-A=t—-B&# 879,968 2,773,770 439,983 5,066,770 9,160,491
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B AN

BIUAARESITR)

26 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued)

26 EX - REERRE @)

(b) Dividends (b) BKE
No dividends have been declared or paid by the Company HE_ZS-=FR-_ZTUF
during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2024. +ZA=+—HIEFE ARQ
AT R IRTARE
(c) Share capital (c) K=
2023
—EB-NF —TC=F
Number of Number of
shares RMB’000 shares RMB’000
BRHBE AR¥TR BmgE ARETFT
Ordinary shares, issued TR RH LR
and fully paid: fi% -
As at 1 January and R—HAH—BX
31 December +=A=+—H| 879,967,700 879,968 | 879,967,700 879,968
(d) Reserves (d) f#E
(i) Capitalreserve (i) EBXFEE
The Company’s capital reserve mainly represented RAREAREEIER
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premium arising from capital injection from
equity owners after the deduction of treasury
shares cancellation, assets obtained from the
cantrolling shareholder, the grant date fair value
of unexercised share options granted to NCI of
a subsidiary of the Group and the grant date
fair value of restricted shares granted to the
employees of the Group (see Note 24) that has
been recognised in accordance with the accounting
policy adopted for share-based payments (see Note

1(s)(ii)).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B FS R I ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

26 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued)

(d)

(e)

U]

Reserves (continued)

(ii) Statutory reserve

According to the Company’s Articles of Association,
the Company is required to appropriate at least
10% of its net profit as determined in accordance
with the Company Law of the PRC to its statutory
surplus reserve until the reserve balance reaches
50% of the registered capital. The appropriation
to this reserve must be made before distribution
of a dividend to equity owners. The statutory
reserve can be utilised, upon approval by the
relevant authorities, to offset accumulated losses
or to convert into capital, provided that the
balance after such issue is not less than 25% of its
registered capital.

Distributability of reserves

At 31 December 2024, the aggregate amount of reserves
available for distribution to equity shareholders of
the Company, as calculated under the provisions of
Company Law of the PRC, was RMB5,066,770,000 (2023:
RMB4,440,629,000).

Capital management

The Group’s primary objective when managing capital is
to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for
its shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, by
pricing products commensurately with the level of risk
and by securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R M ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B AN

BIUAARESITR)

26 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued)

(

Capital management (continued)

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure to maintain a balance between the
higher shareholders returns that might be possible with
higher levels of bank loans and the advantages and
security afforded by a sound capital position, and makes
adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes
in economic conditions.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of
an adjusted net debt-to-capital ratio. For this purpose,
adjusted net debt is defined as total debt (which includes
interest-bearing borrowings and bank loans and other
borrowings) plus unaccrued proposed dividends, less
cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash. Adjusted
capital comprises all components of equity, less
unaccrued proposed dividends.

During 2024, the Group’s strategy was to maintain the
capital in order to continue its operations, cover its
planned and/or committed capital expenditure and cover
its debt position.

26 EX - REERRE @)

U
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 755 B vt

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BRmEEAN BUARKEIIR)

26 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (continued) 26 EX - HERKRE &)

(f)  Capital management (continued) ) BEXEE(E)
REBR-_ZE-_WNER_-ZT
—ZF+-A=+—B2Z&H
BRERE R ENT

The Group’s adjusted net debt-to-equity ratios at 31
December 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

2024 2023
—EBCmE T =F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
[ihg=3 ARBTR ARBTR
Bank loans and other IRITER R EAM
borrowings — current g5 — BNER 21 1,331,611 2,319,518
Bank loans and other IRITER R EAM
borrowings — non-current &R — JERNER 21 889,235 288,286
Total debt BED 2,220,846 2,607,804
Less: Restricted cash 5)& C R HIR S 17 (395,613) (1,567,300)
Less: Cash and cash equivalents & : IR & MBS HE
EH 18 (1,403,777)|  (1,674,413)
Adjusted net debt/(capital) BREEL,(EX)
R 421,456 (633,909)
Total equity gL 8,508,196 7,935,513
Adjusted Capital RARER 8,508,196 7,935,513
Adjusted net debt-to-equity  EFEEFEKUES
ratio o= 5% N/A
Except for the covenants of bank loan disclosed in Note HE-Z-_@WF+=-—A=+—H"

B BT 2T 21(a)(il) PR BB O SR 1T & R
BN AR E&,H\EHWJ%A Al
BRI EAREL

21 (a)(ii), neither the Company nor its subsidiary are
subject to externally imposed capital requirements as at
31 December 2024.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R M ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BRZEEAH  HAARKETITR)

27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 27
VALUES

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency
risks arises in the normal course of the Group’s business.
The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk
management policies and practices used by the Group to
manage these risks are described below.

(@) Creditrisk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will
default on its contractual obligations resulting in a
financial loss to the Group. The Group’s credit risk is
primarily attributable to trade and other receivables.
The Group maintains a defined credit policy and the
expasures to these credit risks are monitored on an
ongoing basis. The Group’s expasure to credit risk arising
from cash and cash equivalents is limited because the
counterparties are banks and financial institutions,
for which the Group considers to have low credit
risk. Management has a credit policy in place and the
expasures to these credit risks are monitored on an

ongoing basis.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly
by the individual characteristics of each customer rather
than the industry or country in which the customers
operate and therefore significant concentrations of
credit risk primarily arise when the Group has significant

exposure to individual customers.
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B FS R I ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES (continued)

(a)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group has a concentration of credit risk of the total
trade receivables due from the Group’s largest debtor

and the five largest debtors as follows:

(% B HEASN - HAANRESIR)
MERBREERAAEE

FERE (&)

AEENEERRSES  BYK
AEEERKEBARAKRER
AWE ZRYGRIERREMT

2024 2023
—E-mEF —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AREBTT

Due from JE Uk
— largest trade debtor — &EREBA 30% 22%
— five largest trade debtors — AREBA 56% 68%

In respect of trade and other receivables, individual
credit evaluations are performed on all customers
requiring credit over a certain amount. These evaluations
focus on the customer’s past history of making
payments when due and current ability to pay, and take
into account information specific to the customer as well
as pertaining to the economic environment in which the
customer operates. Credit limit is established for each
distributor which represents the maximum open amount
or credit term without requiring approval from the Board
of Directors. The Group chases the customers to settle
the due balances and monitors the settlement progress
on an ongoing basis. The Group usually granted credit
term to distributors which was generally due within
30-90 days from the date of billing. Normally, the Group
does not obtain collateral from customers.

HEZREMERFKIEMS -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R M ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B AN

BIUAARESITR)

27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES (continued)

(a)

Credit risk (continued)

The Group measures loss allowances for trade debtors
and bills receivable and other debtors at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated using a
provision matrix. As the Group’s historical credit loss
experience does not indicate significantly different
loss patterns for different customer segments, the
loss allowance based on past due status is not further
distinguished between the Group’s different customer
bases.

The following table provides information about the
Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade
receivables and bills receivable:

27 MBEBEERAAEE

(%)

(a)

FERE (&)

AEEZEFNEBEE WA
BHEEERNSRAEES
B U BR TR N PR M R 9B % EL At R
WEHERNEREE AR
TERBEREAERSL - /A
RASEEBENEEBELR
TARRARELDRHEHEXN
TREBEEESN  EXBEas
MENEBEERETSE TN
AEETRZPER 2R —

R

AEEE HRYGRARERE
BOEERRK A LEREE
EEMNBAERMTNRAT

2024

—E-mE

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount  allowance
EHEEE JREHAE EBEREE
% RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR®TR
Within 6 months 61E AR 0.5% 1,448,265 7,241

More than 6 months but within HBiB6EAE1F A

1 year 11% 650,101 71,511
More than 1 year but within 2 years #B3@ 198 2FR 45% 116,329 52,348
More than 2 years but within 3 years i@ 2 F18 3 F K 100% 67 67
More than 3 years BiR3F 100% 6,076 6,076
2,220,838 137,243
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 755 B vt

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BRmEEAN BUARKEIIR)

27 HHEBREERAAEBE

27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUES (continued) (&)
(@) Credit risk (continued) (@) E=EREREE)
2023
—E-=
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TEHIE IR = RHAE EiE R
% RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFT AR®ETT
Within 6 months 61 AR 0.5% 1,980,201 9,901
More than 6 months but within HBREeEAELIFR
1 year 11% 13,957 1,535
More than 1 year but within 2 years BB 1FE 24 R 45% 67 30
More than 2 years but within 3 years #8i& 2 F1E3F R 100% 15 15
More than 3 years HBim3F 100% 6,317 6,317
2,000,557 17,798
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R M ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B AN

BIUAARESITR)

27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES (continued)

(a)

(b)

YICHANG HEC CHANGJIANG PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Credit risk (continued)

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of

27

MERBREERAAEBE

(%)

(a)

FERE (&)

FREZHERYGALERRE

trade receivables and hills receivable during the year is EERERNZEHOT
as follows:
2024 2023
—ED@mE T =F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AREBTT
Balance at 1 January R—A—BW&e 17,798 11,171
Impairment loss recognised FANRRBRESE
during the year 121,428 6,710
Impairment loss reversed FAREREEE
during the year (1,766) (83)
Amount written off during the year ~ F A& 58 (217) -
Balance at 31 December RT+-A=+—HMW&Es% 137,243 17,798
Liquidity risk (b) FEELRAR

The Company and its individual subsidiaries are
responsible for their own cash management, including
short-term investment of cash surpluses and the raising
of loans to cover expected cash demands, subject to
approval by the Company’s board when the bank loans
exceed certain predetermined levels of authority.
The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending covenants,
to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash,
readily realisable marketable securities and adequate
committed lines of funding from major financial
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the

short and longer term.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 755 B vt

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BRmEEAN BUARKEIIR)

27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 27 HHEBREERAAEBE

VALUES (continued) (%)

(b) Liquidity risk (continued) (b) FREBELERR(E)
The following tables show the remaining contractual TREVNAEEZSRBER
maturities at the end of each report periods of the SHEBRB T 26 L5 H
Group’s financial liabilities, which are based on A DEREARTRRSN
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest (BRREHNFEFE ZFE
payments computed at contracted rates, if floating, R S RFB R X - Bl
based on rates current at the end of the reporting period) RBERARERHMNEFTE
and the earliest date the Group can be required to: NRAEEEE R ZFEE:

2024
—E-mg

Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
BARTBRERE

More than ~ More than

Withinl  1yearbut 2yearsbut
yearoron  lessthan  lessthan  More than Carrying
demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total amount

1¥ps #B1F  #B2F
RERX 2R B5Fh  BB5F wst REE
RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTR ARWMTRT ARMTR AR¥TR AR%®TxR

Bank loans BITER 1,237,455 452,767 259,565 91,756 2,041,543 1,920,971
Trade and other payables B S REMERTIE 1,467,646 - - - 1,467,646 1,467,646
Lease liabilities HEBE 3,871 3,871 7,209 - 14,951 13,989
Obligations arising from sale and &% M E X 5

leaseback transactions EENEK 168,540 128,924 18,336 - 315,800 299,875
Total st 2,877,512 585,562 285,110 91,756 3,839,940 3,702,481
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R M ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BRE=FEEAHN AUARKETIR)

27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 27 MBRABEERAAEE
VALUES (continued) (%)
(b) Liquidity risk (continued) (b) FREBELERR(E)
2023
—ET-=F
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
AHARTRALTL
More than ~ More than

Within1 ~ 1yearbut 2 yearsbut

yearoron  lessthan L
demand 2 years

ess than
5 years

16Rs  @Bl1E  BB2F
BER  E26R  {ESER
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFT ARBTT ARETT

More than Carrying
5 years Total amount

BiB5F ezt REE
RMB'OO0  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTT AREBTT ARBTE

Bank loans BITER 1,787,915 210,599 503,609 23,912 2,526,035 2,419,436
Trade and other payables B 5 REMEMNFE 1,755,352 - - - 1,755,352 1,755,352
Lease liabilities HEEE 419 419 838 - 1,676 1,524
Obligations arising from sale and &% E X 5
leaseback transactions EENEK 160,966 18,412 18,412 - 197,790 188,368
Total fazt 3,704,652 229,430 522,859 23,912 4,480,853 4,364,680
(c) Interest rate risk (c) FEER

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. The Group’s
interest rate risk arises primarily from bank loans. Bank
loans that are at variable rates and at fixed rates expose
the Group to cash flow interest rate risk and fair value
interest rate risk respectively. The Group’s interest rate
profiles as monitored by management is set out in (i)
below.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUES (continued)

(c) Interest rate risk (continued)

B FS R I ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BRmEEAN BUARKEIIR)

BBERERERAAEE

27

(%)

(0 F=mEg(E)

() Interest rate profile (i) FBARR
The following table details the interest rate TRFMRN TR EBHRA
profile of the Group’s bank loans at the end of the SEBRITERFEAR
reporting period: e
2024 2023
b a2 I S
Effective Effective
interest rate Amount interest rate Amount
1 ik Ex ERf% Ex:
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETFT
Fixed rate instruments: EEFZEIA:
Obligations arising from saleand €% MAETZEEHER
leaseback transactions 4.50%-6.00% 265,231 | 4.95%-5.76% 38,205
Floating rate instrument; BEIR:
Bank loans BIER LPR+ LPR-
Obp-74bp 1815128 | 1250p-335bp 2,399,924
Obligations arising from saleand  £ABER SEAHEHK
leaseback transactions LPR 34,644 |LPR+0bp~220bp 150,163
Totalinterest-bearing loansand ~ HEEF R IE 424
borrowings 2,115,003 2,588,292
Net fixed rate instrumentsasa BT FIETAFEE
percentage of total instruments T EBENE AL 14.18% 1.48%
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R M ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BB EHEBAN  GUARKEIITR)

27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 27
VALUES (continued)

(c) Interest rate risk (continued)
(i)  Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2024, it is estimated that a
general increase/decrease of 25 basis points
in bank loans interest rates, with all other
variables held constant, would have decrease/
increase the Group’s profit after tax and retained
profits by approximately RMB3,702,000 (2023:
RMB5,243,000). Other components of equity would
not be affected by the changes in interest rates.

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the impact
on the Group’s profit for the year and retained
profits that would arise assuming that there is an
annualised impact on interest expense by a change
in interest rates. The analysis has been performed
on the same basis as 2023.

(d) Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through
bank loans, interest-bearing barrowings, shares issued
upon initial public offering which give rise to cash
balances and purchase which give rise to receivables and
payables that are denominated in a foreign currency,
i.e. a currency other than the functional currency of
the operations to which the transactions relate. The
currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily Euro, Hong
Kong dollars and United States dollars.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 755 B vt

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BRmEEAN BUARKEIIR)

27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 27 MBEBEERAAEE
VALUES (continued) (&)
(d) Currency risk (continued) d) EBx¥ERE)
() Exposure to currency risk () ERE¥ER
The following table details the Group’s exposure TRFAFMEAEBRNRE
at the end of the reporting period to currency HARFTHE G E £ B R
risk arising from recognised assets or liabilities NEBEREEEE
denominated in a currency other than the SN EBFTEMNEEK
functional currency of the entity to which they BENEERR B2
relate. For presentation purposes, the amounts of M E - B eRENA
the exposure are shown in RMB, translated using REEF R REEHEDR
the spot rate at the year end date. HERKBE o

Exposure to foreign currencies (expressed in RMB)

EERMERE (UARBIITR)
2024 2023
—EmE —TZ=F
United United
States States Hong Kong
Dollars Euro Dollars Dollars
EP BT e BT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRT ARBTR AR®TT ARETR

Cash and cash equivalents RekAE&EHEEHR 70 - 15 20
Accounts payables JEfBR R - (1,641) - -
Bank loans RITER - - (672,857) -
Accounts receivables JRE 5 B 3R 1,669 - - -

Net exposure arising from BREEREEN
recognised assets and bR
liabilities 1,739 (1,641) (672,842) 20
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B %5 R M ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B AN

BIUAARESITR)

27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES (continued)

(d) Currency risk (continued)

(i)

27 MBEBEERAAEE

(%)

(d) E¥ERE)

Sensitivity analysis (i) HBREDH
At 31 December 2024, it is estimated that a RZZTE-_WMF+ = A
general appreciation/depreciation of 5% in RMB, =+—H ERBEAM
with all other variables held constant, would have BERFTELNELT
increased/decreased the Group’s net profit for the mEtAREERENE T
year and retained profits as below. B5% HEHAEEN
FROFMNE RRE R F
DRI EAIT .
2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARBTT
United States Dollars EV 74 28,596
Euro BT (62) -

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change
in foreign exchange rate had been applied to re-
measure the financial instruments held by the
Group which expose the Group to foreign currency
risk at the end of the reporting period. The analysis
excludes differences that would result from the
translation of the financial statement of foreign
operations into the Group’s presentation currency.
The analysis is performed on the same basis for
2023.
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B FS R I ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES (continued)

(e) Fair value measurement

0]

Financial instruments and liabilities measured at

fair value

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the

Group’s financial instruments measured at the

end of the reporting period on a recurring basis,

categorised into the three-level fair value hierarchy

as defined in IFRS 13, Fair value measurement.

The level into which a fair value measurement

is classified is determined with reference to the

observability and significance of the inputs used in

the valuation technique as follows:

. Level 1 valuations:
. Level 2 valuations:
. Level 3 valuations:

Fair value measured using only
Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted
quoted prices in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities at
the measurement date.

Fair value measured using Level
2 inputs i.e. observable inputs
which fail to meet Level 1, and
not using significant unobservable
inputs. Unobservable inputs are
inputs for which market data are
not available.

Fair value measured using
significant unabservable inputs.

(B =B

BIAARESIR)

27 MBEBEERAAEE

(&)
e) &
0]

EE

E'JK
o

BAREBEFENS R
IEREE

KR EEER

TR TR E B REZ
KEMEEGFENAEAE
EemIAMAREE"
DB SRS E
Bl 135E AN BENE
FIRAEN=ZHANEE
Bk -AAEBHETED
DEKRKEDLZEHRER
My BT A A iR &) P B
RMREBUHEFHOT

© FIRRE: EERFIABANE

AENLLEE D
REEELEESE]
EARRM S A
BHBE-

SGEIELIN ¢ 5
ENNAEE  DAE
BHRIRNTEES
AR BAEREX
AUBEGALR - £
ERNEAHERE
FERTEEENEA
i

EREAFTRREA
SBTENAABE

¢« B2RME:

© F30ME:

FERE 2024 /| EERG R TEERMNER AR

299



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

S = =
P e Ead i
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BRE=FEEAHN AUARKETIR)

27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUES (continued)
(e)

Fair value measurement (continued)

(i) Financial instruments and liabilities measured at

fair value (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

27

BBERERERAAEE

(%)
(e) DAEMEFE(E)

() BAREBENENEE
TARGBE#E)

KA EEER (E)

Fair value measurements as at
31 December 2024 categorised into
RZB-ME+=A=+—-HBH

AREEHESER
Fair value at
31 December
2024 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
R-ZB-m%F
+=ZA=+-H
ZRAfER E14 EPEE #38
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT R ARBTR AR®TR ARBTR
Recurring fair value REMIAEETE
measurements
Financial assets measuredat AR BEFEAEE
FUPL AR EREE
— Listed equity securities — FRARES 17,066 17,066 - -
— Investmentinaprivate fund — RFLEELHIHE 3,839 - - 3,839
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 755 B vt

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(RS BEBEIN  HIUAREKEIIR)
27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 27 HKEBEERAAEE
VALUES (continued) (&)
(e) Fair value measurement (continued) (e) 2AREEEE)
(i)  Financial instruments and liabilities measured at (i) BAAREEENSH
fair value (continued) TEREBE(E)
Fair value hierarchy (continued) INTTEEER (E)
Fair value measurements as at
31 December 2023 categorised into
RZZZ=F+-A=1t—HH
DREENENES
Fair value at

31 December

2023 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
R-Z-=%
+=A=+—H
ZRREME £14 WL ERE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT ARBFT ARBT ARBTFT
Recurring fair value BEMDAEENE
measurements
Financial assets measuredat AR EEFEAEE
FVPL FAABRNEREE
— Listed equity securities — FRAES 19,587 19,587 - -
— Foreign currency option — INEHREA K
contracts 18,686 - 18,686 -
Financial assets measuredat ~ EAA EEFEAEZEH
FUPL SABRNEREE
— Foreign currency option —NEEREH
contracts (1,139) = (1,139) =

During the years ended 31 December 2024, there

were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or

transfers into or out of Level 3.

HE-Z-_HWFE+=A
=+—HLEFE FIR
M2 Ry M EER
FEALBHEIR -

FEHRE 2024 /| EERGARIEXRRNERAF



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R M ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B BRI - HLAREF|R)
27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 27 BIEREERAAEBE
VALUES (continued) (%)

(e) AAREEEGE)

(e) Fair value measurement (continued)

(i) Financial instruments and liabilities measured at (i) BEAAREEFENEH
fair value (continued) IAERBE(E)
Information about Level 3 fair value measurements BEEIRANBEE

B
The movements during the year in the balance ZEEIFAREEMNE
of these Level 3 fair value measurements are as EHRHFNERIOT ¢
follows:
2024 2023
—BDME _—_T=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARBTT
Unlisted equity securities: FELTRAFES
At 1 January n—H—H - 2,312,320
Disposal during the year FRHE - (2,312,320)
At 31 December R+=—A=+—H - -
Investment in private fund: RALEESHIRE -
At 1 January n—H—H - -
Addition during the year FARE 55,000 -
Disposal during the year FRHE (51,895) -
Fair value changes in profit or FNFTABZEN
loss during the year NREEZD 734 -
At 31 December R+=—A=+—8 3,839 -

The gains or losses arising from the remeasurement

of the listed equity securities, the foreign currency

option contracts, the conversion option embedded

BEXFTELTRARS
SNEHIRER L RAH
BMESOHERE - F

in the convertible bonds, unlisted equity securities IR AFEZSERILE
and investment in a private fund are presented EsmMREMEENK

in the “Other net income/(loss)” line item in the

consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B FS R I ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES (continued)

(e) Fair value measurement (continued)
(ii)  Fair value of other financial assets and liabilities

carried at other than fair value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial
instruments carried at cost or amortised cost were
not materially different from their fair values as at
31 December 2024.

28 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Capital commitments outstanding at 31 December not

provided for in the consolidated financial statements were as

(% B HEASN - HAANRESIR)
27 WHEABREERAAEE

(%)
(e) DAEMEFE(E)

(i) HA2RBEAMGKXI
ENEMEREERE
BRAEE

7N 5 B 2 X AN Bk B 8 AR
AUENESRBIAKE
BEEER T - MF
+ZA=+—HBMAR
BEITESA=ER -

28 BARKiIE

RTZA=1t—H &KV BR
RPRBEORBITENEEDNT

follows:

2024 2023
—E-_NE T =F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®Tx ARETF T

Contracted for SHES]
Acquisition of fixed assets BERTEEE 234,231 568,069
Acquisition of intangible assets BEEFEE 1,350,505 1,427,105

1,584,736 1,995,174
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R M ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=BHEAN GUARKEIITR)

related parties of the Group include the following:

Name of related parties

BB S B

29 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 29 EXRBEBAERS
During 2024 and 2023, the directors are of the view that RZE-_NFR T -_=ZF &=

RRRNEERRER T BRATED

Relationship with the Group
BEREENER

Sunshine Lake Pharma

BRI EEE

Shaoguan HEC Packaging and Printing Co., Ltd.*
(RAREXBEIHRERAR)
(“Shaoguan HEC Printing”)

HEARG K BEDRBRA A
([ HBRAREE X EDRI )

Yichang HEC Power Plant Co., Ltd.*
(EERBGHX N NEBEBRAR)
(“HEC Power Plant”)

HERGHXXNEEBERAA
(IREBHXNNEE])

Ruyuan HEC Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.*
(URREGAEXRARAF)
(“Ruyuan HEC Pharmaceutical”)
ARRGHEXFRAF
(TFURRBS %)
Yidu Changjiang Machinery Equipment Co., Ltd.*
(BERIIHM R ER R A R]) (“Yidu Machinery”)
EMRTIEHRBER LR ((EWMRITEHRE])

Shenzhen HEC Industrial

RYNREBE I EE

the immediate parent of the Group

AEENEZRY AR

effectively owned by the ultimate controlling
shareholder

MREERERERER

effectively owned by the ultimate controlling
shareholder

MREERERERER

effectively owned by the ultimate controlling
shareholder

HREERERERER

effectively owned by the ultimate controlling
shareholder
HERRIERBRRERER

effectively owned by the ultimate controlling
shareholder
HERERRRERES
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 755 B vt

29 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

Name of related parties

BB S B

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BRmEEAN BUARKEIIR)

29 EXEBAERS &)

Relationship with the Group
BRAEENESFR

Guangdong HEC Health Sales Co., Ltd.*
(BERREAAEEHEEGRAR])
(“Guangdong HEC Health Sales”)

BERREAAREHEEGRAF
(TERREAREERHEED

Yichang HEC Biochemical Manufacturing Co., Ltd.*

(EERGHEMKEBRAR])
(“HEC Biochemistry Manufacturing”)

HERGHENKEFRAF
(IR r8dsE])

Dongguan HEC Drug Development Co., Ltd.*
(RERBGAEDHEARRAF)
(“Dongguan HEC Drug Development”)

RERBGAEDHAEERAF
(IRERB L EMIHE D)

Yichang Shancheng Shuidu Restaurant Co., Ltd.*

(BEEWBKEAREBRAT)

(“Yichang Shancheng Shuidu Restaurant”)
HEIBKBARREGRAF

(IEEWLEKEARIE])

Shenzhen HEC Formed Foil Co., Ltd.*
ORI RIS AR ER D BRAR])
(“Shenzhen HEC Formed Foil”)

YT RG KA ERG BR AT
(DRI ARACKE]D

effectively owned by the ultimate controlling
shareholder

HREERRRESEA

effectively owned by the ultimate controlling
shareholder

HREERRRESEA

effectively owned by the ultimate controlling
shareholder

HREERRRESEA

effectively owned by the ultimate controlling
shareholder

HREERRRESEA

effectively owned by the ultimate controlling
shareholder

HREERRRESEA
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R M ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=BHEAN GUARKEIITR)

29 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 29 EXBEBMAERS (@)

(continued)

Name of related parties Relationship with the Group

BB S &8 BEREENER

Dongguan HEC Biopharmaceutical R&D Co., Ltd.* effectively owned by the ultimate controlling
(REMRGHEMEEREFRAT) shareholder
(“Dongguan HEC Biopharmaceutical”)

REMRGHEYEREERAA HRARIERBRRERSER

(IREMREBALEWE])

HEC (Hong Kong) Sales Co., Limited effectively owned by the ultimate controlling
(BBREHIBEERAT]) shareholder
(“HEC (Hong Kang) Sales )

EERGHHEERRARD([BEBREGHIFEE]D HRARIERBRRERER

HEC Pharm Management (Singapare) Pte. Ltd. effectively owned by the ultimate controlling
(RS EEERBERAGT) shareholder
(“HEC Pharm Management (Singapore)”)

MM RGAEXREEFGRAF HEKERRRERES

(s R B E R )

HEC Medicine Retail Chain Co., Ltd. Yidu Store* effectively owned by the ultimate controlling
(R e EEHEARARELE) shareholder
(“HEC Medicine Retail Chain”)

REABETEEHFRAREME HRAEREREDER

([REBLBETEEH])

* The English translation of the above companies’ names is for reference * FRAREBOEBEEHSE - Z
only. The official names of these companies are in Chinese. ERANEFBERP AN -
# The controlling shareholder sold its equity interests in Yidu Construction M PRREA-—E-——&#hA -+ /A
T N — = — —
to a third party on 28 September 2023. Yidu Construction was no longer TR EE TS o g
a related party of the Group since then. b EREATES A EEG T -
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29 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B FS R I ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B

(continued)

(a)

Transactions with related parties (a)

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
entered into the following material related party

BAANRESIR)

29 EXEBAERS &)

REBLZX5

BHE_T-_NF+-_A=+—
BItFE  AEEFYATE

transactions: N
2024 2023
ZEDRE T =F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AREBTT
(i)  Purchase of goods from: () BUTEZFEEER:
— HEC Biochemistry — RGN E (R
Manufacturing 26,604 33,579
— HEC Power Plant —REHNNEE 47,307 40,822
— Shaoguan HEC Printing — ARG 25,563 37,869
— Ruyuan HEC Pharmaceutical — FLRERG e B 25,436 30,714
— Others — HAh, 79 912
124,989 143,896
(i) Receive services from: (i) BEIXUTEIRE:
— Sunshine Lake Pharma —BRRGNEE 536,346 167,611
— Yidu Construction — HAREEE - 12,936
— Ruyuan HEC Pharmaceutical — FLRERG e B 3,343 8,987
— HEC Biochemistry — RSk A s
Manufacturing 3,186 3,186
— Yichang Shancheng Shuidu — B E LK KRS
Restaurant 23,707 13,348
— Dongguan HEC — R R G &) 4
Biopharmaceutical 6,509 =
— Others — EAth 2,815 986
575,906 207,054
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R M ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(KRB HEAI - HAARESR)
29 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 29 EXEBAERS &)
(continued)
(@) Transactions with related parties (continued) (a) EBEMAXREZ ()
2024 2023
—BDME _—_T=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETrx AREBTT
(i) Lease assets from: (i) MUTEHFHEEEE
— Dongguan HEC Drug — RERG Y
Development 2,629 2,226
— Shenzhen HEC Formed Foil — RN EG KA 472 651
— Others — EAfh 645 545
3,746 3,422
(iv) Payments past through: (iv) BBUTESRK:
— Sunshine Lake Pharma — BERRG s 15,604 22,588
— Shenzhen HEC Industrial —FEBBREE 283,490 -
299,094 22,588
(v)  Cash collection through: (v) BBEATESHWEIRS :
— Sunshine Lake Pharma — BERRG e aEE 35,840 154,960
(vi) Proceeds arise from Target (viy BEREERELEWD
Products: TS A
— Sunshine Lake Pharma — BERRG s 318,743 92,339
(vii) Sales of goods to: i) MUATEFHEEER
— Sunshine Lake Pharma — EREGEE 10,082 11,698
— HEC (Hong Kong) Sales — BEBRGHIEE 5 1,536
— HEC Pharm Management MRS BEEEE
(Singapore) 1,799 -
— Yidu Machinery EH# R R 1,621 -
— HEC Medicine Retail Chain RGBT EEH 51 969
13,558 14,203
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R E e

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRmEEAN BUARKEIIR)

29 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 29 EXEABAIRE (&)

(continued)

(@) Transactions with related parties (continued) (a) EBEMAXREZ ()
2024 2023
—E-NME —_E=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT AR®EFTT
(viii) Provide entrusted production  (viii) [AIA NEHIRHEEE
and inspection services to: A E BRI AR 7% -
— Sunshine Lake Pharma — EREGEE 23,363 60,471
— Others — Efh 3,529 319
26,892 60,790
(ix) Purchase of fixed assets from:  (ix) MU T&FEREBETE
BE
— Yidu Machinery — EERIT RS 2,918 9,637
— Others — Efh 141 -
3,059 9,637
(x)  Purchase of intangible assets  (x) A N&HREBEFL
from: BE:
— Sunshine Lake Pharma — ERBERG 76,600 298,177
(xi) Lease assets to: xi)y MUTEHEHBEE:
— Sunshine Lake Pharma — ERBERG 1,132 274
— Others — Efh 320 -
1,452 274
(xii) Proceeds arise from the sharing (xii) 2 #HELR
agreement: PRISFRIA -
— Sunshine Lake Pharma — BERRG G 47,985 23,037
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R M ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BRE=FEEAHN AUARKETIR)

29 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 29 EXEABAIRE (&)

(continued)

(b) Balances with related parties (b) EEEAEES AL
(i) Amounts due from related parties (i) FEWREBSRE
2024 2023
—EC-E —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARETF T
Prepayments and trade RERTEFBHIER KR
receivables from: B 5 WA -
— Sunshine Lake Pharma — EREGEEE 564,415 229,555
— Guangdong HEC Health Sales — EREB X AEFEHE 121 189
— Others — Efb 3,393 1,599
567,929 231,343
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29 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(continued)

(b)

(c)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B

Balances with related parties (continued) (b)

(i)

Amounts due to related parties

B FS R I ot

BAANRESIR)

29 EXEBAERS &)

SLRARE T MY AR R (4B)

(i) FESEREE TS RRIA

2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARBTT
Trade payables and other ERATETHNES R
payables to: H fth FRIE

— Shaoguan HEC Printing — HRB RS ER 6,181 436
— Yidu Machinery — BHECRIT W R B - 5
— Sunshine Lake Pharma — BRERGEEE 316,724 -

— Dongguan HEC — SRSETH 5R 5 A  4E
Biopharmaceutical 5,900 -

— Yichang Shancheng Shuidu — HE LK EBRERIE
Restaurant 5,428 -
— HEC Power Plant —REHNNEE 4,595 -
— Ruyuan HEC Pharmaceutical ~ — FLIRERFZ e a2 2,954 -
— Others — HA 1,537 -
343,319 441

Financial guarantees () MBER

At 31 December 2024, guarantees were issued to
the Group by Shenzhen HEC Industrial, Mr. Zhang
Yushuai and Mrs. Guo Meilan, the ultimate controlling

party of the Group in connection with bank loans and
other borrowings amounted to RMB1,582,722,000

RMB276,000,000 of the Group.

and bills payable due to related parties amounted to

FEHE 2024 / =

R_ZE-—mE+ - =+—
B RIEBEAEE A&EEH
B IE R 7 R B R S £ R FD
BHEZITRAEBRITERK
HMERmAEBRENER
S A ARM1,582,722,000
7T R Bt FE A A b BE B 5 AR W)
AEERENERSEAAR
# 276,000,000 7T °

EREARIEXZRNABRAT
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Br 1R R M5t

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BREEEAN - AUARKEIIR)

29 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 29 EXBB IR 5)

(continued)

(d) Key management personnel compensation d FESEEASHERMH
Remuneration for key management personnel of the AEEFEZEBEAEBNHMN (B
Group, including amounts paid to the Company’s B THATEENRARE
directors’ as disclosed in Note 7 and certain of the ERMESEENE TR
highest paid employees as disclosed in Note 8, is as A THFIBE) AT -
follows:

2024 2023
—ED@mE T =F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AREBTT
Salaries and other benefits e hEMmEF 14,348 14,869
Contribution to defined retirement  FE8ER1EFIEH 2K
benefit schemes 527 162
Equity-settled share-based payments LAME 25 4% & H) A% () 52 1+ 72,717 36,358
87,592 51,389
Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (See Note FaBET ATEIRA] (R
5(h)). st 5(b)) °

(e) Applicability of the Listing Rules relating to connected (e) HEAEXZHBAMWLWRAN
transactions BAM
The recurring transactions with related parties in respect bt B 5 29(a) FR A R B 5 A
of Note 29(a) above constitute continuing connected BUHRZEK ETMAAE T
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing AETER TZHBHERS -
Rules. The disclosures required by Chapter 14A of the BB ETRANE+THAZAR
Listing Rules are provided in section headed “Continuing ELEBHNREEFHRE 2[5
Connected Transactions” of the Directors’ Report. BEEXH] 8-
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B FS R I ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

FERE 2024 /| EE

(BB BRI HUAREHIR)
30 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 30 A EIEEZBMEMRE
POSITION
2024 2023
—ENEF —E-=F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B AR®BTT ARBTT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Fixed assets BETE&EE
— Property, plant and equipment  — ¥ « BE R &RE 2,042,159 2,121,701
— Right-of-use assets — FRAEEE 220,259 213,723
2,262,418 2,335,424
Intangible assets mAE 2,018,046 1,925,185
Investments in subsidiaries AU B R RIMERE 12 1,269,892 1,260,692
Interests in an associate B N B 25,464 12,571
Financial assets measured at FVPL AR BETEHEA
HEABENEREE 17,066 19,587
Prepayments T FRIE 305,446 53,401
Deferred tax assets BEETRIBEE 108,406 124,227
... 6006738 5,731,087
Current assets RBEE
Inventories FE 523,407 334,631
Trade and other receivables B 5 K H b Uk FiIE 4,356,429 3,530,410
Prepayments TEfT IR 324,222 269,625
Financial assets measured at FVPL HZ’D\/"C BEzFEH8H
SFTABERNEREE 3,839 18,686
Restricted cash ZREIRE 215,613 1,247,300
Cash and cash equivalents ReFkBEeFHEE 852,263 1,607,608
| e215,173 7,008,260

REXRTEZBRNDERDF]



314

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BTSRRI ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(KRB HEAI - HAARESR)
30 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 30 ARIEEZMBEMRRNT @)
POSITION (continued)
2024 2023
—E-NFE T =F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
e AR®BTT AREF T
Current liabilities REEE
Trade and other payables B 5 hH M ENFRIE 1,343,675 1,717,304
Contract liabilities EHBE 19,024 81,600
Bank loans and other borrowings RITER L HE A ER 1,186,857 1,979,436
Lease liabilities HEAE 3,419 359
Deferred income IEE W e 4,564 4,680
Financial liabilities measured at FVPL AR EEFTEHE
FE) T ABENERAE - 1,139
Current taxation B EA%R I8 - 145,039
| 2,557,539 | 3,929,557
Netcurrentassets ~~~~~ #"EBRE®RE | 3718234 | 3078703
Total assets less current liabilities &AEERABEE 9,724,972 8,809,790
Non-current liabilities FEREBEE
Bank loans and other borrowings IRITER R HE AR 412,868 213,288
Deferred income PEIE W = 141,042 145,490
Lease liabilities HEAaRE 10,571 1,165
T 564481 | 359,843
Net assets FEE 9,160,491 8,449,847
Capital and reserves EXK#E 26
Share capital (&N 879,968 879,968
Reserves i 8,280,523 7,569,879
Total equity HRER 9,160,491 8,449,847
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32

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B FS R I ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE CONTROLLING
PARTIES

At 31 December 2024, the directors consider the immediate
parent of the Group to be Sunshine Lake Pharma, which is
incorporated in the PRC. The ultimate controlling party of
the Group to be Mr. Zhang Yushuai and his mother Mrs. Guo
Meilan.

POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW
STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2024

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the IASB
has issued a number of new or amended standards, which are
not yet effective for the year ended 31 December 2024 and
which have not been adopted in these financial statements.
These developments include the following which may be

relevant to the Group.

31

32

GEEE LE
EERBRERRR

BIAARESIR)

RZF-_NFE+-A=+—HB &
ERARAEBNEERRATART
BRI ERREGLEE -
AEBENRKEET BERBENEE
RESRIERMELL -

RBEE-Z-_NF+=A

=St-HLEFEEHEME

o RERWIERT - #E R
RERENEEXE

BEEWEHHREATEE A AR
eHEAREeC B S EREE
—EomEtZASt-BILER
4 okt L S o B e S B SRR
SRR HT AT IS S IR A - T
BEETASEN L aAERSH
OESIR

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after
BUATHEHR 2%
RIS AR

Amendments to IAS 21, Lack of exchangeability
BB & 5 ERISE 21 5% (BRI A) » R = L

Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7: Amendments to the Classification and

Measurement of Financial Instruments
B B B s R 2 AE BN SR 9 5 R BB B B R
Hem T AN ELSEEET

IFRS 18, Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements
BRI i RIS 185% - U HHEXNZES RFE

FERE 2024 /| EE

HRIZ 75 (EETA) -

1 January 2025
—E_1F—H—H

1 January 2026

—E-RF—H—H

1 January 2027
—E_+F—H—H

REXRTEZBRNDERDF]
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R M ot

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
(BRE=FEEAHN AUARKETIR)

32 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW 32 REBE-Z-_WFE+=A

STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED

=t+—BLFEECHEME
MR E RIS - FTER

31 DECEMBER 2024 (continued) LERENEBEERE »)

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after
BHUTEHRZ#%
B E T HEEXN

IFRS 19, Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures

1 January 2027

BRI a2 195  FARANLRMEMANE A A - #5 —ZET-t+F—H—H

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28, Sale or contribution of assets between an To be determined
investor and its associate or joint venture

B B B 7 o AR R 28 10 5% R BPR & 5T AR A 58 28 5% (18R] AR) - F5E

REERABENFIRAELEMzEENELFA

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what
the impact of these developments is expected to be in the
period of initial application. So far it has concluded that the
adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant impact on the

consolidated financial statements.
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Audit Committee
=

“AGM”

[BRBFAE

“Annual Report”

[4F 4R

“Articles of Association”

“Board of Directors” or “Board”

S

“Board of Supervisors”

[EEEE)

“Chairman”

=3

“China” or “PRC”

[ B )

“Company”, “the Company”,
“Pharm HEC”, “we” or “us”

[ARR KRB RITERE %
E:4 N

“Controlling Shareholder(s)”
YRR AR 3]

“Director(s)”

[E%]

DEFINITIONS

the audit committee of the Board
EEeERELEY

the forthcoming annual general meeting for the year 2024 of the
Company

ARB _F_NFEERERRBFAE

the annual report of the Company for the year 2024
RRAF =T MEFER

the articles of association of the Company (as amended from time to
time)
RAFHER (BTREET)

board of directors of the Company

KRABEFES

board of supervisars of the Company

NN

chairman of board of directors of the Company

ARPEFEEEER

the People’s Republic of China, but for the purposes of this Annual
Report and for geographical reference only (unless otherwise
indicated), excluding Taiwan, Macau and Hong Kong
REAREME  ERAFHEME EmME  BRBEEBIHN T
BEAE - RPIRES

YiChang HEC ChangJiang Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (EERG X KT
BEERY ) A R A 7)), a company established in the PRC on 11 May
2015 as ajoint stock company
HERBXARIZERNDBRAR  —RR-_T—RAFAA+—
B 7L B L B AR () B BR A A

has the meaning given to it under the Listing Rules

BB EHARRE TR E

director(s) of the Company
KARIESE

FERE 2024 /| EERG R TEERMNER AR
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DEFINITIONS

“Domestic Share(s)”
[RER

“Group”

[A&E]

“Guangdong HEC”

[BRERE ]

“H Shares”
[HA%

“HEC Medicine Development
and Research”

[ SRE% e B4 3% |

“HEC Pharm”

[EERE]

nHK$u or “HKD”
&7t

“Hong Kong”
(&%

issued ordinary share(s) in the share capital of the Company with
a nominal value of RMB1.00 each, which is (are) subscribed for or
credited as fully paid in RMB
AARIBRAFSREBEBARELIOOILHEETEAR  EUAR
HRIE R BR

the Company and its subsidiaries

RRBREMBAR

Guangdong HEC Technology Holding Co., Ltd. (/& 3R HE5 ¢ BHRIE A
% 17 % BR. A &]), a company incorporated in the PRC on 24 October
1996 and whose shares are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange
(stock code: 600673)

BERRGABBEZERENMBERAA  — KR —AARF+ A
ZHMBEEREE MR REROR EEESFR T LT AR (K
AR 5% - 600673)

ordinary share(s) in the share capital of the Company with a nominal
value of RMB1.00 each, which is (are) listed on the Stock Exchange
and is (are) subscribed for and traded in HKD
AATRAFEREABEAREL0OTHE AR EEBAZMET
WABETREREE

Dongguan HEC Medicine Development and Research Co., Ltd. (85
F5 Yt BEYD I 2 B R A B]), a company incorporated in the PRC, being
a subsidiary of Shenzhen HEC Industrial
RERGAEYHREBERLAF  —REFEFMKLZRE B
FRINRGAEZNME R A

HEC Pharm Co., Ltd.* (B 2 5K MDA R A F)), a company
incorporated in the PRC on 12 January 2004
HERGAEERMNARLRR  — KR _TTOF-A+-B%H
S i AvA: D /NG

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency for the time being of Hong
Kong
BT BRBRREERYE

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
FEBEBFRITTH R

YICHANG HEC CHANGJIANG PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD. / ANNUAL REPORT 2024



“Hong Kong Stock Exchange” or

“Stock Exchange”
[ B B A2 BT | 3 [ B 22 P |

“IFRSs”

(BB B 75 5 2 A

“Latest Practicable Date”

[ R EFR AT HH

“Listing Rules

[ EmARA

“Model Code”

[T A

“Nomination Committee”

(Tﬁ%éz\ =

“Renminbi” or “RMB”

AR

“Remuneration and Evaluation

Committee”

[k EZEE g

“Ruyuan HEC Pharmaceutical”

(SRR &

DEFINITIONS

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
EBBMER AR RDF

the International Financial Reporting Standards, which include
standards and interpretations promulgated by the International
Accounting Standards Board (IASB), and the International Accounting
Standards (IAS) and interpretation issued by the International
Accounting Standards Committee (IASC)

BRI E LR BEER G EREEERMNERRRE
NEEERgtERZEgRMNBER ST LRI LRRE

22 April 2025, being the latest practicable date for the purpose of
ascertaining certain information contained in this Annual Report
prior to its publication

TECRFMACT IR RAFERTIEMREEARAEE T
BHHREBRATTHS

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited, as amended from time to time

BEMERGMAERLRRAES LR LETRERT

Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
as set out in Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules
AR CIFAHEA EMEITAZTRETES R HNIRESTA

the nomination committee of the Board

ExeR%%Ee

the lawful currency of the PRC
hEVEEER

remuneration and evaluation committee of the Board
EERFMLEREZES

Ruyuan HEC Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (FLREB K EEHR AR, a
company incorporated in the PRC and an indirect non-wholly owned
subsidiary of Shenzhen HEC Industrial

ARRGHEEBRAAF  —REFEEMAIZAHAE  FRIIER
BAEXNEEIFZENBEAF

FERE 2024 /| EERG R TEERMNER AR
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DEFINITIONS

(KSFCJ:

[BEe

% m =

“SFQ”
[ 7% R S 1 ]

“Shareholder(s)”
[ ]
“Shares”

[BA7 |

“Shenzhen HEC Industrial”

RIIREE R EZE]

“Sunshine Lake Pharma”

[BRREBEE]

“Supervisor(s)”

(B %]

“Yichang HEC Biochemical
Manufacturing”

[EERB AL BE]

the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong
BERBF N EEREREZES

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from
time to time

BEREVIFESTIEEZF LB RY - & TARIERT - MAIAEAM
7 RAE K

holder(s) of our Shares, including holders of H shares and holders of
domestic shares of the Company

BOFBAEA  BREAAFHBIFEEARAERFSE A

shares in the share capital of the Company, with a nominal value of
RMB1.00 each
RRRASHEFREEARE 1.00 TH B

Shenzhen HEC Industrial Development Co., Ltd. CFYI T EREZ L &H %
R AR A F]), a company incorporated in the PRC on 27 January
1997 and a Controlling Shareholder
RYTREAEXEERARAG — KR —ANtF—A=Z++t
AERBGEMAZIH AR - B—BERRE

Sunshine Lake Pharma Co., Ltd. (B 5[5 ¢ &5 2 jeH AR 2 7,
previously known as Sunshine Lake Pharma Co., Ltd.(/& SR 5 S %
% AR A 7)), a company incorporated in the PRC on 29 December
2003

BREBHEERNERAR  — KR _BEZE=F+-_A=1+h
BEFEGFMKIAAT IS AERRGHELFR AT

the supervisor(s) of the Company
RARIEE

Yichang HEC Biochemical Manufacturing Co. Ltd. (BB 5 £ R
B[R/~ 7)), a company incorporated in the PRC, being a subsidiary
of Shenzhen HEC Industrial

HERGAEMBHEERAR  —REPBEEIMAZZ AR B
RYIRFG I BEEH B A
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“YiChang HEC Pharmaceutical
Manufacturing”

[EEREBEE]

“Yichang HEC Power Plant”

[EERBRXNNEE]

“Yidu Construction”

[E#RREE ]

“Yidu Guijun”

[E &S

“Yidu HEC Industrial”

[BEEREER]

“Yidu Machinery”

[E AT HE AR R

(r%u
[%]

DEFINITIONS

YiChang HEC Pharmaceutical Manufacturing Co., Ltd. (B & B F5 )¢
B AR A F)), a company incorporated in the PRC and a direct
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
HERGAHERFR AR —KREFETMEKIBOAF - BEAR
REEEZENB AR

Yichang HEC Power Plant Co., Ltd., a company incorporated in the
PRC, being a subsidiary of Shenzhen HEC Industrial
HERGAANBEEERRAR  —REFEAMKILZ AR B
RINR S 5 B ST B A 7

Yidu Shanchengshuidu Project Construction Co., Ltd., a company
incorporated in the PRC, a subsidiary of Shenzhen HEC Industrial
E#LUHKBREETIRBRAG  —REPBEFMEAZHORF
RRYREGHREEOHERF

Yidu Guijun Pharmaceutical Technology Co., Ltd., a company
incarporated in the PRC and owned as to 50% by Mr. CHEN Yangui
and 50% by three independent third parties
HEEOBEMRARAR  —REPEEMAIZHOAGF - BA
REEEER=RBILE=T 5 BI¥EH 50% &% 50% H# &=

Yidu HEC Industrial Co., Ltd.* a company incorporated in the PRC, a
direct non-wholly owned subsidiary of Shenzhen HEC Industrial
HETRELEXRERBERAR  —KEPHEEMKINAF -
YR HEENERIFZEMNB AR

Yidu Changjiang Machinery Equipment Co., Ltd. (& #B8 & T # # %
# B BR A A]), a company incorporated in the PRC and a subsidiary
of Shenzhen HEC Industrial

HERIEMEEERAR  —RERBRFMAZIHRAE R
REREBEXORE AR

per cent
At
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
NG

REGISTERED NAME
YiChang HEC ChangJiang Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. JIANG Juncai
Mr. WANG Danjin
Mr. LI Shuang
Mr. CHEN Hao

Non-executive Director
Mr. TANG Xinfa (Chairman)
Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. TANG Jianxin
Ms. XIANG Ling
Mr. LI Xuechen

REMUNERATION AND EVALUATION COMMITTEE

Ms. XIANG Ling (Chairman)
Mr. TANG Jianxin
Mr. JIANG Juncai

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. TANG Jianxin (Chairman)
Mr. TANG Xinfa
Ms. XIANG Ling

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. LI Xuechen (Chairman)
Mr. TANG Jianxin
Ms. XIANG Ling

SUPERVISORS
Mr. TANG Jinlong

Mr. LUO Zhonghua
Mr. WANG Shengchao

EER IR

HERBARITIEERHBRAIA

2

BITES
I
ERa0 L5

FRELE
BRO& £

HUTES
B % kL (BER)
BYFHTES

ERF L

DES-es

FBE Sk
FMREREES

FEZ L (E/E)
EEMEL
b e

BEREES

EEMELE (EF)
ERTEELE
A% X+

REEEE

FERAE(EE)
EEMEL
A% X+

EE
EoEELE

BOESLL
ITHEBLEL
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JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Mr. PENG Qiyun
Mr. WONG Wai Chiu (FCG, HKFCG)

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. TANG Xinfa

West Fourth Floor, Building 106

Huafa North Road, Futian District, Shenzhen
Guangdong Province, the PRC

Mr. WONG Wai Chiu

40th Floor, Dah Sing Financial Centre
No. 248 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai, Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE

No. 38 Binjiang Road
Yidu, Yichang, Hubei Province, the PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN THE PRC

No. 38 Binjiang Road
Yidu, Yichang, Hubei Province, the PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

40th Floor, Dah Sing Finance Centre
No. 248 Queen’s Road East
Wanchai, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKER

China Construction Bank Co., Ltd.
Qingjiang Branch

56 Changjiang Avenue

Yidu, Hubei Province, the PRC

AUDITORS

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants

Public Interest Entity Auditor registered in accordance

with the Accounting and Financial Reporting Council Ordinance
8/F, Prince’s Building, 10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

CORPORATE INFORMATION
NAER

BEARME

THELRE
= (B8 % 4 (FCG, HKFCE)

RERX

ekt e
FRIERSE
YT A8 [ 2 B L B
106 FRIUIE

HEBLEE
EBEBT
EFERIEH 2485
K& a0 4018

AMRERE

FRERILE EE EART
VBT 389%

PEIFEER R

ARt E EEEH ™
VBT % 38 9%

BRTEERME

BB ET
EFERIER 24857
KETE @A L4042

FERERERIT

FEIZRRITRDBRAF]
LT

FEHIEE BEET
)T KB 56 5%

% BED

EFR TR EBA
MEGRTED

P& R B E R B ERG) T8
AE AR B B A B
FEPIR

EITE 10/ A FRESE
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
NG

PRC LEGAL ADVISORS

Jia Yuan Law Offices

F408 Ocean Plaza

158 Fuxingmennei Avenue
Xicheng District

Beijing

the PRC

HONG KONG LEGAL ADVISORS

Jia Yuan Law Office
Suites 3502-3503, 35/F
One Exchange Square

8 Connaught Place
Central

Hong Kong

H SHARE REGISTRAR

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor

Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai, Hong Kong

STOCK CODE

01558

COMPANY’S WEBSITE
www.hec-changjiang.com

LISTING PLACE

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

The Company’s 2024 environmental,social and governance report, which is prepared in both Chinese and
English, has been uploaded to the Company’s website (www.hec-changjiang.com) and the website of HKEXnews
(www.hkexnews.hk) and is available for inspection. Stakeholders may contact our Company in cases where hard

copy is needed. Our contact details are as follows:

AARIA2024FIRF - LG REARED « BXIRAED EH R AR T (www.hec-changjiang.com) R &E R
5 BT & 5 883 (www.hkexnews.hk) @ BUDZIE o a1 R BENRIA - A7 LAEL A A B2 -

Address: Securities Department, Dongyangguang Scientific Park, No. 368 Zhen An Zhong Road, Chang’an County,

Dongguan, Guangdong Province, the PRC

duk  FEIRERAE REm R L HERL T 3K 368 57 R 5 R E & 758

Company’s Email: changjiangpharm@dyg-hec.com
A 5)EP#E : changjiangpharm@dyg-hec.com

PEAEES

=REMEBEAT
FE

dEmm

Gisp
EEPY KA 158 5%
RF RIEF408

BRLEER
A B
BB

IR

FEES 85

R P ES—H
354 3502-3503 %

HERBRPBFELE
BAEPREBELFELARAT
BBBT
EERERI183FRA AL
1711712-1716 5548

% 124X 5%

01558

PN A
www.hec-changjiang.com
it

BEMERXGMER QA
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